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TOWN OF LEBANON 
ELECTED OFFICIALS 

2019-2020 

Office Town Officer’s Name 

First Selectman 
Selectman 
Selectman 
Town Clerk 
Treasurer 
Tax Collector

Board of Finance 

Board of Finance Alternates 

Board of Education 

Board of Assessment Appeals 

Kevin Cwikla 
Kathleen Smith 
Glen Coutu 
Mary Ellen Wieczorek        
Deborah Reichard Martin 
Kelly A. Lawer 

Elizabeth  S.  Charron
Meghan  Bruce 
Alan Dunnack, Jr.  
Gregg LaFontaine 
Diane  S.  Malozzi 
David  A.  Scata

Michael  Ninteau
Vin  Shea 
Tony  Tyler 

Mark  DeCaprio
Sara Haynes 
John P. Konow, Jr. 
Maureen McCall 
Nicole McGillicuddy 
Alexis Margerelli-Hussey     
William R. Meese 
Matthew L. Smith
Dawn Whitcher

Scott  H.  McCall
William R. Meese 
Wendy  E.  Salisbury
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ELECTED OFFICIALS 

2019-2020 

Planning and Zoning Commission 
James W. Jahoda 
Thomas Benoit 
Wayne M. Budney 
Robin A. Chesmer 
Keith L. LaPorte 
Francis Malozzi  
Thomas G. Meyer  

Planning and Zoning Commission Alternates 
 Julie Chalifoux 
 Allyn Miller 
 Ethan K. Stearns 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
Jeffrey T. Walsh 
Mark P. DeCaprio 
David M. Geligoff 
Keith A. Sczurek 
Donna R. Skaats 

Zoning Board of Appeals Alternates 
Michael Ninteau 
Jerome Walsh 
Philip R. Ziel 

Registrars of Voters 
Berkeley C. Nowosad 
Heidi Worthington 

Library Board of Trustees 
          Catherine L. McCall 

 William J. Goba 
 Michelle A. Kersey 
 Janice Knudsen 

           Maureen D. McCall 
 Colleen Meese 

           Berkeley C. Nowosad 
  Eilleen B. Weinsteiger 
  Heidi Worthington 
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ELECTED OFFICIALS 

2019-2020 

Justice of the Peace      
(1/3/2017 thru 1/4/2021) 

          Mary P. Anderson  
Ellen L.  Bauwens   
Pierre A. Belisle    
Nancy A. Brouillet  
Karen K. Buffkin   
Sandra D. Dearborn 
G. Scott Deshefy
Mark C. Favrow
Linda R. Finelli
Robert M. Gentes
Brian Green
Melissa A. Hofmann
Bonnie L. LeBlanc
Robert A. Leone
Oliver J. Manning
Allyn H. Miller
Michael A. Okonuk
T. Allan Palmer
Arthur B. Richardson
Nancy Ann Roberts-Schweitzer
Michael P. Samaha
Donna Skaats
Robert M. Slate
Edward W. Tytor
Jerome E. Walsh
Michael P. Wallace
Karen A.K. Wax
Karen Ziel
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BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 

At the May 2019 Annual Town Meeting, electors voted to approve the July 2019 – 
June 2020 Fiscal Year Budget in the amount of twenty-six million, two hundred nine 
thousand, one hundred nine dollars and no cents ($26,206,109) with Revenue 
Estimates of six million, four hundred sixty-six thousand, four hundred forty-three 
dollars and no cents ($6,466,443). The remainder of the funds were to be covered with 
taxes with an estimated mil rate of 29.4 mils. 

Fiscal Year 2019-2020 was a historic one for the Town of Lebanon as the Town’s 
ownership over most of the Lebanon Green was affirmed in court, a Town Charter was 
adopted, and a global pandemic upended life as we know it. 

In September 2019, a court ruling finally granted the Town of Lebanon ownership over 
the majority of the Town Green. As part of the judgement, an easement was granted to 
the Lebanon Historical Society which governs appropriate uses of the Green and 
makes sure it will be preserved for generations to come. However, there are still 
ongoing lawsuits regarding the Green in which the Town is a defendant. At a Town 
meeting in October 2019, the Town also voted to transfer ownership of the Jonathan 
Trumbull Jr. House Museum to the Historical Society and the museum is now run by 
the LHS. 

At the November 2019 municipal election, voters approved Lebanon’s first-ever Town 
Charter which went into effect on December 1, 2019. The Charter was the product of 
many years of work by multiple Charter Commissions and many public hearings to 
develop a Charter that mostly codified Lebanon’s existing form of government while 
making sure we could better maintain home-rule and be less reliant on state statutes 
made in Hartford to determine how Lebanon’s government should function. 

The Charter expanded the Board of Selectmen from three to five members and stated 
that the Town Clerk and Tax Collector should become hired officials upon the end of 
their elected terms. The Charter also changed the length of term for Board of 
Selectmen members from two years to four years. However, the Selectmen elected on 
the same ballot as the Charter approval in November 2019 were still elected to two-
year terms. That is why there will be another election for First Selectman and two 
Selectmen for four-year terms this November. A special election was originally 
scheduled to take place in May 2020 to fill the two newly created positions on the 
Board of Selectmen. However, this election was delayed to August 2020 by the 
COVID19 Pandemic. 

I had been in office just a few months when the pandemic forced the temporary 
closure of almost all Town facilities. Public Works continued to operate mostly 
normally, and the Transfer Station was kept open with fees waived to avoid direct 
interaction between residents and staff in the early part of the pandemic while we 
figured out what was and was not safe. Due to the building closures, we had to get 
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creative with new ways to access Town Hall services remotely. Town employees used 
Town-owned laptops to work remotely while splitting in-person shifts in the building 
until June when we re-opened to the public with new protections such as plexiglass, 
added hand sanitizer stations, and contact-tracing as mandated by the governor.  

Due to the governor’s executive orders, boards, commissions, and committees, were 
also unable to meet in-person once the pandemic began. The important work of these 
boards and commissions needed to continue, so we entered the wonderful world of 
Zoom where the public and elected/appointed officials could continue the Town’s 
business by teleconference. There were some growing pains, but participation has 
actually increased now that residents can attend meetings from their own home. 

In April 2020, the Board of Finance appropriated $140,000 from Fund Balance to pay 
for COVID-related expenses. This included personal protective equipment, technology 
upgrades, building modifications, additional hours in the social services department to 
establish a food pantry, and additional stipends to first responders. From April 
through June, the Town expended $87,524 from the COVID Fund. Since the Fiscal 
Year ended, the Town has received $55,837 in reimbursement funds through the 
federal Corona Relief Fund related to the April-June 2020 reporting period with 
additional funds from FEMA pending. 

I never thought my first months in office would look like it did with the pandemic, but 
I am proud of the work by Town employees and volunteers to adapt and to make sure 
that residents continued to receive the services they need. I also want to thank the 
many incredible first responders in the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, our Town 
constables, and Resident State Trooper who put themselves at risk as we dealt with 
this unprecedented emergency. Whether they work or live in Lebanon, all our first 
responders, doctors, nurses, and other medical staff who worked bravely and tirelessly 
through the pandemic deserve our thanks. We should also be grateful to the many 
other essential workers, including those on our farms, who continued to work to keep 
our town and society functioning. 

Kevin T. Cwikla 

First Selectman 
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TOWN OF LEBANON 
 TOWN CLERK REPORT 

Fiscal Year July 1, 2019– June 30, 2020 

The Town Clerk plays a central role in the operation of local government.  The office interfaces 
with state, federal, and local departments.  The office is responsible for maintaining the records of 
the town and its citizens. 

 The Town Clerk’s office has diverse responsibilities including serving as clerk to town meetings, 
municipal records management, land record transactions, map filings, trade name certificates and 
veterans discharge filings are all recorded and maintained by the Town Clerk’s office.  The vault 
stores land records dating back to the early 1700’s.  As Registrar of Vital Statistics, the Town Clerk 
issues marriage licenses and certified copies of birth, death and marriage licenses.  Other services 
provided by the Town Clerk are the issuance of dog licenses, sports licenses, notary registrations, 
liquor permits and burial permits.   

The Town Clerk works in tandem with the Registrar of Voters creating election materials and 
overseeing elections, referenda and primaries including the printing and distribution of absentee 
ballots.  In the absence of the Registrar, is able to issue voter registration cards.  The office is 
connected, along with the Registrars of Voters, to the Centralized Voting Program. This enables 
access to voter information through the latest technology offered by the State.  

The following transactions for Fiscal Year 2019-2020 were recorded in the Town Clerk’s office: 

Land Recordings, 1,315 
Survey Maps, 28 
Trade Names/Dissolutions, 28 
Military Discharges (DD-214), 15 
Birth Certificates, 54 with 2 home births 
Marriage Licenses, 35 
Death Certificates, 51 
Sports Licenses, 88 
Dog Licenses, 756 with 8 Kennels 
Absentee Ballots; 11/5/19 (Municipal Election), 48;   1/14/20 (48th District Special) 44 
Notary Services, 55 

The Historic Documents Preservation Grant Program, administered through the State Library 
Public Records Administrator, supports municipalities in improving the preservation and 
management of local government records.  This year’s $5,500.00 Preservation Grant funds were 
used to convert images from hard copy land record books.  These images were formatted and 
imported into our land records system, and then linked to the existing indexing.   30,555 images 
were scanned beginning with Volume 86-backward.  This project will preserve the integrity of our 
hard copy volumes and provide customers the ability to view our records electronically with access 
to highly organized data. 

Our office is continuously striving to provide courteous and efficient services to our residents and 
customers through modern and cost-effective methods.  We pride ourselves in serving all who 
come to our office and are honored to have the opportunity to do so.   

Respectfully submitted, 

Mary Ellen Wieczorek, CCTC 
Town Clerk 
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TOWN OF LEBANON 

TAX COLLECTOR REPORT 

Fiscal Year July 1st, 2019 – June 30th, 2020 

The Tax Collector is responsible for the administration and participation of the 
collection of taxes, in conformity with the Connecticut State Statutes ordinances and 
established policy. The Lebanon Tax Collector is also the collector for the Amston Lake 
Water Pollution Control Authority.  

We strive for a professional atmosphere in the Tax Office. The Tax Collector is a 
member of the Connecticut Tax Collector’s Association and is attending courses to 
obtain Certification of Connecticut Municipal Collectors. These associations and 
courses allow for continuing education credits and professional development essential 
for certification. 

I am pleased to announce, Beth Nelson was hired as the Revenue Clerk in December 
2019. Beth brings excellent knowledge and integrity, with experience in both financial 
and customer service-based positions. We pride ourselves in serving our residents well 
and look forward to the opportunity to do so. 

Please visit our website at www.lebanonct.gov where you can view your tax bills, print 
receipts, and find important information regarding your taxes. 

WPCA Use $ 42,429 

Interest $ 4,983 

Lien Fees $ 480 

WPCA Assessments $ 147,644 

Interest Delinquent  $ 8,110 

Bonded Interest $ 43,059 

Lien Fees $ 624 

Total $ 247,329 
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Grand List Year  Uncollected  Current Transfer Adjusted Taxes Interest Liens Fees Suspense Total  Uncollected 
 Balance 7/01/2019 Levy Additions Deletions to Suspense Uncollected Collected  Taxes June 30th 2020 

GL2018  - 19,551,527 12,695 51,855  - 19,512,367 19,394,017 78,382 785 3,732  - 19,476,915 157,510
Previous Years
GL2017 513,018  - 25,055 90,789  - 311,387 58,192 2,847 12  - 372,439 140,580
GL2016 113,685  - 1,584 7,383 25,383 26,692 9,768 216 2  - 36,678 77,007
GL2015 28,615  - 205 848 26,453 7,067 2,534 48  - 1,996 9,649 18,966
GL2014 16,982  -  -  - 2,455 1,702  -  - 1,771 4,157 12,825
GL2013 7,117  -  -  - 1,803 1,763 18  - 1,822 3,585 3,532
GL2012 2,352  -  -  - 318 458  -  - 318 776 1,576
GL2011 2,681  -  -  - 465 667  -  - 465 1,132 1,549
GL2010 1,551  -  -  - 510 794  -  - 510 1,304 247
GL2009 628  -  -  - 77 130  -  - 77 207 421
GL2008 405  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 405
GL2007 292  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 292
GL2006 527  -  -  - 56 129  -  - 56 185 527
GL2005 202  -  -  - 59 147  -  - 59 207 202

Total $688,055 39,539 150,875 51,836 19,744,907 154,666 3,915 3,746 7,074 19,907,234 415,639

Lawful Corrections and Adjustmets
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Town of Lebanon Board of Finance 
2019 – 2020 Annual Report 

The primary duties of the Board of Finance (BOF) as stated in the Connecticut General 
Statutes are: 

 Preparing and controlling the town budget
 Setting the property tax rate to support the budget
 Approving special budget appropriations and transfers
 Determining how town financial records are to be kept
 Arranging for the annual audit of town accounts
 Publishing the annual town report

The 2019 – 20 budget audited in this report required a tax rate of 29.4 mils and was 
approved at a special town meeting on May 6, 2019.  This represented a flat mil rate from 
the prior year and maintained the same level of services.  This was possible with the 
increase in the Grand List of approximately 3.5% due to the revaluation process 
completed.  At the time the budget was approved, the state had not yet approved its’ 2-
year budget.  The BOF kept state revenue projections flat in preparing this budget.  
Actual revenues from the state were higher than budgeted. 

The approved budget continued the approach to capital expenditures that the BOF 
introduced many years ago.  This approach establishes a schedule over the years of 
needed expenditures and schedules those purchases in the appropriate year.  This allows 
us to purchase needed capital items each year and put them to use rather than saving 
annually for each item until the full purchase price has been saved.  No new leases were 
established by the approved budget; however, several leases are still being paid.  We 
continued the funding of three capital sub-accounts for our schools: School Improvement 
Plan (SIP), Technology, and Athletic Facilities. This has enabled the BOE to make 
significant progress in the repairs and improvements needed for our schools. 

Funding for the Library project was not included because of the delay in starting that 
project due to the property ownership issues.  Funding will be considered at the 
$250,000 level once that project gets off the ground. 

Over the past few years, the BOF has worked to codify the Policies & Procedures we use 
for various tasks.  These can now be found on the towns’ website under Town 
Governance/Boards/Board of Finance (bottom of the page under Resources).   

The BOF would like to take this opportunity to thank the elected officials, town agencies, 
boards, commissions and town employees for the cooperation and support we have 
received in the past year and for the good work they have done in managing their 
budgets. 

Respectfully submitted, 
Liz Charron, Chairman 

Members as of June 2019:  Liz Charron (Chairman), David Scata (Vice-Chairman), 
Meghan Bruce (Secretary), Kevin Cwikla, Phil Johnson, and Diane Malozzi.  Alternates: 
David Geligoff, Mike Ninteau, Vin Shea. 
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TOWN OF LEBANON
TREASURER'S REPORT OF WAGES PAID TO TOWN EMPLOYEES

 AND ELECTED OFFICIALS
2019 - 2020

J Anderson $823 L McDonald $150
K Anderson $1,204 F McGrath $20,553
S Anderson $2,902 A McMahon $3,758
G Arndt $58,610 J Maddocks $693
S Ashcom $25,442 R Magao $10,817
C Avery $7,089 D Mahue $27,611
D Battye $46,766 L Malone $633
V Belles $50,539 D Malozzi $206
J Bendoraitis $2,758 D Martin $1,074
D Blakeslee $20,773 T Mikloiche $397
C Brashears $5,476 B Nelson $6,194
S Byam $58,498 B Nowosad $9,099
P Chester $87,007 J Nowosad $81,237
E Clark $53,002 B   Padewski $47,171
L Clark $39,876 K Plante $11,178
G Coutu $6,701 R Pogmore $222
K Cwikla $43,290 J Pomerleau $35,260
B Dennler, III $47,946 K Ricketts $224
J Dolan $22,808 S Ricketts $848
S Dombroski $833 W Riley $9,356
C Dwyer $21,692 A Robitaille $56,469
M Earls $54,176 B Sanchez $269
C Ely-Decarlo $623 M Schuett $10,592
L Epler $2,024 S Schuett $14,489
C Faustman $347 L Shaner $3,915
K Fonseca $2,688 R Sirpenski $5,208
C Goins $259 L Slate $12,900
B Haley $6,104 K Slonski $33,397
C Harkness $6,325 H Smith $44,730
P Hodina $864 K Smith $3,943
J Hofmann $23,691 N Sorensen $5,580
B Ives $2,752 E Sousa $74,967
J Janeway $7,162 D St Germain $524
A Jenco $5,372 J Sweet $10,153
W Johnson $1,540 B Treiss $12,162
K Konow $2,646 S Tremblay $18,709
E Lamb $41,270 R Tuttle $90,436
K  Lawer $46,339 D Valliere-Peay $1,634
C Levesque-McKinney $13,077 K Walker $206
M Licata $2,915 A Wallace $269
B Littlefield $59,123 L Wallace $206
C McCall $7,649 M Waters $2,460
D McCall $269 E Weinsteiger $9,189
H McCall $275 D Wengloski Jr. $56,516
M McCall $269 M Wieczorek $57,879
M McComber $29,051 J Wood Jr. $58,017
R McComber $4,345 H Worthington $9,299
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Office of the Registrars of Voters 

Registrars of Voters, in conjunction with the Town Clerk, are responsible for all 
aspects of preparing and administering elections including federal, state, 
municipal, primary, and referenda.  This includes staying up to date on state 
and federal election laws, holding special voter registration sessions, hiring and 
training election workers including Moderators, and complying with the laws 
and regulations of Connecticut, ensuring the fairness and integrity of elections.    
Throughout the year Registrars maintain the voter registry list, and conduct an 
annual canvass to ensure its accuracy.     

Elections 

State Primary August 14, 2018 

Republicans: Turnout 466 of 1292 eligible voters (36%) 

Democrats: Turnout 385 of 1209 eligible voters (32%) 

Federal Election November 6, 2018 

Turnout: 3517 of 4717 eligible voters (75%)  

Election Day Registrations: 32 

Municipal Referendum May 14, 2019  

Turnout: 630 of 4664 eligible voters (14%) 

Active Voter Registry List 7/1/18-6/30/19 

Voters added: 430  

Voter Changes: 381 

Voters removed: 512 

Highlights of 2018 / 2019 

• Heidi Worthington was appointed Republican Registrar of Voters
following the resignation of Catherine McCall.

• Presentation and registration session held at Lyman Memorial High
School

• Attended several professional conferences and county meetings of the
Registrars of Voters Association of Connecticut

Respectfully Submitted: 

Berkeley Nowosad 
Heidi Worthington 
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Planning and Zoning Commission 
Town of Lebanon

ANNUAL REPORT 
FISCAL YEAR 2019-2020 

For the year ending June 30, 2020 the Planning and Zoning Commission held 9 
Regular Meetings, 4 Special Meetings, and 2 Plan of Conservation and Development 
Subcommittee Meetings. The following types of development applications were 
processed by the Planning and Zoning Commission and/or the Town Planner: 

1 
9 
3 
2  
7  
8 

 62 

Special Permit 
Temporary Use Permits 
Site Plan Approvals or Modifications 
Home Occupation Permits 
Certificates of Zoning Compliance  
CGS Sec. 7-159b Pre-Application 
Review Zoning Permits 

Lebanon's Planning and Zoning Commission was established by Town Meeting 
in 1961 and has the powers and duties prescribed in the Connecticut General 
Statutes (Chapters 124 and 126) and other applicable General Special Acts of 
the General Assembly. In summary these powers and duties include:

✓ To prepare, adopt, or amend the Plan of Conservation and Development.
✓ To establish, change or repeal zoning and subdivision regulations and zoning

districts.
✓ To hear, consider, and decide upon applications for approval of

subdivision or resubdivision plans, site plans and special permits.
✓ To provide the way the zoning regulations are enforced and take appropriate

actions to enforce them.
✓ To review and make recommendations on proposed municipal improvements,

i.e., streets, bridges, schools, parks, utilities, sidewalks, public housing, etc.
✓ To prepare and file surveys, maps or plans of proposed streets.
✓ To approve or disapprove municipal applications to DEEP for grants-in-aid of

programs established to preserve open space lands.

The Commission completed the 2020 Plan of Conservation and Development (POCD) 
which is required by State Statute in order for the town to remain eligible for 
discretionary state funds and grants. The POCD identifies town goals and makes 
recommendations to guide land use development in Lebanon. All Town Boards and 
Commissions are expected to rely on the POCD when making short- and long-term 
decisions.  
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The Commission spent 2 years developing the 2020 POCD. It met with town boards, 
commissions, agencies and staff; hired experts in the fields of agriculture, fiscal analysis, and 
research; used subcommittees made up of town boards and commissions, and the public; 
and conducted a resident survey and cost-of-community services study. The result is a POCD 
that identifies goals and action items to help maintain, strengthen, and sustain Lebanon’s 
desirable small town, historic, and agricultural rural character. The Commission extends its 
thanks to everyone who participated in developing the 2020 POCD. 

The Land Use Office, under the guidance of the Town Planner, works to implement the Plan 
of Conservation and Development; guides applicants through the development review 
process; and works with property owners looking to conserve land. Current projects include 
developing the vacant commercial parcels at the Route 2 interchange; expanding age-
restricted housing options; managing the town’s Farmers Market; supporting the land 
preservation efforts of the Conservation and Agriculture Commission; and enforcing 
Lebanon’s Zoning, Subdivision, and Inland Wetlands Regulations.   

The Planning and Zoning Commission supports conservation and development proposals 
and is open to residential and non-residential development when a master plan proposal 
meets the physical, social, economic, and environmental needs of the community. 
Preserving and growing the town’s agricultural land base helps retain Lebanon’s rural 
character and ease the local tax burden, both of which are highly regarded by residents.   

The Plan of Conservation and Development and Zoning and Subdivision Regulations are 
available online at www.lebanonct.gov. If you have ideas you wish to convey to the 
Commission please contact us through the Town Planner at (860) 642-2006 or 
townplanner@lebanonct.gov. The Commission holds regular meetings on the third Monday of 
the month at 7:00 p.m. at Lebanon Town Hall. The Commission wishes to thank its 
members of the Village Business District and Village Green District Design Review Boards 
for their valuable input into development in and around Lebanon Green.   

   Planning and Zoning Commission Members 
James Jahoda, Chair 
Robin Chesmer, Secretary  
Thomas Benoit 
Wayne Budney 
Keith LaPorte 

Commission Staff 
Philip Chester, Town Planner 

Francis Malozzi 
Thomas Meyer 
Julie Chalifoux, Alternate 
Allan Miller, Alternate   
Ethan Stearns, Alternate 

  Holli Pianka, Land Use Secretary 

Respectfully Submitted, 
James Jahoda, Chair 
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  Inland Wetlands Commission 

Town of Lebanon
ANNUAL REPORT

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020

Lebanon’s Inland Wetlands Commission (regulating agency) enforces the provisions of 
the Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Act and shall issue, issue with modification, or 
deny permits for all regulated activities on wetlands and within 100 feet of wetlands in the 
Town of Lebanon pursuant to Section 22a-36 through 45, inclusive, of the Connecticut 
General Statutes. 

As defined in the Town of Lebanon Inland Wetlands Regulations, a regulated activity 
means any operation within or use of a wetland or watercourse, including but not 
limited to, removal or deposition of materials, or any obstruction, construction, alteration 
or pollution, of such wetland or watercourses, but shall not include the specific activities 
in Section 4 of the Inland Wetlands Regulations. Furthermore, any clearing, 
grubbing, filling, grading, paving, excavating, constructing, depositing or removing of 
material and discharging of storm water on the land within one hundred (100) feet from 
the boundary of any wetlands or watercourse is a regulated activity. Therefore, any 
activity affecting inland wetlands and watercourses within the Town are prohibited, 
except as may be permitted by the Inland Wetlands Commission or its Agent. 

The Inland Wetlands Commission conducted 10 regular meetings, 2 special meetings, 
and reviewed 22 applications for the following regulated activities: 

  4 As-of-Right Permits  
Buffer Permits    10 
Inland Wetlands Regular Permits      8 

The Commission meets the first Monday of the month at 7:00 p.m. in Town Hall. 
Inland Wetlands Regulations, Map, applications, and timber harvest forms are 
available at www.lebanonct.gov.  With questions contact Town Planner Philip Chester at 
(860) 642-2006.

Respectfully submitted: 

James Bender 
John Drum  
Dean Gustafson 

James Hallene 
Dennis Latchum 
Michelle Trani  

James McCaw, Chairman 
Robert Slate, Secretary 
Carl Bender  

Staff: Philip Chester, AICP 
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Conservation and Agriculture 
Commission 

Town of Lebanon 
ANNUAL REPORT 

FISCAL YEAR 2019-2020 

Established at the March 5, 2012 Town Meeting, the Conservation and Agriculture Commission 
“shall extol the role of Lebanon’s natural resources and agriculture as major contributors to the Town’s 
quality of life and the economy. The Commission will advocate for conservation and agricultural 
issues before non-profit agencies, civic organizations, municipal boards or commissions, elected 
officials and residents.” 

The Commission is made up of 10 residents appointed by the Board of Selectmen that work to: 
▪ inventory and map Lebanon’s natural resources;
▪ develop open space funding resources to assist landowners interested in preserving property;
▪ assist farmers with land use issues; and
▪ conduct community outreach to educate residents to the importance of agriculture and

land preservation.

During FY 2019/20 the town worked with the Department of Agriculture to preserve the 96-acre 
Geer Farm on Exeter Road. The farm sits next to Lyman Memorial High School where Linda (Geer) 
Heatherly taught math for 35 years. According to Linda “The family is pleased to preserve the 
farmland that has been in our family for nearly 200 years. 2020 has served as a reminder of the 
importance of agriculture in our nation’s food supply, and we are honored to join the several 
surrounding farms throughout Lebanon in Connecticut’s farmland preservation program.”  

The Commission publishes an annual newsletter which is mailed to all Lebanon households in the 
fall. It continues to maintain Commons Hill Trail accessed off Schalk Road/Rte. 87 and Five-Mile-
Rock Trail accessed off Randall Rd. The Commission also monitors several conservation easements 
in town. If you are interested in becoming a steward to one of our trails or would like to help 
monitor a conservation easement please contact us! The newsletter and trail maps are available at 
www.lebanonct.gov. 

The Commission meets at 4:30 p.m. on the first Monday of each month at Town Hall where the 
public is invited to participate. We accept applications for land preservation, donations to the 
town’s open space fund, and are always available as a resource on matters of protecting our 
community’s rich agricultural heritage and natural resources. We are committed to assuring that 
the Town’s natural, historical, and agricultural resources are preserved for current and future 
generations. You may contact us through Town Planner Philip Chester (860-642-2006) or email 
ConservationComm@lebanonct.gov. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Marc Lang, Chair 
Jan Fitter, Vice Chair 
Alton Blodgett 
Emery Gluck  

Keith LaPorte 
Jon Slate 
Ethan 
Stearns 

Staff:   Philip Chester, Town Planner 

Dennis Goderre, Alternate 
Paul Trubey, Alternate 
Marc Wolf, Alternate 

Student Rep.: Michael 
Wolf 
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Cemetery Commission Annual Report 

The Cemetery Commission is a seven-member commission appointed by the Board of 
Selectmen to manage the town's burial places. Commission members are Keith 
LaPorte (Chairman), Marc Lang, Shaun McCarthy, Thomas Meyer, Allyn Miller, Daniel 
Moore and Jim Barrett. Marcia Schuett is the Sexton who runs the day-to-day 
operations of the cemeteries and participates in all commission meetings. 

On average, there about 40 burials per year. Roughly 50% have been cremation 
burials in recent years.  

The North Lebanon Cemetery at 85 Synagogue Road opened June 1, 2020.  
Two sections are open. One section consists of 42 standard size 4 feet x 11 feet grave 
sites. Each grave site will accommodate 1 casket with a vault plus up to 4 cremation 
urns on top of the vault or up to 8 cremation urns without a casket & vault. A second 
section is a dedicated cremation section containing one hundred 4’ x 5-1/2’ grave 
sites. Each of these sites can accommodate up to 4 cremation urns. The cost of a 
standard grave site is $500. Cremation sites cost $250. A map of the cemetery and the 
open sections can be found on the Lebanon Town web site. 

Lebanon has 18 cemeteries, the most active of which was established in 1891 and has 
more than 1,000 multi-grave plots. Six other cemeteries contain up to 700 graves. The 
remaining cemeteries are small family plots containing only a few burials. Through the 
years, many of the tombstones have fallen victim to severe weathering, have been 
damaged, broken or have toppled due to shifting ground and shallow monument 
foundations. Over 200 stones are lying flat on the ground with about half of them 
broken. An additional 200 headstones are leaning severely, making them vulnerable to 
further damage.  

Following a 5-year plan outlined by the Cemetery Commission, restoration began in 
Trumbull, Liberty Hill and Goshen cemeteries. Brush and trees have been removed 
along the walls 

A commercial software program has been purchased for record keeping and gravesite 
location for the New Lebanon Cemetery (Waterman Road). The software program will 
help manage cemeteries, record vital statistics, and locate individual burial sites. The 
computer program provides information about decedents and locates plots on a 
satellite image. A new survey of New Lebanon Cemetery has been completed and 
mapped to the satellite image used in the program. Conversion of cemetery records to 
the new computer program is well underway. This software will be available for use by 
the public (except for private or confidential information) when fully implemented. The 
same software program will also be used for North Lebanon Cemetery on Synagogue 
Road. 

Cemetery rules and requirements for construction of monuments can be found on the 
Lebanon Town website. 
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Jonathan Trumbull Library     Annual Report FY 2019-2020 

Library Board Members: 
Catherine McCall, Chairman, Eilleen Weinsteiger, Vice-Chairman, Maureen McCall, Secretary, 
Janice Knudson, Michelle Kersey, Heidi Worthington, Berkeley Nowosad, Bill Goba, and Nancy 
Labonne. 

Our philosophy is that the library is a place for books and programs and is the center of the 
community. Our community was sorely tested by Covid-19 which forced us to close our doors in 
March 2019. We were able to offer “windowside service” in May and opened up again to the 
public in late June. These trials demonstrated how important the library was to patrons and forced 
many of our patrons into reading ebooks instead of physical books and joining together online 
instead of in person. 

The Jonathan Trumbull Library has a collection of 55,891 books, magazines, audiobooks, DVDs, 
music CDs, puppets and games. In addition, our patrons have access to approximately 70,000 
digital books and audiobooks. We have 2,717 active Lebanon patrons.  From July 2019 - June 
2020 these patrons borrowed 44,486 physical items and 6,234 digital items. When Covid hit, we 
added Hoopla and Kanopy to our services which increased our digital library substantially.  

Our pre-covid schedule was packed. We hosted “Time for Stories” for preschool-age children, 
“Read, Rock and Rhyme” for kids under 2, a homeschool STEAM program, chess club, Magic 
the Gathering Club, Dungeons and Dragons, two book clubs, Lego building sessions, Keva plank 
build sessions, and twice a week crafts for kids. Our summer reading programs doubled our usual 
book circulation and we hosted musicians, jugglers, magicians, and live animals.  Between July 
2019 - June 2020, we had 2,879 children attend 372 programs. After making the transition to 
online programs when Covid struck, we had 84 kids at a variety of programs. 

For adults, we hosted lectures every month, a monthly concert, two book clubs, yoga, knitting, 
Adult Craft Night, a Job search workgroup, Game Night and the Equinox Art Show sponsored by 
the Friends of the Library. We had 1,011 adults attend 137 live programs. Via Zoom, we had 149 
adults show up to online programs such as the book discussion group and the UCONN Master 
Gardening program as well as a special mention to the “Think and Know Things Trivia Group”, 
which has met every Tuesday since March 31, 2020.  

The library was open 38 hours per week: Monday 9-8, Tuesday 1-8, Wednesday 10-6, Thursday 
1-8 and Saturday 9-2. The library was closed on Fridays and Sundays. JTL is a member of
Bibliomation, a nonprofit library consortium with a shared circulation system.
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Annual Report 

 Town of Lebanon Resident Trooper Office and Lebanon Police Department 

Fiscal Year 2019-2020 

During the fiscal year of 2019-2020 the Resident State Trooper program remained in place in 
the Town of Lebanon. TFC Collin Konow has served as the town’s Resident State Trooper since 
January 2014 and ended his service in March 2021. A permanent replacement has not been 
appointed yet. The town was also served by the four part time officers of the Lebanon Police 
Department. The Lebanon police officers supplement coverage by working additional patrols 
during mainly evening and weekend hours as well as at special events.  Additional patrol 
coverage provided by State Troopers from Troop K ensured non-stop police presence in town 
throughout the entire fiscal year. Additionally, in November 2018 the Lebanon Police 
Department added a new full time police officer to serve in the role of a School Resource Officer 
(SRO). Officer Rob Magao came to the Lebanon Police Department with 21 years of experience 
in many different areas of law enforcement but decided to step down in his role as Lebanon 
SRO after the 2018/2019 school year. Officer Slonski was hired to fill the vacant Lebanon SRO 
position and currently services all three schools in the district in a variety of ways.   

The Resident Trooper’s office continues its emphasis on proactive community policing. This 
allows us to deter crime in both the residential and commercial areas of the town while 
simultaneously establishing a strong relationship with the community. The Resident Trooper 
and Town of Lebanon officers work closely with members of the community and town officials 
to ensure the needs of the town are being met. Crimes of theft and burglary (aka breaking and 
entering) have been significantly reduced over the past several years using this methodology. 
The addition of the SRO position has also helped reduce these crimes by allowing patrol officers 
and the Resident Trooper to be out on patrol more often. 

The town has also seen a decrease in crimes that fall under the categories of disturbances and 
domestic violence. Traffic accidents also continue to decline. Also, traffic stops, DWI arrests 
and infractions (tickets) have also decreased. This is largely due to the COVID19 pandemic as 
well as ongoing significant reduction in federal and state grants for traffic safety and 
enforcement over the past several years 

Additionally, the majority of complaints that come into the Resident Trooper office/ Lebanon 
Police Department are speeding complaints. Most of these complaints occur in the summer 
months. Enforcement efforts are concentrated in the areas where we get the most complaints. 
Many times we find that the offenders are people who live in close proximity to where the 
complaint was made. Please be a good neighbor and responsible community member and be 
mindful of your speed, especially on secondary town roads. Again the COVID19 pandemic 
caused a sharp decline of vehicles on the roadway, which in turn reduced accidents as well as 
motor vehicle stops. 

As a reminder, ALL emergency calls should be directed to 911. It is the safest and fastest way 
to get a police response to your location. If you are in doubt that it is an emergency, use 911 as 
it is better to err on the side of caution. It is important to remember that the Resident Trooper 
office is NOT manned 24/7 and that we are usually out on patrol. Contact us by calling one of 
the below listed numbers if you stop at the office and we are not there. Also, if you are the 
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victim of a crime, please report it to the police, even if you do require or want a formal report. It 
helps us to solve other crimes and compile accurate data in order to better serve the 
community.  

Police performance indicators for the Town of Lebanon (includes State Police Troop K): 

Town of Lebanon 
2013-
2014 

2014-
2015 

2015-
2016 

2016-
2017 

2017-
2018 

2018-
2019 

2019-
2020 

Total calls for service 4962 4419 4750 4655 3753 3546 2756 
Motor vehicle accidents 
with injury 5 2 12 10 14 14 2 
Motor vehicle accidents 
without injury 87 62 70 82 84 70 84 
Fatal motor vehicle 
accidents 0 1 0 1 0 2 1 
Alarm responses 193 226 224 230 189 196 183 
Assist to citizen calls 297 274 281 311 250 218 217 
Assist to motorist calls 329 290 255 224 245 164 70 
Traffic stops 1551 1441 1628 1578 1009 918 563 
Burglaries 25 20 19 16 8 6 9 
Larcenies 21 43 38 22 5 10 11 
Disturbances//Domestic 
Disturb  35 40 47 37//21 42/23 24/14 36/31 

DWI arrests 26 15 22 13 13 13 11 
Narcotics Violations 17 14 13 8 11 3 9 
Tickets//Warnings 1220//440 1227//359 1402/418 1441//427 892/77 700/143 390/117 

Resident Trooper’s office……860-642-7730  Troop K………………………..860-465-5400 
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Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, Inc. 

23 Goshen Hill Road• P.O. Box 51 Lebanon, 

Connecticut 06249 

Phone: (860) 642-7546 • Fax: (860) 642-3429 

Fiscal Year 2019-2020 

Annual report 

During FY 19-20, the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department Inc. responded to 671 calls for assistance. These were a 
combined total of 25 fire, 520 emergency medical, 38 hazardous conditions, and 22 service calls as well as 66 combined fire 
alarm, false alarms and good intent calls. Our members supported the town with over 8100 hours of response and training 
hours recorded, (a 24% increase over last year), as well as 4347 hours of scheduled duty time. 

The Lebanon Volunteer Fire Depattment Inc. remains committed to maintaining a high level of service to the Town 
of Lebanon. We continue to grow, and to meet the challenges that present themselves in a way that all citizens of the Town 
can be proud of. 

At our annual meeting in September 2019, administrative officers were elected. Incumbent officers remaining in 
office included Mark Elliott, President, Todd Kulman, Vice President, Margaret McCaw, Secretaiy. Brian Green who had 
been our Treasurer for many years, stepped down, not seeking reelection. Brandon Dominique was elected to fill the 
Treasurer position. We thank Brian for his many years of service to the Department, both as Treasurer and as an EMS officer. 

Despite curtailing taking in new applicants with the onset of the pandemic related State of Emergency declared for 
Lebanon in March of 2020, we had already taken in 4 new Cadet members, 2 Associate members, 3 Probationary members 
and advanced 2 Probationary members to Active status. Members continue to train to advance and maintain certifications. 
We have adapted to the new reality of working during a pandemic with changes in practice related to how we handle calls, 
training, and maintaining readiness for our service to the Town. 

Prior to the onset of the pandemic, projects that the Department was working on included upgrades to our computer 
server, internet access, equipment, training and response ability. The kitchen in the Fire Department section of the Fire Safety 
Complex received a face lift with new cabinets and counters. Paving was done in front of the bays to repair deterioration of 
the blacktop. A new AV system, with wide screen internet capable TV was installed to facilitate training presentations. A 
new battery powered hydraulic rescue tool was placed in-service on the first responding engine to assist with rapid extrication 
at automobile accidents. 

In Januaiy of 2020 we had to take our Tanker I 06 out of service due to advanced corrosion affecting the frame. 
After investigating options and presenting them to the Town, the Board of Selectman and Board of Finance elected to repair 
the truck and not seek replacement. Fortunately, we were able to secure a replacement tanker to lease while ours was out of 
service, as repair shops and supply lines shut down during the early months of the pandemic delaying the repairs. 

As the public health emergency presented by the COVID virus developed, L VFD played an instrumental part of the 
Towns' response. We hosted weekly Emergency Management meetings with a wide range of Town and regional officials. 
Coordination of securing protective gear for responders, and the Town, was handled from within the Department. We altered 
our operations to protect our members, and the Town, with a variety of measures. Distant learning, internet meetings, 
alterations to our response protocols, infection control, all became our daily routine. 

In June we coordinated a town wide drive by parade, as the Memorial Day Parade was cancelled. This event was a 
major morale booster for our members, and those in town, who were feeling isolated by the "social distancing" aspects of the 
pandemic. 

Maintaining the wellness of our responders is integral to being able to respond the needs of the Town and has 
required constant vigilance, which continues today. Looking forward to emerging from this pandemic stronger, we remain 
committed to continuing to serve the Town of Lebanon and it's citizens. 

Mark Elliott, President 

Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department 
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Town of Lebanon  
Commission on Aging 

Annual Report 2019-2020 

The purpose of the Commission on Aging is to be aware and to assist in the needs and 
conditions of Lebanon’s aging in both the public and private sectors, in relation to housing, 
economics, transportation, health, social services, recreation and other matters. The COA shall, 
also, develop and implement programs to meet the needs and improve the conditions of the aging 
and shall make recommendations to the Board of Selectmen and the Annual Town Meeting 
regarding services to the Aging. 

The COA sponsors Senior and Handicapped transportation, Lebanon Senior Center, 
Municipal Agent for the Town of Lebanon, and Meals on Wheels. The COA partners with AARP. 
Uncas Health District and other ogranizations to offer many diverse services to our Lebanon 
Seniors. 

Our Senior Transportation program transports seniors and disabled persons to doctor’s 
appointments, to work, grocery shopping and personal errands. A Wellness trip is offered several 
times a month to encourage socialization and exploring something new. The program is funded with 
local dollars as well as a matching state grant which requires quarterly reporting. 

The Senior Center offers many programs for good health as well as socialization to our 
seniors. Whether it’s a heart healthy exercise class, a spirited game of cards, or a delicious lunch on 
a Tuesday our seniors utilize the center every day of the week. 

We have many volunteers that make all the programs sponsored by the COA a great success, 
we’d like to recognize them here and give them a great big “THANK YOU”. 

Our seniors and town are most fortunate to have a dedicated group of people on the COA. I 
personally wish to express my appreciation to each of them for their time and efforts contributed to 
the Lebanon Seniors. If you have any suggestions for us to enhance programs for the seniors, 
please do not hesitate to contact the COA. Member: Jane Cady, Jim Donnelly, Darlene Hathaway, 
Donna Lennox, Geri McCaw, Gary Rockafeller, Marion Russo, and Liz Shilosky. 

*Due to COVID the Senior Center closed on March 16, 2020. Some staff kept the center “alive” by
reaching out to seniors, answering phone calls, providing medical equipment and later opening
transportation in September. The center continued to host blood drives run by the American Red
Cross and the Lebanon Lions Club. The center has yet to open in 2021 but there are high hopes for
a late Spring re-opening.

Respectfully submitted:  Bonnie LeBlanc 
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

Mission Statement: The Lebanon Public Schools, in partnership with families and the 
community, will prepare students to be contributing members of a diverse global society. We are 
committed to providing a safe, nurturing, rigorous and student centered learning environment.  

The Lebanon Public School District consists of three schools: Lebanon Elementary School, 
Grades Pre-K-4; Lebanon Middle School, Grades 5-8 and Lyman Memorial High School, Grades 
9-12. The Pre-K program is accredited by the National Association for the Education of Young
Children.  Lyman Memorial High School is accredited by the New England Association of
Schools and Colleges.  Lyman also is home to the Lebanon Regional Agricultural Science &
Technology Center, established in 1959.   Students in each of the schools are provided a rigorous
academic program designed to promote excellence and high achievement for all students in all
grades.

The 2019-20 school year is the inception year; commensurate with the revised and newly 
published Lebanon Public Schools Strategic Plan for 2019 – 2024. The plan was developed 
collaboratively with advisory committees consisting of students, parents, community leaders, 
district staff and BOE members.  The plan has 6 pillars, each contributing the necessary skills 
and dispositions to achieve our mission, constituting the Portrait of a Graduate in Lebanon, CT. 
The characteristics of the six pillars are: 

• Responsible Citizenship
• Effective Communications
• Critical Thinking
• Innovative Problem Solving
• A Disposition Toward Lifelong Learning
• Becoming an Engaged Collaborator

The revised and updated Strategic Plan encompasses the learning and innovative culture changes 
to the key levers of the previous Strategic Plan.  Much was accomplished within the structural 
framework of the 7 levers of the educational design in Lebanon. 

Academics- The Lebanon Public Schools is providing a challenging and robust academic 
program preparing students for college, career and life success. 

Positive School Climate- The Lebanon Public Schools will provide a supportive, 
engaging and caring educational environment for all students. 

 Talent- The Lebanon Public Schools will recruit, support, evaluate and retain highly 
qualified educators. 

Building/Maintaining Effective Educational Systems- The Lebanon Public Schools will 
utilize efficient systems for maintaining a highly effective educational system and a wide range 
of option for corresponding professional development. 
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Enrollment- The Lebanon Public Schools will maintain a viable Pre-K through 12 
educational system. 

Finances- The Lebanon Public Schools will secure appropriate funding and maintain a 
commitment to sourcing grant funding to support all curricular and extracurricular programs. 

Student Activities and Athletics- The Lebanon Public Schools will provide student  
activities and athletic opportunities reflective of student interests. 

Teachers and administrators work collaboratively to ensure all students receive education 
opportunities that are of high rigor, aligned to the goals in the strategic plan and of interest and 
importance to our students. The district is committed to using a variety of data resources to guide 
instruction, provide students with individualized supports, and provide professional learning 
options for staff.  The Lebanon Public School students will perform at or above state and 
national levels on standardized assessments. 

To meet goals identified in the new Strategic Plan, and despite the impact of COVID-19, we will 
continue with our one to one computing program.  The district received another Title IV grant 
and will use the funds to expand technology instruction at Lebanon Elementary School and 
Lebanon Middle School.   

During the summer of 2018 and through the remainder of the school year, a team of consisting of 
the superintendent, curriculum director, high school administrators and high school teachers 
received professional development on creating and implementing a Pre-K through Grade 12 
Portrait of the Graduate.  This commitment referenced at the beginning of this document is the 
lens through which our students will progress through their high school career.  Simultaneously, 
students, parents, staff, and members of the Board of Education developed a new 5-year 
Strategic Plan.  Both the Portrait of the Graduate and the Strategic Plan have been implemented 
for the 2019-2020 school year. 

Parents and the community take pride in their district schools and volunteer to work in the 
buildings in a variety of capacities.  Groups and organizations such as PTO, PTA, FFA Parent 
and Alumni Association, Lions Club, American Legion, Lebanon Recreation Department, 
Lebanon Kids and various booster groups provide support, programs and activities directly to or 
in alignment with school initiatives.  The school district, town government and greater town 
community work cooperatively to provide the best education possible for the students of the 
Lebanon Public Schools.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Patricia A. Ciccone 
Superintendent of Schools  
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS ENROLLMENT AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2019

GRADE TOTAL
Pre-K 54

K 69
1 58
2 57
3 63
4 71

LES TOTAL 372
5 69
6 62
7 90
8 77

LMS TOTAL 298
9 83

10 75
11 80
12 86

LMHS TOTAL 324

994

1015

Total 10/1/19 Enrollment 

Total 10/1/18 Enrollment 

Decrease

Tuition Students

-21

58
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
2019-2020 WAGES

LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES

AGUILAR JONATHAN $25,487 DELONG VIRGINIA $87,795

ANDERSON AMY $67,000 DELSESTO JORDAN $2,097

ANDREWS CHRISTOPHER $83,701 DEROSIER CHERYL $59,124

ANGELASTRO ANNE $23,333 DINAPOLI VITO $43

ANGELI ROBERT $179,742 DOYLE MARK $62,412

APICELLI JAMES $143,379 DUBE DENISE $19,494

ARCHER BARBARA $84,965 DUFF VICKI $11,755

AYER DIANE J $89,703 DUFF PAUL $1,355

BARBER ANDREW $21,360 DUHAIME LORI $22,658

BARNES RICHARD $19,574 DULAC JACQUES $90,178

BELISLE SANDRA $504 DUNN JUNE  $70,435

BERGERON AMY E $82,526 DUNPHY MELANIE $78,586

BIEKERT CHERYL $133,170 DUTKO BENJAMIN $4,640

BIRRELL ANN $7,519 EATON CHERYL $1,011

BISESE SHANNAN $1,063 ELLIOTT SCOTT $93,435

BISSON ROSE $2,965 ESCOTT SABENA $78,382

BOADA BETHANY $77,687 FABRY RYAN $89,023

BOOE PHILLIP $170 FABRY CHRISTOPHER $92,433

BOONE TAMMY $7,885 FAUTEUX‐FIELDS CHANTAL $24,871

BOURASSA CYNTHIA $9,534 FIELDS CYNTHIA $1,692

BOUTIN YVETTE $33,072 FOLAN KELLY $4,068

BROADBENT ROBERT S $538 FRANSON CRISTYN $45,664

BROCHU GRETCHEN $87,377 FRAZIER BARBARA $6,517

BROWN DANIELLE $19,697 FRENCH KEVIN $85,000

BURELLE CHRISTINE $82,526 FRYER ALEXANDRIA $58,110

CALAMO ANITAMARIE $83,088 GAGNON HEATHER  $1,608

CALER JULIE $6,781 GAMACHE LISA ANN $82,876

CASTILLO JESSICA $23,063 GAUCHER ERIN $82,526

CECCHETTI THEO $34,758 GAUCHER JEFFREY $88,585

CHALIFOUX CHRISTINE $42,235 GELIGOFF DAVID $7,410

CHAMBERLAIN VIRGINIA $21,993 GERBER LAURA $29,657

CHANDLER JERAMIAH $3,854 GERVAIS JAN  $82,526

CLOUD DALE $1,573 GIRASOLI BRIAN $60,772

COFRANCESCO KATE $61,959 GIZA MICHAEL $24,452

COLEMAN JAMIE $20,148 GLODE JEAN $59,814

COLEMAN IVY $30,938 GODAIRE JANICE $87,051

COLEMAN STEVIE $3,230 GOFFINET LOUIS $43,341

COLLINS KAREN $83,141 GOINS CARRIE $1,055

COPELAND KRISTA $970 GOMEZ MARTIN $87,114

CORNELL ABIGAIL $8,738 GONZALES MIGUEL $20,652

COTE JOHN $27,436 GOODRICH MARGARET $7,475

COVINO DAVID $49,171 GORBORINO JACQUELINE $75,011

CREME CATHERINE $6,468 GRAY GEORGE $90,323

CROSS GWENDOLYN $7,292 GROGAN MEGAN  $77,617

CZAJKA RICHARD $43,128 GUINAN BRITTANY $17,104

DAVIS SUSAN $553 GUPTA RUMA $82,526

HALBROOKS JF $88,061
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
2019-2020 WAGES

LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES

HAMILTON‐BRODIE KEVIN $88,970 LOUKIDES DARLENE $34,210

HANDY PATTI $1,344 LUCAS SHAWN $74,408

HARKNESS CAROL $4,307 LUND DAVID $49,504

HARLACHER MARLEY $170 LYON‐MILES HEATHER $68,835

HARTNETT MICHAEL $47,152 MACKENZIE EMILY $68,982

HARTNETT SONIA $36,791 MAGNAN TAMELA $47,678

HERMANN LORI‐ANN $23,436 MALLETTE MICHELLE $2,969

HILARIO VICKTRIE $10,010 MARCIA RICHARD $2,220

HINSCH ELAINE $4,677 MATKOVICH JESSICA $1,637

HISMAN CYNTHIA $88,783 MCCARTHY SAMANTHA $88,266

HOGG PATRICIA $89,152 MCCLUSKEY HEATHER $86,527

HUNTINGTON MEGAN $56,551 MCLEAN CHRISTOPHER $85,997

HUSTUS SR. KENNETH $45,782 MCNEILL PAULA $6,000

IENI DEBRA $85,566 MEAKEM MAEGAN $71,787

IENI KATI $717 MICHELE NICOLE $23,637

INGRAM JUDITH $82,526 MICHELE KRISTY $38,289

JARVIS IV JOHN  $61,715 MIKE MYRIAH $8,919

JOHNSON CHRISTINE $82,526 MIKKELSON MICHAEL $9,228

JOHNSON LYN K $22,668 MITCHELL KAREN $46,933

JOHNSON ZACHARY $54,603 MITCHELL JOHN $4,997

JUDD JR. ROBERT $2,031 MORELLO MARK $90,073

KADLOF MONIKA $30,671 MORSE ASHLEY $62,842

KILCOMONS MARY $56,989 MORSE SHANE $83,521

KINSTLER LISA $24,480 MOTYKA JAMES $87,076

KISELICA MAY $60,090 MOZAK‐PEZZA KATHLEEN $127,926

KLOSOWSKI JOHN $87,644 MULLER PATRICIA $87,505

KONOW KAREN  $24,568 NAPPI AMANDA $4,282

KORZHOFF NATALIA $61,959 NARITA KYOTARO $83,626

KOWALYSHYN KAREN $380 NOVOTNY ROBIN $11,027

KRAUSE  BIELEWICZ KRISTEN $55,847 NOWAK KAMILA $46,113

LADEGARD JASON $84,126 NOWOSAD GENEVIEVE $60,090

LADEGARD JENNIFER $81,901 NOWOSAD JOANNE $65,521

LAFLAM MADISON $6,312 OCHS KENNETH $42,998

LAIDLEY LAURA $1,691 O'HEARN CANDIS $24,429

LAKE JULIE  $23,715 OLIN TARYN $36,547

LALLY CARLA $2,334 OLSEN JENNIFER $83,328

LAMB KATIE $3,958 ORLANDO MELISSA $67,235

LANGDON MARIE $82,526 ORSINI PAUL $50,373

LAPORTE KEITH $46,883 ORZOLEK DAWN $50

LASKARZEWSKI ROBERT $138,228 PAGLIARINI DAWN $88,576

LASKOW DENISE $22,297 PAGNOZZI THERESA $54,174

LATHROP MOLLY $84,835 PARADIS ERIN $58,084

LATHROP BONNIE $560 PARKER HOLLY $44,656

LAURIA KRISTEN $53,998 PAYER PATRICIA $27,117

LAZUR BARBARA $82,526 PELLETIER JUSTIN $37,429

LAZUR EVAN $17,050 PESTEY MICHAEL $53,039

LEARNED CAROL $21,793 PESTEY KELLY $12,743

LEFEBVRE CHRISTIAN $723 PETERSON LINDA JOYCE $24,378
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
2019-2020 WAGES

LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES LAST NAME FIRST NAME 19‐20 WAGES

PICARD JEANNETTE $88,511 VAUGHN LEANNA $1,025

PICARD GEOFFREY $71,571 VICHAS LEAH $3,628

PISTEL ERIN M $82,876 VIELE LISA $23,168

PORTER SARAH $20,080 VILLANUEVA THERESA $19,987

PROVOST CAROLYN $84,126 VIOLETTE CYNTHIA $82,900

QUILES‐GLOVER RITA $132,047 WADJA DONNA $20,677

RENNA BARBARA $22,650 WALLACE MONICA $11,261

REYNOLDS AMY $84,068 WARNER LINDSAY $4,217

REYNOLDS ADAM $79,487 WELCH‐COLLINS BAIRD $17,219

RIOS SANDRA $62,815 WEST MELYNDA $42,830

RIVERA CARLOS $45,554 WEST AMANDA $8,316

RUCKDESCHEL LEIGH $88,977 WILDES BRENDA $91,671

RUFFINO MICHAEL $2,604 WILLIAMS CHELSEA $61,152

RYAN JANE $10,613 WILSON SHERI C $85,730

SCHUH BETH $19,840 WORTH JAMES $1,833

SCORSO JESSICA $87,753 YANK TERESA $154

SCOTT LAURA $19,209 ZOPFI AMANDA $1,440

SCZUREK JOANNE $47,045

SHUMAN ERIN $84,291

SIECZKOWSKI NICOLE $52,346

SIROIS OLIVIA $54,524

SIRPENSKI ROBERT $97,284

SKILES GRETA $85,332

SMITH KATHLEEN $82,526

SMITH REBECCA $24,350

SOLARI GAYLE $475

SPEDALIERE SANDRA $21,021

SPINNER MARGARET $3,009

STRANGE ASHLEY $20,360

STRENKOWSKI LORRAINE $20,531

STROHM LARRY $83,626

STRONG ERICA  $57,240

SYKES GREGORY $2,748

SYLVESTER MARYLIN $24,489

SYLVESTER KAREN  $247

TARBOX MAGGIE $765

TARTAGLIA LAURA  $22,128

TARTAGLIA KYLE $2,365

TARTAGLIA MICHAEL $2,229

TEDESCO DAVID $88,679

THOMPSON JENNIFER $40,638

THOMPSON CAROLINE $51,823

TOROCKIO HALLE $84,126

TRAHAN JORDANN $49,585

TREISS INGRID $2,686

TRUAX LINDA $21,793

TULLY JENNIFER $55,268

VAN SAMBECK APRIL $66,417

35



MEMBERS OF THE CLASS OF 2020 

Madison Miriam Adams 

Maddison Hope Attardi NHS 

Charlotte Louise Avery 

Zachary Wayne Avery 

Giovanna Balderacchi ^ 

Mathew Blake Bauer 

Zachary Joseph Bazzano 

Hanna Mary Behlke NHS 

Ryan Austin Bellows 

Kayla Marissa Boughton NHS 

Rachel Frances Breault ^ 

Alexander Mason Britt 

Marissa Marybeth Britt 

Andrea Nicole Burelle 

Daniel Clifford Burnham 

Elizabeth Hope Casey 

Jared Michael Churchill 

Christina Rose Clouser * NHS + 

Nicolette Larosa Cordy  

Samantha Jean Cournoyer 

Zacary Brian Crawford 

Makayla Rose DeSantis 

Anna Marie Dias * NHS 

Paige Jeannette Domanico * NHS 

Ian Andrew Arthur Drum 

Brett Robert Duhaime 

Zachary Jade Dunnack NHS 

William Harrison Dunnett * NHS 

Hunter Burton Fellows 

Macallister Anne Franchi + 

Rosemary Grace Gignac 

Olivia Ruth Glazier 

Clayton Robert Goodrich * NHS 

Ryan James Harlow 

Morgan Nicole Hartnett * NHS 

Indigo May Chesmer Hevner NHS 

Cody Preston Hyburg 

Antonio Incontro 

Madelyn Abigail Kulman 

Rebecca Lynn Kovach ^ 

Jeffrey Robert Ladd 

Jenna Emily Langevin 

Brianna Hope LeTourneau + 

Isabel Celia Link + 

Cheyenne Dakota Lord 

Trevor Charles Lundberg 

Brooke Onalea Madore 

Aden James McComiskey 

Jacob Anthony Michele * NHS + 

Solenne Theresa-Colette Miller ^ 

James Richard Morrison 

Emily Elizabeth Mulcahy 

Caleb H. Muller 

Mercedez Mety Muñoz 

Amanda Marie Murphy 

Katina Star Nanos + 

Mikayla Leigh O’Connor 

Eliza Sunshine Olsen NHS ^ 

Sidney Elizabeth Pankowski * NHS ^ 

Noah Ryan Parker 

Jonah David Person NHS 

Jessica Lynn Peruccio 

Antonio Nicholas Ponte NHS 

Nicholas Dante Poppiti  

Ryan James Powers * NHS 

Dianna Katherine Rodgers 

Samantha Faith Smith 

Jeffry Jay Stober + 

McKenna Shea Tedford-Coles * NHS 

Emily Carolyn Tingley 

Paige Elizabeth Webb NHS 

Cassandra Margaret Wells NHS + 

Katherine Anne Wierzbicki + 

Jayden Michael Wroniak 

*Top Ten

NHS National Honor Society 

+ Honors Senior Project

^ Outstanding Senior Project Oral Visual 
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Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC
Auditing ,  Accounting ,  and  Consulting  Services

214 Holmes Road / Scarborough, Maine  04074 / Phone: (207) 885 - 5038 / Fax: (207) 470 - 5050

Independent Auditors' Report

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut,
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the State Single Audit Act (C.G.S.
Sections 4-230 to 236).  Those standards and the State Single Audit Act require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis
on pages 3 through 10 and the pension and OPEB schedules on pages 58 through 62 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Government Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquires
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying combining and individual fund financial statements, the
schedule of property taxes levied, collections and outstanding balances, the schedule of debt limitation, the schedule of expenditures
of federal awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards  (Uniform Guidance) and the schedule of expenditures of state financial
assistance as required by the State Single Audit Act are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part
of the basic financial statements.  The accompanying combining and individual fund financial statements, the schedule of property
taxes levied, collections and outstanding balances, the schedule of debt limitation, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards
and the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the other information described above is
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 19, 2021, on our consideration
of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Scarborough, Maine
February 19, 2021
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

Our discussion and analysis of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s financial performance provides an overview of the Town’s
financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  Please read this analysis in conjunction with the basic financial statements,
notes to the basic financial statements, and required supplementary information of the Town.  This management discussion and
analysis is being presented for the current fiscal year with a focus on the comparative analysis of the information for the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town as found in the government-wide financial statements. 

Financial Highlights - Government-wide financial statements - Governmental activities

• The Town’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by $43,482,466 (net position) as of the end of the current fiscal year.  This
compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $42,737,396.  This represents an increase of $745,070 or approximately 1.74%.

• The Town’s net investment in capital assets net position balance is used to account for the total capital assets of the Town
reduced by the total accumulated depreciation on those assets, reduced by the total outstanding debt incurred to purchase those
assets.  The total net investment in capital assets net position balance of the Town was $32,958,042 as of the end of the current
fiscal year.  This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $32,884,663.  This represents an increase of approximately .22%
which is the result of a decrease in the related long-term debt of $470,000, a new promissory note in the amount of ($500,000),
current year forgiveness of the new promissory note of $100,922, current depreciation in the amount of ($1,994,373), current
capital asset additions in the amount of $2,177,681, the net current fiscal year loss on the transfer of the Trumbull Jr. House
related capital assets to the Lebanon Historical Society as approved at town meeting on October 28, 2019 in the amount of
($171,942) and the net current fiscal year loss on the disposal of capital assets in the amount of ($8,909).  The current fiscal year
capital asset additions included school technology purchases in the amount of $109,814, new town software and upgrades, a
fuel tank project at the middle school, improvements to the school tennis courts, security system and HVAC in the amount of
$137,699, new Aspinall field dugouts in the amount of $42,383, a new plow truck in the amount of $195,598, a new pickup truck
in the amount of $38,007, current year paving costs in the amount of $704,636 and bridge improvement costs in the amount of
$696,014 which are classified as infrastructure capital assets as well as a number of other capital asset items.

• The Town’s restricted net position is used to account for funds received with constraints imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, or other rules and regulations as imposed by other governments or enabling legislation.  This net position cannot
be used to finance the day-to-day activities and operations of the Town.  The total restricted net position balance of the Town
was $4,300,421 as of the end of the current fiscal year.  This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $4,915,345.  This
represents a decrease of approximately 14.30%.  This decrease  is due almost entirely to the current fiscal year transfer of the
portion of the Trumbull investments fund relating to the Trumbull Jr. House to the Lebanon Historical Society as approved at
town meeting on October 28, 2019 in the amount of ($599,800) which is approximately 97.50% of the current year decrease.

• The Town’s unrestricted net position balance is the component of net position which is used to finance the day-to-day activities
and operations without constraints imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or other rules and regulations as imposed by
other governments or enabling legislation.  The total unrestricted net position balance of the Town was $6,224,003 as of the end
of the current fiscal year.  This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $4,937,388.  This represents an increase of
approximately 26.06%.  Unrestricted net position is calculated by subtracting the known net investment in capital assets balance
and the restricted net position balance from the known total net position balance.  Therefore, the change in this balance is a
direct correlation of the changes in the other two components.

• The Town’s total revenues for its governmental activities were $32,981,772 for the current fiscal year.  This compares to the prior
fiscal year balance of $29,658,066.  This represents an increase of $3,323,706 or approximately 11.21%.  This is due to a number
of increases in revenue categories such as property tax revenues which increased by $777,299 and miscellaneous income which
increased by $484,581 due in large part to a $500,000 donation received from the Adams Town Memorial Fund as a contribution
to the library expansion and renovation project.  A $500,000 promissory note was also received in relation to this project.
Operating grants also increased by $2,592,067 due almost entirely to an increase in the actuarial determined State on-behalf
revenue in the amount of $2,592,434 which relates to the pension and OPEB benefits of the Teachers Retirement System.

• The cost of the Town’s governmental activities was $32,236,702 for the current fiscal year.  The amount of these costs ultimately
financed by general revenues of the Town, however, was only $20,229,922 due to a portion of these costs being paid for by
individuals receiving certain benefits through charges for services in the amount of $1,259,616 and through operating and
capital grants received from the State (state and federal dollars) in the amount of $10,747,164.  This amounts to approximately
62.75% of the cost of these governmental activities actually being financed by the general revenues of the Town.  This compares
to approximately 66.79% of the cost of the governmental activities of the Town being financed by the general revenues of the
town for the prior fiscal year.  The individual breakdown of how these charges for services and operating and capital grants
where received by department for the current fiscal year is shown on Statement B on page 12 and 13.



4

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

Financial Highlights - Government-wide financial statements - Business-type activities

• The Town established two internal funds to account for the operations of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority
(the Authority).  The benefit assessment proprietary fund which is shown as a business-type activity in both the fund financial
statements and the government-wide financial statements is responsible for the related capital assets of the project, debt
repayment and benefit assessment collections.  The operating proprietary fund which is also shown as a business-type activity
in both the fund financial statements and the government-wide financial statements is responsible for the operating costs of
the authority and as such the billing and collection of user fees.  During the current fiscal year, a benefit assessment was levied
on a property located along the District in the amount of $16,683.  Current fiscal year assessment principal collections totaled
approximately $256,371 leaving a current and long-term receivable amount due of $2,517,451.  Current fiscal year borrowed
interest collections totaled approximately $69,937 including currently billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving
a outstanding receivable of $21,189.  Current fiscal year user fee collections totaled approximately $118,187 including currently
billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding receivable of $17,496.

Using this annual report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements consist of the Statement
of net position and the Statement of activities which are shown on pages 11 through 13 and which provide information about the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town as a whole and present a longer-view of the Town’s finances.  The fund
financial statements consist of the Balance sheet and the Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances which
are shown on pages 14 and 16 and tell how the services of the Town were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for
future spending.  Fund financial statements also report the Town’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial
statements by providing information about the Town’s most significant funds.  Budget to actual information is reported in these
fund financial statements for the general fund on pages 18 and 19.  The proprietary fund financial statements consist of a Statement
of net position, a Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and a Statement of cash flows which are shown on
pages 20 through 22.  The proprietary activities of the Town are accounted for within two enterprise funds which are used to account
for the activities of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority and an internal service fund which is used to account for
the self funding dental plan of the Town.  The fiduciary fund financial statements consist of a Statement of fiduciary net position
and a Statement of changes in fiduciary net position which are shown on page 23.  The fiduciary activities of the Town are those
for which the Town acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of groups outside of the Town.  These statements relate to agency
funds for which the Town is acting in a purely custodial capacity for student and other groups and for private purpose trust funds
when amounts have been given to the Town for specific purposes.

Reporting the Town as a whole 

Our analysis of the Town as a whole begins on page 11 with the Statement of net position.  One of the most important questions
asked about the Town’s finances is, “Is the Town as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the current fiscal years activities?”
The statement of net position and the statement of activities report information about the Town as a whole and about its activities
in a way that helps answer this question.  The statement of net position includes all of the non-fiduciary assets and liabilities of the
Town using the accrual basis of accounting.  This basis of accounting is similar to the accounting policies and procedure utilized
by most private-sector (for profit) companies.  All of the current fiscal year revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless
of when cash is received or paid in the statement of activities.  The statement of activities presents the operations of the
governmental and business-type activities of the primary government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit
of the Town for the fiscal year. The operations of the Town are shown in a format which reports the net (expense) revenue of the
individual functions of the Town. The purpose of this net (expense) revenue format is to report the relative financial burden of each
of the Town’s functions on the taxpayers.  Program revenue is applied to each function based on which function generated the
specific charges for services and for which functions the operating and capital grants have been received.

These two statements report the Town’s net position and the changes in this net position.  You can think of this net position as one
way to measure the financial health and financial position of the Town.  The net position balance is made up of the difference
between the assets and liabilities of the Town.  Over time, increases and decreases in the Town’s net position is one indicator of
whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.  However, you also need to consider other non-financial factors which
affect the overall financial health of the Town such as changes in the property tax base, the conditions of the infrastructure of the
Town, and the general economy present at the time.  These two statements are divided into three different kinds of activities on the
reporting level.  These categories are governmental, business-type, and component units.  The Authority’s activities are classified
as both governmental activities and business-type activities and are characterized as follows:
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

• Governmental activities - All of the Town’s basic services are reported here, including general government, public safety, public
works, health & social services, community preservation, education, and other unclassified programs and activities.  Property
taxes, charges for services, State and Federal operating and capital grants and other funding, and other miscellaneous revenues
finance most of these activities in whole or in part.

• Business-type activities - Business-type activities are reported in funds which focus on the determination of operating income,
changes in net position, and cash flows.  The business-type activities of the Town are accounted for within proprietary funds
and more specifically enterprise funds.  The Town uses two enterprise funds to account for the activities of the Amston Lake
Water Pollution Control Authority which are designed to account for charges for services and other collections to be used to
fund the operating activities and the repayment of long-term debt and the capital assets of the Authority.

Reporting the Town’s most significant funds

Our analysis of the Town’s major funds begins on page 14 with the Balance sheet.  The fund financial statements provide detailed
information about the most significant funds of the Town but not a combined picture of the Town as a whole.  Some of these funds
are required to be established by State law and by bond covenants.  In addition, the Board of Finance of the Town has the authority
to establish other funds which it uses to help control and manage funds for particular purposes (such as the community center or
recreation commission) or to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities for using certain taxes, grants, or other money (such as
the revenue received and expended for educational grants).  The Town uses governmental funds which are characterized as follows:

• Governmental funds - All of the Town’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows
into and out of those funds and the balances left at fiscal year-end that are available for spending.  These funds are reported
using a current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  This basis of accounting
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted into cash.  The governmental fund financial
statements provide a detailed short-term view of the Town’s general government operations and the basic services it provides.
Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent
in the near future to finance the Town’s programs and activities.  The relationship between governmental activities and
governmental funds is presented in a reconciliation at the bottom of the fund financials.

Reporting the Town’s other funds - Proprietary funds

Our analysis of the Town’s proprietary funds begin on page 20 with the Statement of net position.  The statement of net position
presents the financial position of the proprietary funds at the end of the fiscal year.  This statement reports the assets, liabilities, and
net position of the Town.  The assets and liabilities are presented in a classified format to distinguish between current and long-term
assets and liabilities.  In addition, the assets and liabilities are presented in the order of their relative liquidity. The statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position is the operating statement of proprietary funds.  This statement also segregates
revenues and expenses between the category of operating and non-operating.  Operating revenues and expenses are subtracted to
come up with the operating income or loss from operations.  Non-operating revenues and expenses are then shown by line item
in a section following the results of the operations.  The proprietary funds of the Town will also utilize a statement of cash flows.
The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and payments made by these
funds during each reporting period.  The Town’s proprietary funds are characterized as follows:

• Proprietary funds - Proprietary funds are both governmental and business-type activity funds which focus on the determination
of operating income, changes in net position and cash flows.  Proprietary funds include both enterprise funds (business-type)
and internal service funds (governmental funds).

The Town as a trustee - Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position.  Fiduciary funds are used by the Town to report assets
held in a trustee or agency capacity for other groups and therefore cannot be used to support the Town’s own programs.  The type
of fiduciary funds for which the Town is trustee are private purpose trust funds and agency funds.  Private purpose trust funds
account for the assets held by the Town in a trustee capacity on behalf of the schools in the form of scholarship funds and on behalf
of the library and cemeteries in similar funds.  All of the resources of these funds, including any earnings on invested resources,
may be used to support their activities.  There is no requirement that any portion of these resources be preserved as capital.  Agency
funds are used to report resources held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity such as student activity accounts.
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The Town as a whole - Assets, liabilities, and net position

The information provided below represents government-wide information for the governmental and business-type activities of the
Town for the current fiscal year compared to the prior fiscal year.  The current ratio compares the current assets of the Town as a
whole to its current liabilities and non-current liabilities due within one year as a whole and gives an indication of the Town’s ability
to pay current obligations.  As of the end of the current fiscal year the total current ratio of the Town was 4.08 to 1 compared to the
end of the prior fiscal year when the total current ratio was 3.38 to 1.  Another indication of the Town’s ability to meet its current
obligations with current assets is called its working capital.  This is calculated by subtracting the current liabilities and those non-
current liabilities due within one year  from the current assets of the Town as a whole.  As of the end of the current fiscal year the
Town’s positive total working capital balance was $11,490,890.  This compares to the prior fiscal year positive balance of $9,717,598.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Current assets $ 14,278,036 $ 12,836,792 $ 940,864 $ 971,879 $ 15,218,900 $ 13,808,671
Other assets 3,279,162 4,043,308 3,463,535 3,544,902 6,742,697 7,588,210
Capital assets 34,117,202 34,114,745 5,896,574 5,983,288 40,013,776 40,098,033

51,674,400 50,994,845 10,300,973 10,500,069 61,975,373 61,494,914

Deferred outflows of resources 1,379,937 1,461,239 -     -     1,379,937 1,461,239

Current liabilities 3,065,931 3,416,807 77,435 91,048 3,143,366 3,507,855
Non-current liabilities
  Due within one year 479,610 480,922 105,034 102,296 584,644 583,218
  Due after one year 5,526,333 5,559,218 3,828,985 3,941,220 9,355,318 9,500,438

9,071,874 9,456,947 4,011,454 4,134,564 13,083,328 13,591,511

Deferred inflows of resources 499,997 261,741 -     -     499,997 261,741

Net position:
  Net Investment capital assets 32,958,042 32,884,663 1,962,555 1,939,772 34,920,597 34,824,435
  Restricted 4,300,421 4,915,345 -     -     4,300,421 4,915,345
  Unrestricted 6,224,003 4,937,388 4,326,964 4,425,733 10,550,967 9,363,121

$ 43,482,466 $ 42,737,396 $ 6,289,519 $ 6,365,505 $ 49,771,985 $ 49,102,901

Restricted net position:
Expendable:
  Restricted investment funds $ 2,403,485 $ 3,035,760 $            -     $            -     $ 2,403,485 $ 3,035,760
  Restricted donation funds 347,474 337,968 -     -     347,474 337,968
  Enabling legislation funds 60,324 70,994 -     -     60,324 70,994
  Community projects 1,055,913 1,061,053 -     -     1,055,913 1,061,053
  Encumbrances 36,583 -     -     -     36,583 -     
  Permanent funds residual 52,982 61,740 -     -     52,982 61,740

3,956,761 4,567,515 -     -     3,956,761 4,567,515

Non-expendable:
  Prepaids and inventory 24,388 28,558 -     -     24,388 28,558
  Permanent funds principal 319,272 319,272 -     -     319,272 319,272

343,660 347,830 -     -     343,660 347,830

$ 4,300,421 $ 4,915,345 $            -     $            -     $ 4,300,421 $ 4,915,345
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

The Town as a whole - Revenues, expenses, and changes in net position

The information provided below represents government-wide information for the governmental and business-type activities of the
Town for the current fiscal year as compared to the prior fiscal year.  The revenues and expenses shown below are recorded on the
accrual basis of accounting.  Program revenues received by the Town specifically relating to or generated by individual departments
are applied to the departmental expenditures to determine the amount of total Town expenditures actually financed by the general
revenues of the Town.  This amount is shown at the bottom of this schedule and should be used to give the reader an indication
of how the Town’s activities were financed during the current fiscal year in comparison to the prior fiscal year.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Program revenues
 Charges for services $ 1,259,616 $ 1,372,338 $ 188,424 $ 192,840 $ 1,448,040 $ 1,565,178
 Operating grants 10,747,164 8,155,097 - - 10,747,164 8,155,097
 Capital grants - 83,543 - - - 83,543

General revenues
 Property tax revenues 19,935,422 19,158,123 - - 19,935,422 19,158,123
 State tax relief revenues 18,740 19,505 - - 18,740 19,505
 Other state revenues 206,614 206,511 - - 206,614 206,511
 Investment fair value change -42,193 231,196 - - -42,193 231,196
 Interest and dividends 175,536 165,532 3,419 2,380 178,955 167,912
 Miscellaneous 750,802 266,221 14,562 12,127 765,364 278,348
 Transfers 10,000 - -10,000 - - - 
 Debt principal forgiveness 100,922 - - - 100,922 - 
 Loss on disposal-transfer

 of capital assets -180,851 - - - -180,851 - 
 Total revenues 32,981,772 29,658,066 196,405 207,347 33,178,177 29,865,413

Expenses
 General government 1,348,722 1,349,226 - - 1,348,722 1,349,226
 Public safety 893,609 842,042 - - 893,609 842,042
 Public works 1,656,722 1,900,095 - - 1,656,722 1,900,095
 Education 21,581,348 21,382,448 - - 21,581,348 21,382,448
 Education - on behalf 3,796,506 1,204,072 - - 3,796,506 1,204,072
 Health & social 977,098 916,379 - - 977,098 916,379
 Community preservation 231,469 277,363 - - 231,469 277,363
 Unclassified and program 1,160,974 494,307 - - 1,160,974 494,307
 Infrastructure depreciation 551,036 524,013 - - 551,036 524,013
 Debt service Interest 39,218 53,430 86,557 164,998 125,775 218,428
 Sewer - - 185,834 190,459 185,834 190,459

 Total expenses 32,236,702 28,943,375 272,391 355,457 32,509,093 29,298,832

Change in net position 745,070 714,691 -75,986 -148,110 669,084 566,581

Net position - July 1 42,737,396 42,022,705 6,365,505 6,513,615 49,102,901 48,536,320

Net position - June 30 $ 43,482,466 $ 42,737,396 $ 6,289,519 $ 6,365,505 $ 49,771,985 $ 49,102,901

Financed  by  general revenues:
 Total expenses $ 32,236,702 $ 28,943,375 $ 272,391 $ 355,457 $ 32,509,093 $ 29,298,832
 Less charges for services -1,259,616 -1,372,338 -188,424 -192,840 -1,448,040 -1,565,178
 Less operating grants -10,747,164 -8,155,097 - - -10,747,164 -8,155,097
 Less capital grants - -83,543 - - - -83,543

$ 20,229,922 $ 19,332,397 $ 83,967 $ 162,617 $ 20,313,889 $ 19,495,014
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

Capital assets

The capital assets of the Town include land, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles, equipment, and
infrastructure assets that are used in the operations of the Town and that have an initial useful life extending beyond a single fiscal
year.   Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that are normally stationary in nature and can normally be preserved for
a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets.  The types of infrastructure assets recorded by the Town include
but are not limited to improved town roads, unimproved town roads, and bridges and the Amston Lake sewage system.  The
infrastructure assets shown below include the current and prior fiscal year expenses of the Town for improvements to roads within
the Town recorded at their actual historical cost or estimated historical cost when the actual costs were not available.  More detailed
information on the capital assets of the Town can be found in note 1J on page 30 and note 5 on page 40.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Land and improvements $ 2,228,189 $ 2,228,189 $ - $ - $ 2,228,189 $ 2,228,189
Buildings and improvements 37,259,683 37,486,016 - - 37,259,683 37,486,016
Vehicles 5,839,322 5,660,821 - - 5,839,322 5,660,821
Equipment 2,022,640 1,792,872 - - 2,022,640 1,792,872
Infrastructure 32,584,816 31,184,166 - - 32,584,816 31,184,166
Sewage system - - 6,503,574 6,503,574 6,503,574 6,503,574
Construction in progress 218,394 120,609 - - 218,394 120,609
Total historical value 80,153,044 78,472,673 6,503,574 6,503,574 86,656,618 84,976,247

Less accumulated depreciation -46,035,842 -44,357,928 -607,000 -520,286 -46,642,842 -44,878,214

Total capital assets (net) $ 34,117,202 $ 34,114,745 $ 5,896,574 $ 5,983,288 $ 40,013,776 $ 40,098,033

Debt administration

The debt of the town includes long-term bonds, notes and capital leases payable, accrued landfill post-closure care costs and accrued
compensated absences (accumulated vacation and sick time) in accordance with the established personnel polices of the Town and
Board of Education and pension contributions payable, net pension liability and other post employment benefit liabilities in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  All long-term debt related outstanding payables are incurred through
the approval of the inhabitants of the Town in accordance with applicable state statutes.  The applicable state debt limitations as
set forth in the Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-374 (b) and the towns outstanding balances in comparison to these limitations
can be found in the schedule of debt limitations, Sub-schedule F on page 86.   More detailed information on the Town debt can be
found in note 6 on pages 41 and 42.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Outstanding payables:
 Portion due within one year $ 479,610 $ 475,291 $ 105,034 $ 102,296 $ 584,644 $ 577,587

  Portion due after one year 679,550 754,791 3,828,985 3,941,220 4,508,535 4,696,011
Other liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
 School employees 55,727 52,592 - - 55,727 52,592
 Town employees 51,628 38,376 - - 51,628 38,376

Accrued landfill post-closure - 5,631 - - - 5,631
Net pension liability 1,697,224 2,096,705 - - 1,697,224 2,096,705
Total OPEB liability 3,042,204 2,616,754 - - 3,042,204 2,616,754

Total debt $ 6,005,943 $ 6,040,140 $ 3,934,019 $ 4,043,516 $ 9,939,962 $ 10,083,656
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2020

The previous sections of this management discussion and analysis have been presented for the current fiscal year with a focus on
the comparative analysis of the information on the governmental and business-type activities of the Town as found in the
government-wide financial statements.  Comparative financial information has not been included for the fund financial statements
of the Town.  The following financial highlights, however, do relate to the balances and results of the activities of the Town’s
individual funds as found in its fund financial statements.  Detailed current year information on the Town’s individual funds can
be found on the Balance sheet  on page 14 and the Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances on page 16.

Financial highlights - Fund financial statements - Governmental funds

• The total assets of the Town’s governmental funds exceeded the total liabilities by $13,875,998 which represents the fund
balance of these funds as of the end of the current fiscal year.  This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $12,770,444, an
increase of $1,105,554 or approximately 8.66%.  This increase is due to the positive results of the general fund of $757,848, the
negative results of the Trumbull investment funds of ($632,275), the positive results of the town capital funds of $732,654, the
negative results of the small cities program funds of ($5,140) and the positive results of the non-major governmental funds of
$252,467.  These increases and decreases can be seen by reviewing Statement D on page 16 and the corresponding combining
schedules and sub-schedules as shown in the table of contents.

• The total revenues of the Town’s governmental funds were $33,150,039 for the current fiscal year.  This compares to the prior
fiscal year balance of $29,570,419.  This represents an increase of $3,579,620 or approximately 12.11%.   This is due to a number
of increases in revenue categories such as property tax revenues which increased by $917,915 and miscellaneous income which
increased by $482,649 due in large part to a $500,000 donation received from the Adams Town Memorial Fund as a contribution
to the library expansion and renovation project as well as a $500,000 promissory note which was also received in relation to
this project.  Intergovernmental education on-behalf revenue and expenditures increased by $2,592,434 for the actuarial
determined State on-behalf revenue which relates to the pension and OPEB benefits of the Teachers Retirement System.
Intergovernmental other revenues increased by $122,502 due in part to Fema storm assistance revenues received while tuition
revenue decreased by ($7,463) and charges for services decreased by ($105,259) due in part to the current pandemic.

• The total expenditures of the Town’s governmental funds were $32,554,485 for the current fiscal year.  This compares to the
prior fiscal year balance of $29,849,272.  This represents an increase of $2,705,213 or approximately 9.06%.  This is due to a
number of increases in fund expenditures such as the Trumbull investments fund which increased by $599,800 relating to the
current fiscal year transfer of the portion of the fund relating to the Trumbull Jr. House to the Lebanon Historical Society as
approved at town meeting on October 28, 2019.  In addition, the general fund expenditures increased by $2,500,019 which is
due in large part to the increase in the education on-behalf expenditures as described in the previous paragraph.  

• The net change in fund balance (excess or deficiency of revenues over-under expenditures) for the Town’s general fund was
an excess of $757,848 for the current fiscal year in comparison to an excess of $381,073 for the prior fiscal year.  This current
fiscal year excess relates in part to the following selected current fiscal year budgetary highlights.   See the budget to actual
comparison statement on pages 18 and 19 for more detailed information on actual revenues and expenditures in comparison
to the budgeted amounts.

• The actual revenues received in the Town’s general fund were $786,273 higher than the budget revenues for the current fiscal
year which is a favorable variance.  This “over collection” of budgeted revenues relates to a number of budgeted revenue
categories.  Property tax revenue was $138,723 over the budgeted amount, state education revenue was $317,210 over the
budgeted amount and other state revenue was $162,904 over the budgeted amount which was due in large part to Fema storm
assistance revenue being applied to the general fund in the amount of $159,291 relating to costs incurred in the general fund.
Actual program expenditures of the general fund were $810,177 lower than the budgeted expenditures for the current fiscal
year which is a favorable variance.  This under expenditure was due in part to the education account being under-expended
by $300,003, the medical life and dental insurance account being under-expended by $74,427 and the snow removal account
being under-expended by $53,460.

• In the current fiscal year, the inhabitants of the Town approved the use of $423,000 of its unassigned general fund balance
through a special town meeting relating to school improvement funds in the amount of $100,000, a fuel tank at the high school
in the amount of $75,000, cost and implementation of a new soccer field in the amount of $200,000, the replacement of dugouts
in the amount of $40,000 and engineering costs for a new field in the amount of $8,000.  The Board of Finance approved the
use of $140,000 in accordance with executive orders issued by the Governor for the creation of a Covid-19 emergency relief
fund.  The Board of Finance also approved the transfer of $295,292 which represented a portion of the remaining unspent
education budget to the school capital fund in accordance with State legislature section 10-248a. This in effect is the same as
budgeting for a loss due to the fact that prior year accumulated balances cannot be shown as current year revenues. 
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June 30, 2020

Business-type activities - Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority

The business-type activities of the Town consist of two enterprise type proprietary funds which are being used to account for both
the operating activities and the benefit assessment activities of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority (the Authority).
The Authority was established for the purpose of operating a sewage system located around Amston Lake within the Town.  The
capital assets and long-term debt obligations are being accounted for within the WPCA assessment enterprise fund which is funded
by the repayment of the benefit assessments which were assessed to all of the properties located along the sewage system along with
a borrowed interest assessment.  The operations of the Authority are being accounted for within the WPCA operating enterprise
fund with the costs being funded through the billing of user fees to those properties connected  to the sewage system.  

Discretely presented “component unit”

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and its component units, organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable or for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government
are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  All funds,
organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices that are not legally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part
of the primary government.  Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable.  The Town has determined that the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department meets the
definition of a component unit due to its fiscal dependence on the Town and the nature and significance of their relationship.  For
a legally separate entity to be considered fiscally independent it must, among other things, have the authority to determine its
budget without the primary government having the authority to approve and modify that budget.  Though the Town does not
directly have the authority to approve or modify the budget of the Department, it does indirectly do this by deciding the amount
that it will or will not appropriate on an annual basis.

Economic factors and next year’s budgets and rates

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the Covid-19 coronavirus to be a public health emergency.  On March
10, 2020, the Governor of the State of Connecticut declared a public health emergency and a civil preparedness emergency due to
Covid-19.  While there were no significant changes to the budget preparation process due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there were
several changes to the budget approval process.  Budget related meetings during May and June were held via Zoom
teleconferencing.  The Board of Finance operating under an executive order from the Governor approved the 2021 fiscal year budget
and mil rate on May 19, 2020 via a Zoom meeting without holding an annual town meeting.  General fund appropriations totaled
$25,662,864 in the approved 2021 fiscal year budget.  This represented a decrease of approximately 2.08% from the approved 2020
fiscal year budget amount of $26,209,109.  The mill rate approved for the 2021 fiscal year was 28.2.  This represented a decrease of
approximately 4.10% from the approved 2020 fiscal year mill rate of 29.4.

Given the uncertainty of the financial constraints that may be placed on the Town during the 2021 fiscal year, the Town does
anticipate that additional state and or federal funding will be available during the 2021 fiscal year directly related to the
reimbursement of Covid-19 related expenditures.  During the current fiscal year, the Town received federal funding in relation to
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) as passed by the federal government.  A portion of these
CARES Act funds were passed through to state governments and made available to local governments through a reimbursement
request program.  Reimbursement requests were made for actual expenditures incurred from March of 2020 through June 30, 2020.
The program was changed by the state to an allocation basis for expenditures incurred from July 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020.
It is anticipated that additional funds will be made available related to COVID 19 expenditures incurred after December 31, 2020.

The Town believes that it has steadily maintained a sufficient unrestricted net position and unassigned fund balance to sustain the
governmental activities and operations for an estimated two month period of time despite any current affects related to the Covid-19
pandemic.  The Town hopes to see this trend continuing through the upcoming fiscal year based on the above mentioned items and
into future fiscal years. 

Contacting the Town’s financial management

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances, comply with finance-related laws and
regulations, and demonstrate the Town’s commitment to public accountability.  If you have questions about this report or need
additional financial information, contact the Town Finance Department at 579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, Connecticut 06249.
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Statement A
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of net position
June 30, 2020

Primary government Component unit

Governmental Business-type Volunteer
activities activities Total fire department

Assets:
Current assets:
  Cash $ 2,520,210 $ 100 $ 2,520,310 $ 146,907
  Investments 10,882,287 680,895 11,563,182 679,107
  Accounts receivable 837,790 259,869 1,097,659 33,941
  Tax acquired property 13,361 -     13,361 -     
  Inventory & prepaid items 24,388 -     24,388 1,289
    Total current assets 14,278,036 940,864 15,218,900 861,244

Capital assets
  Non-depreciable 2,446,583 -     2,446,583 -     
  Depreciable (net) 31,670,619 5,896,574 37,567,193 195,500
    Total capital assets 34,117,202 5,896,574 40,013,776 195,500

Other assets
  Restricted cash 573,713 -     573,713 -     
  Restricted investments 2,762,214 -     2,762,214 -     
  Long-term accounts receivable 137,657 2,297,232 2,434,889 -     
  Notes receivable 971,881 -     971,881 -     
  Internal balances -1,166,303 1,166,303 -     -     
    Total other assets 3,279,162 3,463,535 6,742,697 -     

Total Assets 51,674,400 10,300,973 61,975,373 1,056,744

Deferred outflows of resources
Changes related to Pensions and OPEB 1,379,937 -     1,379,937 -     

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 858,540 7,710 866,250 11,553
Accrued hourly payroll 70,888 613 71,501 -     
Other liabilities 146,906 44,460 191,366 -     
Due to other funds 2,203 -     2,203 -     
Unearned revenues 87,394 24,652 112,046 -     
Bond anticipation note payable 1,900,000 -     1,900,000 -     
Noncurrent liabilities:
  Portion due within one year 479,610 105,034 584,644 -     
  Portion due after one year 5,526,333 3,828,985 9,355,318 -     
  Total liabilities 9,071,874 4,011,454 13,083,328 11,553

Deferred inflows of resources
Changes related to pensions and OPEB 499,997 -     499,997 -     

Net Position:
Net Investment in capital assets 32,958,042 1,962,555 34,920,597 195,500
Restricted
  Expendable 3,956,761 -     3,956,761 -     
  Non-expendable 343,660 -     343,660 1,289
Unrestricted 6,224,003 4,326,964 10,550,967 848,402
    Total net position $ 43,482,466 $ 6,289,519 $ 49,771,985 $ 1,045,191

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement B
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of activities
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Program Revenues

Operating Capital

Charges for grants and grants and
Primary government: Expenses services contributions contributions

Governmental activities:
  General government $ -1,348,722 $ 128,955 $                    -     $                    -     
  Public safety -893,609 132,785 3,050 -     
  Public works -1,656,722 93,644 509,941 -     
  Education -21,581,348 853,240 6,294,526 -     
  Education - on behalf -3,796,506 -     3,796,506 -     
  Health & social -977,098 33,446 79,075 -     
  Community preservation -231,469 17,546 26,841 -     
  Unclassified and program -1,160,974 -     37,225 -     
  Capital outlay -     -     -     -     
  Depreciation
    General infrastructure -551,036 -     -     -     
  Debt service
    Interest -39,218 -     -     -     
Total governmental activities -32,236,702 1,259,616 10,747,164 -     

Business-type activities:
  WPCA operating fund -99,120 111,799 -     -     
  WPCA benefit assessments fund -173,271 76,625 -     -     
Total business-type activities -272,391 188,424 -     -     

Total primary government $ -32,509,093 $ 1,448,040 $ 10,747,164 $                    -     

Component unit:
  Volunteer fire department $ -392,005 $ 174,131 $ 226,302 $                    -     

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of activities
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Net (expenses) revenues and changes in net position

Primary government Component unit

Governmental Business-type Volunteer
Primary government: activities activities Total fire department

Governmental activities:
  General government $ -1,219,767 $                    -     $ -1,219,767 $                      -     
  Public safety -757,774 -     -757,774 -     
  Public works -1,053,137 -     -1,053,137 -     
  Education -14,433,582 -     -14,433,582 -     
  Education - on behalf -     -     -     -     
  Health & social -864,577 -     -864,577 -     
  Community preservation -187,082 -     -187,082 -     
  Unclassified and program -1,123,749 -     -1,123,749 -     
  Capital outlay -     -     -     -     
  Depreciation
    General infrastructure -551,036 -     -551,036 -     
  Debt service
    Interest -39,218 -     -39,218 -     
Total governmental activities -20,229,922 -     -20,229,922 -     

Business-type activities:
  WPCA operating fund -     12,679 12,679 -     
  WPCA benefit assessments fund -     -96,646 -96,646 -     
Total business-type activities -     -83,967 -83,967 -     

Total primary government -20,229,922 -83,967 -20,313,889 -     

Component unit:
  Volunteer fire department -     -     -     8,428

General revenues:
  Property tax revenues 19,935,422 -     19,935,422 -     
  State property tax relief revenues 18,740 -     18,740 -     
  Other unclassified state revenues 206,614 -     206,614 -     
  Net change in fair value of investments -42,193 -     -42,193 14,013
  Interest and dividends 175,536 3,419 178,955 26,750
  Miscellaneous 750,802 14,562 765,364 32,149
  Transfers 10,000 -10,000 -     -     
  Debt principal forgiveness 100,922 -     100,922 -     
  Loss on disposal-transfer of capital assets -180,851 -     -180,851 -     
Total general revenues 20,974,992 7,981 20,982,973 72,912

Change in net position 745,070 -75,986 669,084 81,340

Net position - July 1 42,737,396 6,365,505 49,102,901 963,851

Net position - June 30 $ 43,482,466 $ 6,289,519 $ 49,771,985 $ 1,045,191

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement C
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 

Balance sheet - Governmental funds
June 30, 2020

Trumbull Town Small cities Non-major
General investment capital program governmental

fund funds funds funds funds Totals
Assets
Cash $ 2,115,639 $              -     $ 371 $ 84,032 $ 774,282 $ 2,974,324
Investments 7,937,101 2,403,485 2,930,224 -     373,691 13,644,501
Receivables (net of allowance)
  Property taxes 539,374 -     -     -     -     539,374
  Intergovernmental 153,975 -     -     -     130,261 284,236
  Other 11,773 -     -     -     2,407 14,180
Notes receivable -     -     -     971,881 -     971,881
Tax acquired property 13,361 -     -     -     -     13,361
Inventory -     -     -     -     18,013 18,013
Prepaid items 4,625 -     -     -     1,750 6,375
Due from proprietary funds 15,986 -     -     -     -     15,986
Due from private purpose trusts -     -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds               1,408,351 -     1,693,421 -     1,203,454 4,305,226
  Total assets $ 12,200,185 $ 2,403,485 $ 4,624,016 $ 1,055,913 $ 2,503,858 $ 22,787,457

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 512,792 $              -     $ 221,091 $              -     $ 121,496 $ 855,379
Accrued hourly payroll 65,691 -     -     -     5,197 70,888
Other liabilities       139,415 -     -     -     900 140,315
Unearned revenues 15,012 -     -     -     -     15,012
Bond anticipation note -     -     1,900,000 -     -     1,900,000
Due to proprietary funds 1,166,303 -     -     -     -     1,166,303
Due to private purpose trusts 2,203 -     -     -     -     2,203
Due to other funds 2,895,754 -     810,440 -     599,032 4,305,226
  Total liabilities 4,797,170 -     2,931,531 -     726,625 8,455,326

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable revenue - 
  Property taxes 456,133 -     -     -     -     456,133

Fund balances   
Nonspendable 4,625 -     -     -     339,035 343,660
Restricted -     2,403,485 -     1,055,918 533,162 3,992,565
Committed 932,131 -     2,516,991 -     678,984 4,128,106
Assigned -     -     -     -     228,638 228,638
Unassigned 6,010,126 -     -824,506 -5 -2,586 5,183,029
  Total fund balances 6,946,882 2,403,485 1,692,485 1,055,913 1,777,233 13,875,998

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
  of resources and fund balances $ 12,200,185 $ 2,403,485 $ 4,624,016 $ 1,055,913 $ 2,503,858 $ 22,787,457

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Reconciliation of Statement C to Statement A

for all governmental funds and activities
June 30, 2020

Fund balances of governmental funds as shown on Statement C $ 13,875,998

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements
(Statement A) differ from the amounts reported in the fund financial statements (Statement C):

1 Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and are not
reported on Statement C however they are reported on Statement A and must be added in:
  Cost 80,153,044
  Less accumulated depreciation -46,035,842 34,117,202

2 The majority of the property tax receivable long-term asset is not available to pay for current
period expenditures and therefore it is reported as deferred inflows of resources on
Statement C however this amount is considered earned when billed and in turn recorded
as revenue on Statement A and therefore must be added back in: 456,133

3 Certain grant revenues received by the Town are recorded as revenue when the amounts are
available and measurable in the fund financial statements on the modified accrual basis of
accounting.  However, the government-wide financial statements record revenues when
they have been earned on the accrual basis of accounting and therefore these revenue
amounts are deferred on Statement A and therefore must be subtracted out: -72,382

4 Deferred outflows and inflows of resources represent a consumption or acquisition of net
position that applies to a future period, and therefore will not be recognized as an
expenditure or revenue until then, and therefore, they are not reported in the fund financial
statements:
  Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 946,617
  Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 433,320
  Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions -259,225
  Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB -240,772 879,940

5 Long-term liabilities and related current liabilities, are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported on Statement C however they are reported on
Statement A and therefore they must be subtracted out:
  Accrued debt service interest -6,591
  Bond payable -380,000
  Capital lease payable -380,082
  Promissory note payable -399,078
  Accrued compensated balances -107,355
  Net pension liability -1,697,224
  Total OPEB liability -3,042,204 -6,012,534

6 Delinquent interest and lien fees are recorded as revenue when received and when they
become available and measurable in the fund financial statements however these amounts
are recorded on Statement A due to the fact that the amounts are viewed to have been
earned and therefore they must be added back in: 137,657

7 The assets, liabilities and net position of the internal service fund are not reported on
Statement C however they are reported on Statement A and therefore the net position
balance of this fund must be added back in: 100,452

Net position of governmental activities as shown on Statement A $ 43,482,466

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement D
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 

Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances - Governmental funds
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Trumbull Town Small cities Non-major
General investment capital program governmental

fund funds funds funds funds Totals
Revenues
Property tax revenues $ 20,016,389 $              -     $            -     $              -     $                -     $ 20,016,389
Intergovernmental - education 5,064,585 -     -     -     1,178,827 6,243,412
Intergovernmental - on behalf 3,796,506 -     -     -     -     3,796,506
Intergovernmental - tax relief 18,740 -     -     -     -     18,740
Intergovernmental - other 649,597 -     62,920 37,225 144,185 893,927
Tuition 718,590 -     -     -     -     718,590
Charges for services 363,182 -     -     -     177,844 541,026
Net change in investment fair value -     -32,440 -     -     -9,753 -42,193
Interest and dividends 54,893 90,898 15,801 -     13,530 175,122
Miscellaneous 109,406 -     511,562 30,000 137,552 788,520
  Total revenues 30,791,888 58,458 590,283 67,225 1,642,185 33,150,039

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 963,898 -     40,085 -     68,218 1,072,201
  Public safety 630,117 -     -     -     4,479 634,596
  Public works 1,281,846 -     41,176 -     7,088 1,330,110
  Education 19,225,930 -     72,259 -     1,353,623 20,651,812
  Education - on behalf 3,796,506 -     -     -     -     3,796,506
  Health & social 198,436 -     2,160 -     687,253 887,849
  Community preservation 145,598 -     40,800 -     45,071 231,469
  Unclassified and program 645,996 599,800 -     72,365 11,244 1,329,405
Capital outlay -     -     2,050,048 -     55,829 2,105,877
Debt service:
  Principle 380,000 -     90,000 -     -     470,000
  Interest 21,660 -     23,000 -     -     44,660
Total expenditures 27,289,987 599,800 2,359,528 72,365 2,232,805 32,554,485

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
  (under) expenditures 3,501,901 -541,342 -1,769,245 -5,140 -590,620 595,554

Other financing sources (uses)
  Promissory note proceeds -     -     500,000 -     -     500,000
  Transfers in 440 -     2,001,899 -     844,146 2,846,485
  Transfers out -2,744,493 -90,933 -     -     -1,059 -2,836,485
Total other financing sources (uses) -2,744,053 -90,933 2,501,899 -     843,087 510,000

Net change in fund balance 757,848 -632,275 732,654 -5,140 252,467 1,105,554

Fund balances - July 1 6,189,034 3,035,760 959,831 1,061,053 1,524,766 12,770,444

Fund balances - June 30 $ 6,946,882 $ 2,403,485 $ 1,692,485 $ 1,055,913 $ 1,777,233 $ 13,875,998

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Reconciliation of Statement D to Statement B

for all governmental funds and activities
June 30, 2020

Net changes in governmental fund balances as shown on Statement D $ 1,105,554

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements
(Statement B) differ from the amounts reported in the fund financial statements (Statement D):

1 Capital asset purchases are recorded as expenditures in Statement D and are capitalized and
shown as depreciation expense over there estimated useful lives in Statement B:
  Current year capital asset purchases 2,177,681
  Current year depreciation expense on capital assets -1,994,373
  Current year net loss on the disposal and transfer of capital assets -180,851 2,457

2 Property tax revenues are recognized on Statement D as described in note 1E to the financial
statements however they are recorded in the amount of the annual levy in Statement B and
therefore the current year adjustment described in note 1E must be eliminated: -87,027

3 The basis of presentation and revenue recognition is different from the government-wide
financial statements and the fund financial statements and therefore prior year unearned
revenues must be recognized and current amounts must be recorded as unearned: -17,785

4 Deferred outflows and inflows of resources represent a consumption or acquisition of net
position that applies to future periods, therefore it will not be recognized as an expenditure
or revenue until then, and therefore, they are not reported in the fund financial statements
but they are recorded in the government-wide financial statements:
  Amortization of and changes in deferred outflows for pensions and OPEB -99,639
  Amortization of and changes in deferred inflows for pensions and OPEB -238,256 -337,895

5 Current year employer pension contributions represent a use of current financial resources
and are recorded as expenditures in the fund financial statements. These contributions are
reported as deferred outflows of resources in the government-wide financial statements and
therefore they must be added back in for current year contributions and subtracted out for
prior year contributions.
  Prior year employer pension contributions -167,721
  Current year employer pension contributions 186,058 18,337

6 Payments on and changes in long-term liabilities and related current liabilities are recorded
as current year activities on Statement D however they are shown as increases or decreases
in liability accounts in the government-wide financial statements and therefore must be
adjusted accordingly:
  Accrued debt service interest decrease 5,442
  Bond, capital lease and promissory note payable principal decreases 570,922
  Promissory note proceeds -500,000
  Accrued compensated balances increase -16,387
  Accrued landfill post-closure costs decrease 5,631
  Net pension liability decrease 399,481
  Total OPEB liability increase -425,450 39,639

7 Estimated accounts receivable for delinquent interest and lien fees are recorded as revenue
when received on Statement D and as a reduction in a recorded receivable on Statement B
and therefore the prior year amount is subtracted and the current year amount is added: 6,060

8 Net income from the internal service fund is not reported in Statement D however it is
reported in Statement B and therefore must be added back in: 15,730

Change in net position of governmental activities as shown on Statement B $ 745,070

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement E
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance
Budget and actual - Budgetary basis - General fund

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Original Budget Final
budget revisions budget Actual Variance

Revenues
  Property tax revenues $ 19,877,666 $              -     $ 19,877,666 $ 20,016,389 $ 138,723
  Intergovernmental - education   4,747,375 -     4,747,375 5,064,585 317,210
  Intergovernmental - tax relief 14,807 -     14,807 18,740 3,933
  Intergovernmental - other 486,693 -     486,693 649,597 162,904
  Tuition 622,857 -     622,857 718,590 95,733
  Charges for services 356,411 -     356,411 363,182 6,771
  Interest and dividends    18,000 -     18,000 54,893 36,893
  Miscellaneous          85,300 -     85,300 109,406 24,106
    Total revenues 26,209,109 -     26,209,109 26,995,382 786,273

Expenditures
General government:
  Legal counsel 40,000 10,821 50,821 50,821 -     
  Selectmen 153,499 -     153,499 143,203 10,296
  Elections 34,019 -     34,019 30,830 3,189
  Probate court 2,429 -     2,429 2,362 67
  Board of finance 3,350 -     3,350 463 2,887
  Finance office 157,011 -     157,011 116,127 40,884
  Tax collector 80,145 -     80,145 67,814 12,331
  Board of assessment appeals 1,275 -     1,275 542 733
  Town clerk 102,043 850 102,893 101,111 1,782
  Assessor 78,075 -     78,075 78,055 20
  Auditor 30,000 -     30,000 20,500 9,500
  Town report 1,000 -     1,000 850 150
  Computer service 130,715 30,760 161,475 151,555 9,920
  Town hall 86,175 -     86,175 74,163 12,012
  Insurance 128,498 -     128,498 125,502 2,996
  Renters rebate 10,000 -     10,000 -     10,000

1,038,234 42,431 1,080,665 963,898 116,767
Public safety:
  Police services 356,415 -     356,415 345,341 11,074
  Lebanon volunteer fire department 175,000 -     175,000 175,000 -     
  Fire marshall 22,506 -     22,506 21,597 909
  Burning official 3,553 1,045 4,598 4,598 -     
  Building department 63,393 -     63,393 54,108 9,285
  Fire safety complex 40,361 -     40,361 29,473 10,888
  Tree warden 185 -     185 -     185

661,413 1,045 662,458 630,117 32,341
Public works:
  Department of public works 764,000 28,398 792,398 758,855 33,543
  Buildings and grounds 149,757 -     149,757 131,792 17,965
  Snow removal 240,737 -     240,737 187,277 53,460
  Street lights 2,744 -     2,744 2,084 660
  Solid waste facility 190,000 -     190,000 187,851 2,149
  Water pollution control 4,721 -     4,721 939 3,782
  Cemetery commission 15,272 -     15,272 13,048 2,224

1,367,231 28,398 1,395,629 1,281,846 113,783

Education 19,562,516 -     19,562,516 19,262,513 300,003

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement E (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance
Budget and actual - Budgetary basis - General fund

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Original Budget Final
budget revisions budget Actual Variance

Health & social:
  Health department $ 47,651 $              -     $ 47,651 $ 47,651 $                -     
  Human services 22,746 -     22,746 22,734 12
  Wcmh Paramedic program 35,234 -     35,234 26,152 9,082
  United services 5,116 -     5,116 5,116 -     
  Dispatch switch board 21,086 -     21,086 20,625 461
  Special events 1,023 -     1,023 753 270
  Senior center operations 82,090 -     82,090 75,405 6,685

214,946 -     214,946 198,436 16,510
Community preservation:
  Planning and zoning 154,346 -     154,346 140,197 14,149
  Zoning board of appeals 4,060 -     4,060 545 3,515
  Economic development commission 2,046 -     2,046 1,205 841
  Inland wetlands 3,700 -     3,700 3,395 305
  Conservation commission 256 -     256 256 -     

164,408 -     164,408 145,598 18,810
Unclassified and program:
  Social security 131,067 -     131,067 112,348 18,719
  Medical life dental insurance 425,656 -     425,656 351,229 74,427
  Pension plan 207,610 -     207,610 176,845 30,765
  Unemployment compensation 5,500 -     5,500 5,574 -74
  Contingency 160,000 -71,874 88,126 -     88,126

929,833 -71,874 857,959 645,996 211,963
Debt service:
  Principal 380,000 -     380,000 380,000 -     
  Interest 21,660 -     21,660 21,660 -     

401,660 -     401,660 401,660 -     

Total expenditures 24,340,241 -     24,340,241 23,530,064 810,177

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 1,868,868 -     1,868,868 3,465,318 1,596,450

Other financing sources (uses)
  Utilization of unassigned fund balance -     858,292 858,292 -     -858,292
  Utilization of committed fund balance -     17,333 17,333 -     -17,333
  Transfers in -     -     -     440 440
  Transfers out -1,868,868 -875,625 -2,744,493 -2,744,493 -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -1,868,868 -     -1,868,868 -2,744,053 -875,185

Change in fund balance -     -     -     721,265 721,265

Current year encumbrances 36,583
Prior year encumbrances -     
Non-budgeted State on-behalf revenue 3,796,506
Non-budgeted State on-behalf expenditure -3,796,506

Net change in fund balance 757,848

Fund balances - July 1 6,189,034

Fund Balance - June 30 $ 6,946,882

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement F
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of net position
Proprietary funds

June 30, 2020

Governmental
Business-type activities activities

Internal
Enterprise funds service fund

WPCA WPCA
operating assessment

fund fund Total Dental fund
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash $ 100 $                  -     $ 100 $ 119,599
Investments -     680,895 680,895 -     
Accounts receivables 17,496 965 18,461 -     
Current portion of benefit assessment notes -     178,219 178,219 -     
Delinquent benefit assessment notes -     42,000 42,000 -     
Delinquent borrowed interest receivable -     21,189 21,189 -     
  Total assets 17,596 923,268 940,864 119,599

Capital assets
Non-depreciable -     -     -     -     
Depreciable (net) -     5,896,574 5,896,574 -     
  Total capital assets -     5,896,574 5,896,574 -     

Other assets
Non-current portion of benefit assessment notes -     2,297,232 2,297,232 -     
Internal balances 459,307 706,996 1,166,303 -     
  Total other assets 459,307 3,004,228 3,463,535 -     

Total Assets $ 476,903 $ 9,824,070 $ 10,300,973 $ 119,599

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,710 $                  -     $ 7,710 $ 3,161
Accrued hourly payroll 613 -     613 -     
Other liabilities -     44,460 44,460 -     
Unearned revenues 24,652 -     24,652 -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     15,986
Long-term debt
  Portion due within one year -     105,034 105,034 -     
  Portion due after one year -     3,828,985 3,828,985 -     
    Total liabilities 32,975 3,978,479 4,011,454 19,147

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets -     1,962,555 1,962,555 -     
Restricted
  Expendable -     -     -     100,452
  Non-expendable -     -     -     -     
Unrestricted 443,928 3,883,036 4,326,964 -     
    Total net position 443,928 5,845,591 6,289,519 100,452

Total liabilities and net position $ 476,903 $ 9,824,070 $ 10,300,973 $ 119,599

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement G
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position
Proprietary funds

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Governmental
Business-type activities activities

Internal
Enterprise funds service fund

WPCA WPCA
operating assessment

fund fund Total Dental fund
Operating revenues:
Benefits assessment $                  -     $ 16,683 $ 16,683 $                  -     
Borrowed interest assessment -     59,942 59,942 -     
Charges for services 111,799 -     111,799 182,314
Other fees 5,605 8,782 14,387 -     
Other operating revenues 175 -     175 -     
  Total operating revenues 117,579 85,407 202,986 182,314

Operating expenses:
Personal services 20,191 -     20,191 -     
Contractual services -     -     -     166,998
Operation and maintenance 76,582 -     76,582 -     
Depreciation -     86,714 86,714 -     
Administrative costs 2,347 -     2,347 -     
  Total operating expenses 99,120 86,714 185,834 166,998

  Total operating income (loss) 18,459 -1,307 17,152 15,316

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment earnings -     3,419 3,419 414
Fiscal charges -     -     -     -     
Interest expense -     -86,557 -86,557 -     
  Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) -     -83,138 -83,138 414

  Total Income (loss) 18,459 -84,445 -65,986 15,730

Contributions and transfers:
Capital contributions -     -     -     -     
Transfers in -     -     -     -     
Transfers out -10,000 -     -10,000 -     
  Total contributions and transfers -10,000 -     -10,000 -     

Change in net position 8,459 -84,445 -75,986 15,730

Net position - July 1 435,469 5,930,036 6,365,505 84,722

Net position - June 30 $ 443,928 $ 5,845,591 $ 6,289,519 $ 100,452

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement H
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of cash flows
Proprietary funds

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Governmental
Business-type activities activities

Internal
Enterprise funds service fund

WPCA WPCA
operating assessment

fund fund Total Dental fund
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from employees and town $                  -     $                  -     $                  -     $ 163,170
Receipts from customers and users 121,658 335,090 456,748 -     
Payments for goods and services -83,691 -     -83,691 -166,190
Payments to employees -19,578 -     -19,578 -     
Other items 175 -     175 -     
Utilization of general fund cash account -8,564 -131,706 -140,270 -     
  Net cash from operating activities 10,000 203,384 213,384 -3,020

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Transfers to or from other funds -10,000 -109,497 -119,497 -     
Interest paid -     -93,887 -93,887 -     
  Net cash from noncapital financial activities -10,000 -203,384 -213,384 -     

Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Principal payments of long-term debt -     -     -     -     
Interest payments of long-term debt -     -     -     -     
  Net cash from capital and related
  financing activities -     -     -     -     

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment additions -     -     -     -     
Interest and other receipts -     3,419 3,419 414
  Net cash from investing activities -     3,419 3,419 414

Change in cash and cash equivalents -     3,419 3,419 -2,606

Cash and cash equivalents - July 1 100 677,476 677,576 122,205

Cash and cash equivalents - June 30 $ 100 $ 680,895 $ 680,995 $ 119,599

Reconciliation of operating income (loss)
to net cash from operating activities:
  Operating income (loss) $ 18,459 $ -1,307 $ 17,152 $ 15,316
  Adjustments:
  Depreciation -     86,714 86,714 -     
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
(Increase) decrease in internal balances -8,564 -131,705 -140,269 -20,464
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 6,388 249,682 256,070 1,319
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable -4,762 -     -4,762 -     
  Increase (decrease) in accrued payroll 613 -     613 809
  Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue -2,134 -     -2,134 -     

  Net cash from operating activities $ 10,000 $ 203,384 $ 213,384 $ -3,020

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement I
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 

Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement of changes
in fiduciary net position - Fiduciary funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Private
purpose Agency

trusts funds Total
Assets:
Cash $ 13,636 $ 115,765 $ 129,401
Investments 69,048 11,126 80,174
Receivables -     -     -     
Due from other funds 2,203 -     2,203
  Total assets $ 84,887 $ 126,891 $ 211,778

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 500 $                      -     $ 500
Unearned revenues -     -     -     
Due to student groups -     101,002 101,002
Due to other groups -     25,889 25,889
Due to other funds -     -     -     
  Total liabilities 500 126,891 127,391

Net position:
Restricted
  Expendable 84,387 -     84,387
  Non-expendable -     -     -     
Unrestricted -     -     -     
  Total net position 84,387 -     84,387

Total liabilities and net position $ 84,887 $ 126,891 $ 211,778

Additions
Property tax revenues $                      -     $                      -     $                      -     
Intergovernmental revenues -     -     -     
Interest and dividends 659 -     659
Net change in investment fair value -414 -     -414
Miscellaneous 35,491 -     35,491
  Total additions 35,736 -     35,736

Deductions
Salary and wages -     -     -     
Program operating costs 24,081 -     24,081
Capital expenditures -     -     -     
  Total deductions 24,081 -     24,081

Transfers
Transfers in 725 -     725
Transfers out -725 -     -725
  Total transfers -     -     -     

Change in net position 11,655 -     11,655

Net position - July 1 72,732 -     72,732

Net position - June 30 $ 84,387 $                     -     $ 84,387

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 
Notes to the basic financial statements

June 30, 2020

The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut (the Town) is located in the central section of Connecticut.  The Town is a municipal corporation
which is governed by an elected Board of Selectmen and Board of Finance.

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements of the Town have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP).  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for
governmental accounting and financial reporting.  Standards of accounting and financial reporting issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and the Accounting Research Bulletins of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Committee on Accounting Procedure on or before November 30, 1989, generally are
followed in the government-wide financial statements, when applicable, to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or
contradict pronouncements of the GASB.  The basic financial statements of the Town consist of government-wide financial
statements and fund financial statements.  The basis of presentation, measurement focus, and basis of accounting differ for these
two types of financial statements and are described separately in Section B and C below. The other following sections represent a
summary of the significant accounting policies as applied by the Town.   

A. Reporting entity

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and its component units, organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable or for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government
are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  All funds,
organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices that are not legally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part
of the primary government.  Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable.  The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing board and (1) it is able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the organization
to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government.  The primary government
may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the
organization has (1) a separately elected governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or (3)
a jointly appointed board.

The Town has determined that the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department meets the definition of a component unit due to its fiscal
dependence on the Town and the nature and significance of their relationship.  For a legally separate entity to be considered fiscally
independent it must, among other things, have the authority to determine its budget without the primary government having the
authority to approve and modify that budget.  The Town approves a certain amount of money on an annual basis to be appropriated
to the Department to fund a portion of its operations.  During the current fiscal year this amount was appropriated for the fire
fighting operations of the Department.  Although this amount was labeled as being appropriated for the fire fighting operations
of the Department, once the amount has been received it may be physically used for any purpose the Department deems necessary
for its operations as a whole.  Though the Town does not directly have the authority to approve or modify the budget of the
Department, it does indirectly do this by deciding the amount that it will or will not appropriate on an annual basis.  In addition,
the fire safety complex, fire trucks and ambulances used by the Department are purchased by the Town.  This also creates a level
of fiscal dependence due to the fact that the Department could not function in its current capacity without this assistance.  In addition
to the level of fiscal dependence between the Town and the Department, the nature and significance of the relationship with the
primary government is such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.
This component unit has been treated as a discretely presented component unit in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 14 as amended by Statement Nos. 39 and 61. The financial information of the Department has been included in the government-
wide statement of net position and statement of activities. 

The Department also provides ambulance services for which it receives ambulance billing revenue.  This revenue is classified as
“charges for services” revenue in the financial statements.  This revenue is used by the Department to fund its ambulance services.
A portion of this ambulance billing revenue is associated with ALS services for which the Town presently has an agreement with
and pays Windham Hospital Paramedics.  The Department is of the belief that the portion of their ambulance billing revenue that
relates to these ALS services should be returned to the Town.  The Department returned $9,862 to the Town during the current fiscal
year.  This amount is shown as a miscellaneous revenue item within the capital and non-recurring major fund of the Town and as
an expenditure within discretely presented component unit.  The Department also receives memorial and trust funds as designated
by the individual donor.  These funds are shown as part of the general operating fund of the Department as part of the discretely
presented component unit.  The Hinckley and Bender memorial funds have been internally designated by the Department to be used
for items associated with the fire safety complex.  The memorial fund trust is to be used for memorial type activities. 
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 
Notes to the basic financial statements

June 30, 2020

B. Government-wide financial statements

1. Basis of presentation

The government-wide financial statements consist of a statement of net position and a statement of activities.  Theses statements
report information about the Town as a whole without displaying individual funds or fund types.  These statements distinguish
between the primary government and the discretely presented component unit as well as the governmental and business-type
activities of the Town.  These statements do not include information about the fiduciary activities and funds of the Town or
component units which are fiduciary in nature.  Fiduciary activities and funds report assets which are held by the Town in a trustee
or agency capacity and which cannot be used to support the activities and programs of the Town. 

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the governmental and business-type activities of the primary
government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit at the end of the fiscal year.  This statement reports the assets,
liabilities, and net position of the Town.  The assets and liabilities are presented in the order of their relative liquidity.  The liquidity
of assets is determined by how readily they are expected to be converted into cash and whether there are restrictions in place
limiting their use by the Town.  The liquidity of liabilities is determined by their maturity or by when cash will be used to liquidate
them.  The net position balance of the Town consists of the net investment in capital assets (total capital assets net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by the total outstanding debt incurred to purchase the assets), restricted and unrestricted amounts.
Restricted net position is present when constraints are imposed externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, other governments,
or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  Unrestricted net position consists of all net position balances
not meeting the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted.  Internal balances between individual funds within the
governmental activities are eliminated in this statement to minimize the “grossing-up” of assets and liabilities.  These internal
balances are also known as inter-fund receivables and payables and are shown in the fund financial statements as due to and due
from other funds.  Any residual amounts due between the governmental and business-type activities of the Town would be shown
as an internal balance on the statement of net position which would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.

The statement of activities presents the operations of the governmental and business- type activities of the primary government of
the Town and the discretely presented component unit of the Town for the fiscal year. The operations of the Town are shown in a
format which reports the net (expense) revenue of the individual functions of the Town. The purpose of this net (expense) revenue
format is to report the relative financial burden of each of the Town’s functions on the taxpayers.  Program revenue is applied to
each function based on which function generated the specific charges for services and for which functions the operating and capital
grants have been received.  All taxes are shown as general revenues regardless of whether they where levied for a specific purpose
or function.  The categories of individual functions correspond to the different departments and operations of the Town.  Indirect
expenses which benefit the Town as a whole are not required to be allocated among the other functions of the Town and therefore
they are not allocated.  Depreciation expense is allocated to the specific functions (sometimes referred to as departments) of the Town
based on which function purchased or benefits from the assets.  Depreciation on assets shared between two or more functions is
allocated based on the percentage purchased by each function.  If the benefit received from these assets shifts from the function
making the purchase to another function  in a material amount, the depreciation amount being charged will be shifted accordingly.
Depreciation on capital assets which benefit all of the functions of the Town, such as infrastructure assets, is shown as a separate
line item.  Internal activity between individual funds within the governmental activities are eliminated in this statement.  This
internal activity is also known as transfers in and out and is shown in the fund financial statements as such.  The above information
relating to the government-wide financial statements basis of presentation is in reference to both governmental and business-type
activities.  Internal activity between the governmental and business-type activities of the Town would be shown as transfers on the
statement of activities which would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.

2. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

The statement of net position and the statement of activities are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting would be used for both governmental and business-type activities of
the primary government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit.   Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and
liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place.  In other words,
revenues and the related assets are recognized when they are earned and expenses and the related liabilities are recognized when
they are incurred.  The Town does not have an established policy relating to the use of restricted and unrestricted resources when
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available.  Absent of an established
policy which addresses this situation, accounting guidance states that it should consider that restricted amounts would be reduced
first and then unrestricted amounts. 
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C. Fund financial statements

1. Basis of presentation

The fund financial statements of the Town consist of a balance sheet with a reconciliation to the government-wide statement of net
position, a statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances with a reconciliation to the government-wide
statement of activities, a budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund, a statement of net position - proprietary funds, a
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position - proprietary funds, a statement of cash flows - proprietary funds, and
a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position.  These fund financial statements are
designed to report additional and more detailed information about the primary government.  A fund is defined as an independent
fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts which records cash and other financial resources, together with
all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on
specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with any special regulations, restrictions, or limitations which may
exist. The types of funds shown for the Town are governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.  The focus of these
fund financial statements are on major funds as defined by GASB Statement No. 34.  All major funds are reported in a separate
column with all non-major funds being aggregated and reported in a single column.

Governmental fund reporting focuses primarily on the sources, uses, and balances of the current financial resources of the Town.
The governmental funds used by the Town include the general fund, and other non-major governmental fund types such as special
revenue funds, capital project funds, and permanent funds.  The general use and purpose of these individual governmental fund
types are as follows.  The individual names of each fund within each non-major governmental fund type can be found in the
accompanying combining schedules and the purpose of the fund is generally self explanatory within each title.

a. General fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Town and accounts for all revenues and expenditures of
the Town with the exception of those required to be accounted for in another fund.  All general tax revenues and other receipts
that (a) are not allocated by law, contractual agreement, governing body motion or town meeting to other funds or (b) that have
not been restricted, committed, or assigned to other funds are accounted for in the general fund.

b. Special revenue funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that
are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.  The term proceeds
of specific revenue sources establishes that one or more specific restricted or committed revenues should be the foundation for
a special revenue fund.  The specific restricted or committed revenues may be initially received in another fund and
subsequently distributed to a special revenue fund, however, those amounts should not be recognized as revenue in the fund
initially receiving them but rather be shown as revenue in the special revenue fund in which they will be expended for the
specified purpose.  The restricted or committed proceeds of the specific revenue sources should be expected to continue to make
up a substantial portion of the resources flowing into the fund.  Other financial resources such as investment income and
transfers from other funds may also be reported within a special revenue fund as long as those resources are restricted,
committed or assigned to the specified purpose of the fund.

c. Capital project funds - Capital project funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed
or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, such as the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets
or for the accumulation of funds for these purposes.  The Town currently only has one non-major capital project fund which
is the Lake Williams project fund which is currently being used for capital and operating upkeep costs of Lake Williams.

d. Permanent funds - Permanent funds are used to account for and report resources that are restricted as only earnings, and not
principal, may be used for purposes that support the Town’s programs and in effect the benefit of the Town or its citizens.

Proprietary and fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position.  The proprietary funds of the town
consist of two enterprise funds which are used to account for the user fees and benefit assessments relating to the Amston Lake
Water Pollution Control Authority (the Authority) and an internal service fund which is used to account for the self funding dental
activities of the town.  Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore cannot
be used to support the programs of the Town.  The fiduciary funds of the Town consist of private purpose trust funds and agency
funds.  Private purpose trust funds account for the assets held by the Town in a trustee capacity on behalf of the schools in the form
of scholarship funds and on behalf of the library and cemeteries in similar funds.  All of the resources of these funds, including any
earnings on invested resources, may be used to support their activities.  There is no requirement that any portion of these resources
be preserved as capital.  Agency funds are used to report resources held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity.  Agency funds
of the Town consist of the student activity accounts located at the Board of Education and funds received from Board of Education
retirees to be put toward the payment of health insurance benefits.
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e. Enterprise funds - Enterprise funds are used to account for those operations that are financed and operated in a manner which
is similar to private business operations or where the Town has decided that the periodic determination of revenues earned,
expenses incurred, and /or net income is necessary for management accountability.  Enterprise funds may be used to report
any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services.  However, certain instances require the use of an
enterprise fund, for example, if the pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs.  The Town uses enterprise funds to account for both its operating activities which are funded through
user fees and its benefit assessments fund which is funded through the actual benefit assessment as well as a borrowed interest
assessment both of which relate to the Authority.  

f. Internal service funds - Internal service funds can be used for any activity that provides goods or services to other funds,
departments, or agencies of the primary government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-
reimbursement basis when the reporting government is the predominant participant in the activity.  The Town uses an internal
service fund to account for its self funding dental activities.

g. Private-purpose trust funds - All trust arrangements other then those defined as pension trust funds and investment trust funds
are described as private-purpose trust funds under which the principal and income of the fund benefit individuals, private
organizations, or other governments.  

h. Agency funds - Agency funds represent resources held in a purely custodial capacity for individuals, private organizations,
or other governments. 

The balance sheet is used to report information about the current financial resources (assets, liabilities, and fund balances) of each
major governmental fund and for all non-major governmental funds in the aggregate.  The fund balance amounts within the
governmental funds are segregated between nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned amounts.  These
balances are shown on the face of the balance sheet with a description of the meaning and purpose of each category being shown
in note 1R starting on page 33.  An accompanying schedule is required to reconcile the total governmental fund balance to the total
net position balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on the government-wide statement of net position.

The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances is used to report information about the inflows, outflows,
and balances of current financial resources of each major governmental fund and all non-major funds in the aggregate.  Revenues
are classified by major revenue sources while expenditures are classified by categories of individual functions corresponding to the
different departments and operations of the Town.  The proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and operating transfers
between individual funds are shown as other financing sources and uses.  An accompanying schedule is also required to reconcile
the total change in governmental fund balances to the total change in net position of the governmental activities of the Town as
shown on the government-wide statement of activities.

The budgetary comparison information is required to be presented for the general fund and each major special revenue or capital
project fund that has a legally adopted annual budget.  This statement shows the original budget as voted on and appropriated, the
changes made to each individual departmental line item within the budget, and the final budget which is compared to the actual
revenue and expenditure balances to come up with the favorable or unfavorable variance numbers.

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the proprietary funds at the end of the fiscal year.  This statement
reports the assets, liabilities, and net position of the these funds.  The assets and liabilities are presented in a classified format to
distinguish between current and long-term assets and liabilities.  In addition, the assets and liabilities are presented in the order of
their relative liquidity.  The liquidity of assets is determined by how readily they are expected to be converted into cash and whether
there are restrictions in place limiting their use by the Town.  The liquidity of liabilities is determined by their maturity or by when
cash will be used to liquidate them.  The net position balance of the Town consists of the net investment in capital assets, restricted
and unrestricted amounts.  Restricted net position is present when constraints are imposed externally by creditors, grantors,
contributors, other governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  Unrestricted net position
consists of all net position balances not meeting the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted.  Capital contributions
are not displayed as a separate component of net position.  In addition, any designations that the Town may make of the unrestricted
net position balance will not be reported on the face of the statements but will rather be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.  Internal balances between individual funds within the governmental activities are eliminated in this statement to
minimize the “grossing-up” of assets and liabilities.  These internal balances are also known as inter-fund receivables and payables
and are shown in the fund financial statements as due to and due from other funds.  Any residual amounts due between the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town would be shown as an internal balance on the statement of net position which
would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.
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The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position is the operating statement of proprietary funds.  The Town’s
business-type operations are accounted for as an enterprise fund which is a proprietary fund.  The revenues on this statements
should be reported by major sources.  This statement also segregates revenues and expenses between the category of operating and
non-operating.  Operating revenues and expenses are subtracted to come up with the operating income or loss from operations.
Non-operating revenues and expenses are then shown by line item in a section following the results of the operations.  If the
proprietary fund of the Town were to have any revenues from capital contributions, special or extraordinary items or transfers, they
would be accounted for in a section after the non-operating results section.  The results of all three of these sections would then be
consolidated to come up with a changes in net position balance.  

The proprietary funds of the Town also utilize a statement of cash flows.  The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to provide
relevant information about the cash receipts and payments made by the Town during each reporting period.  The cash flow
statement is broken down between different sections.  These sections are an operations section, a non-capital financing transactions
section, a capital and related financing transactions section and an investing section.  These sections report the relevant cash flow
results of each specific activity that occurred during the reporting period.  A reconciliation of operating income to the net cash flows
from operating activities should also be shown.  This reconciliation is designed to provide information about the net affects of
operating transactions and other events that effect operating income and cash flows in different periods.

The statement of fiduciary net position shows information in regard to the assets and liabilities of the fiduciary funds of the Town
which consist of private-purpose trust funds and agency funds.  The statement of changes in fiduciary net position shows
information in regard to the additions to, subtractions from, and net increase or decrease for the year in fiduciary fund net position.

2. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

In regard to the governmental activities of the Town, the balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances are prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting
for all governmental and fiduciary funds.  Capital assets and long-term debt are not recorded as assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet of the Town.  The basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus
applied.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting  revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as
net current assets. Property tax revenues are recognized when they become available.  Available includes those property taxes
receivable which are expected to be collected within the first sixty days after the end of the current fiscal year, when applicable.
Miscellaneous revenues are recorded when received because they are generally not measurable until actually received.
Intergovernmental revenues are accrued, when their receipt occurs soon enough after the end of the accounting period so as to be
both measurable and available.  The Town generally considers intergovernmental revenues which are received within the first sixty
days after the end of the current fiscal year to be both measurable and available.  Expenditures are generally recognized under this
basis of accounting when the related fund liability is incurred.  Exceptions to this general rule include general long-term debt
principal and interest which is recognized when due.

In regard to the proprietary fund activities of the Town, the statement of net position, the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position and the statement of cash flows are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like
transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place.  In other words, revenues and the related assets are recognized when
the are earned and expenses and the related liabilities are recognized when they are incurred.  The Town does not have an
established policy relating to the use of restricted and unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted net position is available.  Absent of an established policy which addresses this situation, accounting
guidance states that it should consider that restricted amounts would be reduced first and then unrestricted amounts. 

D. Deposits and investments

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposit accounts as well as all highly liquid short-term investments with
a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the Town.  The Town values investments at their fair value.  Money
market accounts and certificates of deposit may be classified as investments regardless of maturity in order to more accurately reflect
how the Town’s cash balances are being used for the benefit of the Town.  The Town does have other types of investments that
represent assets which have been donated to the Town and therefore are not subject to specific State statute limitations.  These
donated investments are reported within the Trumbull investment funds as well as permanent and private purpose trust funds.
Note 3 starting on page 36 more fully describes certain State statutes regarding the deposit and investing of public funds.
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E. Revenue recognition - property taxes

The Town’s property tax for the current fiscal year was levied May 6, 2019 on the grand list as of October 1, 2018, for the real, motor
vehicle and personal property located in the Town at a rate of 29.4 mills.  Real estate, personal property and motor vehicle taxes were
due on July 1, 2019, and January 1, 2020.  Supplemental motor vehicle taxes were due on January 1, 2020.  Interest on unpaid taxes
commenced 30 days after  the aforementioned due dates, at 18% per annum or 1.50% per month.  As described earlier, in the fund
financial statements property tax revenues are recorded in the amount of the annual principal property tax assessment with an
adjustment being made for the amount of principal expected to be collected within the first sixty days after the end of the current
fiscal year.  In the government-wide financial statements, only the current year principal assessment is recorded as revenue. 

F. Receivables - governmental activities and funds

All property tax, intergovernmental, and other receivables are reported net of any allowance for doubtful accounts.  On the
government-wide financial statements, the current fiscal year accounts receivable balance of $837,790 is made up of general property
taxes receivable of $539,374, state, federal and other grant receivables of $131,923, tuition billing receivables of $134,478, municipal
building services fees of $17,705 and other miscellaneous receivables of $14,310.  The long-term accounts receivable balance of
$137,657 is made up of the accumulated delinquent interest and fees on active property tax principal amounts.  Delinquent interest
and fees on suspense tax receivable principal balances are not included.  The notes receivable balance of $971,881 is related to a
CDBG grant and loan fund program received and entered into by the Town which is more fully described in note 10 on page 44.
All of the above mentioned receivable amounts are also recorded on the fund financial statements with the exception of the
accumulated delinquent interest and fees on property tax principal amounts which are only reported on the government-wide
financial statements.  The Town will book an unbilled receivable in situations when a grant or contract has incurred expenditures
which will be reimbursed by a funding source but which have not yet been fully received in cash for the amount incurred.  The
current allowance for doubtful accounts in relation to the above mentioned accounts receivable balances was estimated to be $0.
The Town considers past experience with receivable balance collections and current aging report details when determining its
calculation for an allowance for doubtful accounts.  Receivables are only written off once it has been determined that all other
methods of collection have been utilized without success.  

G. Sewer benefit assessment, user fees and related receivables

Properties located along the Lebanon Amston Lake Sewer District “the District” were levied a benefit assessment upon the
completion of the sewage system construction project at the flat rate amount of $16,683 per assessable lot.  This benefit assessment
was due August 1, 2013.  This assessment could have been paid in full by September 1, 2013 with no borrowed interest charges or
it could be paid over a period not to exceed 20 years including borrowed interest charges at a rate of 2.50%.  The benefit assessment
is billed in two semi-annual installments of $543 which includes a principal and borrowed interest portion.  The semi-annual benefit
assessment installments are due April 1st and October 1st until such time that the principal portion of the benefit assessment has been
paid in full.  The borrowed interest portion of the semi-annual installments is the amount which is to be collected relating to the
interest which will be payable on the debt which was issued to finance the construction project.  The benefit assessment or any
installment thereof not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date, shall be delinquent and shall be subject to interest from such
due date at the rate and in the manner provided by the General Statutes for delinquent property taxes, together with attorney's fees
and costs of collection.  If all or any part of a property which has been levied this benefit assessment is sold or transferred, the
remaining portion of the assessment may be assumed by the transferee.  During the current fiscal year, a benefit assessment was
levied on a property located along the District in the amount of $16,683.  Current fiscal year assessment principal collections totaled
approximately $256,371 leaving a current and long-term receivable amount due of $2,517,451.  Current fiscal year borrowed interest
collections totaled approximately $69,937 including currently billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding
receivable of $21,189.  Current fiscal year user fee collections totaled approximately $118,187 including currently billed amounts
and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding receivable of $17,496.

H. Tax acquired property

Property which has been foreclosed on by the Town due to non-payment of taxes or other similar situations is classified as tax
acquired property at the value of the original outstanding tax receivable amount.  Interest and fees on the property are recorded
at such time when the property is sold.  The current value of the recorded tax acquired property of the town was $13,361 as of the
end of the current fiscal year.
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I. Inventories

On the government-wide financial statements, inventories are presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis
and are expensed when used which is in accordance with the consumption method.  On the fund financial statements, inventories
are presented at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and are recorded as an expenditure when used.  The Town currently has recorded
an inventory amount of $18,013 as it relates to the school lunch program.

J. Capital assets

Capital assets of the Town include land, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles equipment, infrastructure,
and all other tangible and intangible assets which may arise that are used in operations and that have an initial useful life extending
beyond a single fiscal year.   Infrastructure assets and improvements thereto are long-lived capital assets that are normally stationary
in nature and can normally be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets.  The types of
infrastructure assets recorded by the Town include but are not limited to improved town roads, unimproved town roads, bridges
and water and pollution control improvements.  All improvements to infrastructure and other capital assets are capitalized which
add to the value or materially extend the life of the asset.  All capital assets of the Town are recorded at historical cost or estimated
historical cost when the actual amount is not available.  The historical cost of these assets includes not only the cost of the asset but
also capitalized interest charges and other direct costs associated with placing the asset into its intended location and its intended
use.  The Town maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000 for all capital assets with the exception of land purchases which are
recorded regardless of amount.  Donated capital assets are reported at their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition plus other
direct costs associated with placing the asset into its intended location and intended use.  Capital assets are only shown on the
government-wide statement of net position and the proprietary funds statement of net position.  The capital assets of the component
unit of the Town are accounted for in the same manner.

Land and land improvements are not depreciated.  All other individual capital assets of the Town are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives using the straight line method.  Under this method, the recorded cost of each capital asset less any estimated
residual value is divided by the estimated useful life resulting in an even amount of depreciation to be taken on an annual basis.
The estimated residual value is the amount that the capital asset is expected to be worth at the end of its useful life.  The general
estimated useful lives for specific types of capital assets are 3 - 10 years for equipment, 5 - 10 years for vehicles, 30 - 50 years for
buildings and building improvements and infrastructure and 75 years for water and pollution control systems.  Capital assets which
are under construction but not yet completed are recorded as construction in progress.  These capital assets will not begin to be
depreciated until they are completed.  Depreciation expense is allocated to the specific functions (sometimes referred to as
departments) of the Town based on which function purchased or benefits from the assets.  Depreciation on assets shared between
two or more functions is allocated based on the percentage purchased by each function.  If the benefit received from these assets
shifts from the function  making the purchase to another function  in a material amount, the depreciation amount being charged
will be shifted accordingly.  Depreciation on capital assets which benefit all functions of the Town, such as infrastructure assets, is
shown as a separate line item. Depreciation expense on capital assets is only shown on the government-wide statement of activities
and related proprietary fund statements and  is added to the individual function or department as described above.

K. Prepaid items

Payments made to vendors for goods and services that will benefit periods beyond the end of the fiscal year are recorded as prepaid
items using the consumption method by recording an asset for the prepaid amount and reflecting the expense-expenditure in the
subsequent year (s) in which the goods or services are consumed.  Expenditures relatively minor in nature for insurance and similar
services extending over more than one accounting period need not be allocated between or among accounting periods, but may be
accounted for as expenditures of the period of acquisition.  The Town generally considers relatively minor in nature to include
aggregated similar items not exceeding $5,000.  Payments made to vendors for goods and services that will only benefit periods
beyond the end of the fiscal year which are related to grants are recorded as prepaid items regardless of the dollar amount.

L. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying
notes.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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M. Inter fund receivables and payables

Inter fund receivables and payables represent the balance of activity between the different funds of the Town.  These activities
include but are not limited to transfers which were not physically made, a portion of the annual tax commitment applicable to certain
special revenue and other funds of the Town which are shown as transfers within the annual budget document approved by the
inhabitants of the Town and cash receipts which may have been deposited in the cash account of one fund but which are for the use
of another fund.   The actual receipt of this tax and other revenue is deposited into the general fund and accounted for as an inter
fund receivable.  Expenditures for one fund paid for out of another fund are also included in these balances.  The inter fund balances
and related activities of the governmental funds have been eliminated in the government-wide statement of net position and the
statement of activities, however, the inter fund balances and related activity between the governmental and business-type and
private purpose trust activities of the Town are not eliminated on these statements.

N. Unearned revenue and Deferred inflows and outflows of resources

In the government-wide financial statements, revenue amounts which have been received in cash but not yet earned are recorded
as unearned revenue.  The current fiscal year unearned revenue balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on
the statement of net position totaled $87,394.  This balance is made up of $72,382 which represents unspent state, federal and other
grant program balances which will be used in upcoming fiscal years, $14,262 which represents an amount returned by a vendor for
a prior fiscal years material purchase not fully utilized and $750 representing a vendor payment for an amount due for the upcoming
fiscal year.   The current fiscal year unearned revenue balance of the business-type activities of the Town as shown on the statement
of net position totaled $24,652 which represents user fee collections received by the town not due until the upcoming fiscal year.
In the fund financial statements, revenues are recognized when they are both measurable and available to pay current liabilities.
The current fiscal year unearned revenue balance of the governmental activities as shown on the balance sheet totaled $15,012 and
is made up of the above mentioned vendor returned amount and advance upcoming fiscal year payment due.

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that time.  The governmental activities have
deferred outflows that relate to both the net pension liability and the total OPEB liability.  The pension related deferred outflow
includes the Town’s current fiscal year pension contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, which are recognized as
a reduction of the net pension liability in the subsequent fiscal year while both the pension and OPEB related deferred outflow may
include differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions and changes in the proportionate share of
contributions, which would be deferred and amortized over the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive
members in the pension plan.  They may also include the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments, which would be deferred and amortized over a five-year period.  The current fiscal year deferred outflows of resources
balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on the statement of net position totaled $1,379,937.  This balance is
made up of current fiscal year pension contributions made by the town in the amount of $186,058 and the actuarial determined
pension differences between expected and actual experience of $184,824, changes of assumptions of $448,260, changes in the
proportionate share of $58,382, the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments of $69,093
and the actuarial determined OPEB changes of assumptions of $433,320.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources.  This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s)
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The governmental activities have deferred inflows
that relate to both the net pension liability and the total OPEB liability, which may include differences between expected and actual
experience, changes in assumptions and changes in the proportionate share of contributions, which would be deferred and
amortized over the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members in the pension plan.  They may also
include the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, which would be deferred and
amortized over a five-year period.  The current fiscal year deferred inflows of resources balance of the governmental activities of
the Town as shown on the statement of net position totaled $499,997.  This balance is made up of the actuarial determined pension
differences between expected and actual experience of $152,975, changes in the proportionate share of $106,250 and the actuarial
determined OPEB difference between expected and actual experience of $179,480 and changes of assumptions of $61,292.  The
governmental funds of the Town currently report on the balance sheet unavailable revenue from property taxes which is calculated
when considering the amount of property taxes receivable not expected to be received within the first 60 days after the fiscal year
end in this category.  This amount is deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become
available.  The current fiscal year deferred inflow of resources balance relating to these property taxes receivable is $456,133.
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O. Accounts payable, accrued payroll and other liabilities

The accounts payable balance of the town is used to account for the expenses or expenditures related to invoices for the current fiscal
year which have been received but which have not yet been paid.  The accrued payroll balance is made up of amounts earned
through hours worked prior to the end of the fiscal year which were not physically paid until after the end of the fiscal year.  The
governmental activities other liabilities balance of $146,906 as shown on the statement of net position is made up of tax refunds
issued but not yet paid of $49,048, driveway and performance bonds which have been received but not yet fulfilled and thus not
yet returned of $82,550, unclaimed property checks to either be repaid or sent to the state of $7,816, accrued debt service interest
of $6,591 and other miscellaneous items of $901.  All of these items are also included on the balance sheet with the exception of
accrued debt service interest.  The business-type activities other liabilities balance of $44,460 is also accrued debt service interest.

P. Long-term obligations and related costs

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities on the governmental-wide statement of net position. Bond
premiums and discounts are capitalized and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight line method, which approximates
the effective interest method. The unamortized portion is presented as a component of bonds payable. Bond issuance costs are
reported as expenses when incurred.  The governmental fund financial statements recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the period incurred. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums
received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing
uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Q. Major funds - Fund financial statements only

The focus of the governmental funds of the Town is on the major funds.  The general fund of the Town must always be shown as
a major fund.  In addition, other governmental funds are shown as major based on the following criteria.

a. The total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures
of an individual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund are at least 10% of the corresponding totals for all funds of the
governmental or enterprise (if present) fund type and

b. The total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures
of an individual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund are at least 5% of the corresponding totals for all governmental
and enterprise (if present) funds combined.

c. Any other individual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund that the Town believes is particularly important to the
financial statement users whether because of public interest, consistency, or other reasons.

For the purposes of the current fiscal year fund financial statements, the following individual governmental funds have been
classified as major.  A brief description of these funds and the activities reported within each fund is as follows.  Additional financial
information on these funds can be found in Sub-Schedules A through D on pages 78 through 83 of the financial statements.

d. Trumbull investments fund - This fund is used to account for three sets of investments donated to the town by Hugh Trumbull
Adams with the interest and dividend revenue generated by these investments to be used to help fund the operations of the
Jonathan Trumbull library, the Adams community center and the Jonathan Trumbull Jr. house before it was transferred.

e. Town capital funds - This fund is used to account for financial resources to be used by the Town to purchase or construct capital
assets or projects.  The capital assets purchased or constructed through this fund are usually more costly then those purchased
and accounted for within other funds, functions, and departments.  The activities within this fund are financed through annual
appropriations as approved as part of the annual budget, long-term and short term financing and through other miscellaneous
grants and revenues.  This fund is individually made up of the capital non-recurring fund which accounts for a number of
capital purchases and other internal funds which the town uses to keep track of individual town construction projects.

f. Small cities program fund - This fund is used to account for and report the proceeds and activity of housing rehabilitation
Community Development Block Grants received from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.  The purpose
of these grants is to provide assistance to low to moderate income residents for addressing housing needs with a priority being
placed on public health and safety code violations and to establish a permanent loan fund using the proceeds.  Each resident
receiving benefits under these grants is required to sign a deferred promissory note of which ten percent of the principal balance
of the note is forgiven each of the first five years of the note.  Current program notes are not forgiven in this manner.  The
residual of this fund is accounted for as restricted net position and fund balance as the Town feels that the recorded revenue
has been earned and is both measurable and available to pay all applicable current liabilities of the program fund.
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R. Fund balance classification policies and procedures - fund financial statements only

The fund balance amounts of the governmental funds of the Town on the balance sheet are broken down between nonspendable,
restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned.  These fund balance classifications are described as follows:

a. Nonspendable fund balance - Nonspendable fund balance include amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not
in a spendable form such as inventories or prepaid expenditures or (b) they are legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact such as the principal portion of a permanent fund.  The nonspendable funds balance amounts as reported
by the Town consist solely of the principal portion of its permanent funds and a corresponding amount for the recorded amount
of inventory and prepaid expenditures, when applicable.

b. Restricted fund balances - Restricted fund balance include amounts that are restricted to a specific purpose when the restraints
are placed on the use of the resources either by (a) externally imposed creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations
of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.   Enabling legislation
authorizes the Town to assess, levy, charge or otherwise mandate payment of resources from external sources and includes a
legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation.  The
restricted fund balance amounts of the Town consist of the residual fund balance amounts at the end of the fiscal year as they
relate to grants received from either State, Federal or local funding sources or donations received to be spent for specific
purposes.  These amounts are restricted to be expended on the items outlined within the funding agreement with the Town
and cannot be used for any other specified purposes.  In addition, the Town has created a special revenue fund to account for
and report the proceeds of funds collected by the town clerks office as mandated by the State of Connecticut in relation to
historic document preservation fees and locip surcharge assessment fees.  These mandated fees are considered a form of
enabling legislation imposed by the State and therefore the funds collected by the Town are restricted to be expended based
on the parameters of the enabling legislation.  Other funds restricted by the Town include the balance of the housing
rehabilitation income fund which relates to housing rehabilitation grants received by the Town and the non-principal portion
of permanent funds.  

c. Committed fund balance - Committed fund balance include amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal action of the Town’s highest level of decision making authority.  These committed amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Town removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action
it employed to previously commit those amounts.  The Board of Finance is considered to be the highest level of decision making
authority within the Town for determining committed fund balance amounts.  The Board of Finance has the final approval for
the budget amounts which are presented to the citizens of the Town for approval and in turn the establishment of the related
special revenue or capital project funds.  The approval of the annual town budget includes amounts characterized as specific
revenue sources as a portion of either the annual tax commitment or other specific revenue sources contained and voted on
within the annual budget.  An example of a committed fund balance amount would relate to an approved transfer to an
established special revenue fund or the capital nonrecurring fund.  The residual fund balance amount within these funds at
the end of the fiscal year would be classified as committed fund balance.  Any subsequent change in the specific purpose or
use of these committed funds would need to be approved either at the annual town meeting or a special town meeting.  The
current fiscal year committed general fund amount of $932,131 relates to an amount of up to $1,000,000 which was approved
at a special town meeting relating to storm damage repairs though only $17,333 was utilized during the current fiscal year.

d. Assigned fund balance - Assigned fund balance include amounts that are constrained by the Town with the intent to be used
for specific purposes, but which are neither restricted or committed.  The intent to use funds for specific purposes is to be
assigned by either town meeting appropriations or the Board of Finance.  The First Selectman has the authority to accept funds
on behalf of the Town which are specific revenue sources to be used for specific purposes and to establish special revenue or
capital project funds to account and report these amounts in accordance with the direction received from the Board of Finance.
Assigned special revenue and capital project funds are usually made up of small streams of specific revenue sources for specific
purposes for which there is a perceived benefit to segregating and reporting the funds rather then including them within the
general fund.  In addition, any annual budgetary encumbrances outstanding at the end of the fiscal year may be classified by
the Town as assigned amounts within the general or specific special revenue or capital project funds.  Subsequent fiscal year
budgeted appropriations of the unassigned general fund balance would also be reported as assigned fund balance amounts
of the general fund at the end of the current fiscal year.

e. Unassigned fund balance - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund of the Town.  This
classification represents fund balance amounts that have not been assigned to other funds and that have not been restricted,
committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund.  In addition, individual governmental funds whose ending
fund balance is negative are also classified as unassigned within the specific fund.
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The Town does not have an established policy relating to the use of unrestricted fund balance amounts as it relates to when it
considers committed, assigned or unassigned amounts to have been spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of these three unrestricted classifications could be used.  Absent of an established policy which addresses this
situation, accounting guidance states that it should consider that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned
amounts and then unassigned amounts.  In addition, restricted fund balance amounts are considered to have been spent prior to
unrestricted amounts under the same circumstances.  The following table is designed to provide more detailed information
regarding the aggregated fund balance classifications which are included on the balance sheet.  

Trumbull Town Small cities Non-major
General investment capital program governmental

fund funds funds funds funds Totals
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
  Prepaid and inventory items $ 4,625 $              -     $              -     $              -     $ 19,763 $ 24,388
  Permanent funds principal -     -     -     -     319,272 319,272

4,625 -     -     -     339,035 343,660
Restricted:
  Town grants -     -     -     -     41,703 41,703
  Education grants -     -     -     -     30,679 30,679
  Trumbull donations funds -     2,403,485 -     -     245,100 2,648,585
  Other town donation funds -     -     -     -     102,374 102,374
  Housing rehab income fund -     -     -     1,055,918 -     1,055,918
  Enabling legislation funds -     -     -     -     60,324 60,324
  Permanent funds non-principal -     -     -     -     52,982 52,982

-     2,403,485 -     1,055,918 533,162 3,992,565
Committed:
  Town construction projects -     -     988,952 -     -     988,952
  Capital nonrecurring balances -     -     1,076,099 -     -     1,076,099
  School capital fund -     -     451,940 -     -     451,940
  Lebanon public library -     -     -     -     216,804 216,804
  Lebanon recreation commission -     -     -     -     23,069 23,069
  Adams community center -     -     -     -     85,101 85,101
  Town improvement program -     -     -     -     168,236 168,236
  Senior vans program -     -     -     -     73,213 73,213
  Covid-19 emergency relief fund -     -     -     -     87,780 87,780
  Lake Williams project -     -     -     -     24,781 24,781
  Approved storm damage funds 932,131 -     -     -     -     932,131

932,131 -     2,516,991 -     678,984 4,128,106
Assigned:
  Dog fund -     -     -     -     6,395 6,395
  Town donation and grant funds -     -     -     -     19,121 19,121
  Summer dance festival -     -     -     -     13,973 13,973
  Cemetery lot funds -     -     -     -     10,548 10,548
  Historic building funds -     -     -     -     10,892 10,892
  Education programs -     -     -     -     63,638 63,638
  Education activity accounts -     -     -     -     104,071 104,071

-     -     -     -     228,638 228,638
Unassigned:
  General fund 6,010,126 -     -     -     -     6,010,126
  Town construction projects -     -     -796,256 -     -     -796,256
  Capital non-recurring balances -     -     -28,250 -     -     -28,250
  Education and other programs -     -     -     -5 -22 -27
  Permanent funds principal -     -     -     -     -2,564 -2,564

6,010,126 -     -824,506 -5 -2,586 5,183,029

      Total fund balances $ 6,946,882 $ 2,403,485 $ 1,692,485 $ 1,055,913 $ 1,777,233 $ 13,875,998
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S. Unclassified and program expenditures

The Town uses a departmental expenditure category labeled unclassified and program to account for certain items that they do not
feel truly fall into the traditional departmental expenditure categories.  The general fund classifies town wide fringe benefits, the
small cities program fund classifies operating expenditures and the permanent funds classify scholarship allocations made to the
high school student activity account into this departmental expenditure category.

T. Encumbrance accounting

Encumbrances are not liabilities and, therefore, are not recorded as expenditures until receipt of materials or services.  For budgetary
purposes, appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. The Town does utilize encumbrance accounting.  The assignment of fund balance
at June 30, 2020 was $36,583 for the general fund as it relates to the Board of Education, and $0 for the non-major special revenue
funds as they relate to the state and federal grant  programs of the Board of Education.  

U. Budget

The Town's policy is to adopt an annual budget for operations.  The budget is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting
(except in relation to teacher on-behalf payments made by the State which are not budgeted for and encumbrances) which is
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.  In addition, the budget calls for certain amounts to be transferred or
allocated to specific funds which have been set up by the Town for specific purposes.  A portion of the budgeted revenues to be
raised by the annual tax commitment are considered by the Town to be a specific revenue source which are committed to
expenditure for these specified purposes.  The budget calls for the revenue to be shown within the general fund and a transfer out
to be shown to each of these specific funds.  These specific portions of the annual tax commitment are shown within each specific
special revenue and capital project fund as a transfer in rather then as property tax revenue.  The legal level of control (the level at
which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) for each adopted annual operating budget generally is the department
level within each general function of the Town.  Only the Board of Finance may approve budget transfers within and between
expenditure classes and individual departments in accordance with applicable State statutes.  The bottom line budgeted revenue
and expenditure amounts can only change upon approval of the inhabitants of the Town through a special town meeting.  The
procedures followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements are as follows:

a. Early in the second half of the last fiscal year the Town’s selectmen, departments, boards and commissions submitted budget
requests for the year beginning July 1.  The operating budgets include proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

b. Hearings are then held for the submitted budget requests by functions: (1) Selectmen’s budget, (2) departments, (3) boards and
commissions, (4) capital and nonrecurring requests and (5) Board of Education. 

c. A meeting of the inhabitants of the Town is then called for the purpose of adopting the proposed budget after public notice of
the meeting had been given.  The current fiscal year budget was adopted by the inhabitants of the Town on May 6, 2019.

Other financing Net change in
Town general fund Revenues Expenditures sources (uses) fund balance

GAAP basis - Statement D $ 30,791,888 $ -27,289,987 $ -2,744,053 $ 757,848

Current fiscal year encumbrances -     -36,583 -     -36,583
Prior fiscal year encumbrances -     -     -     -     
State on-behalf benefits related to pensions -4,185,420 4,185,420 -     -     
State on-behalf benefits related to OPEB 388,914 -388,914 -     -     

Budgetary basis - Statement E $ 26,995,382 $ -23,530,064 $ -2,744,053 $ 721,265
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Note 2 - Restricted cash and investments - government-wide financial statements only

The Town breaks cash and investments down between a regular current asset and an other asset restricted on the government-wide
statement of net position.  The other asset restricted investment amount of $2,762,214 is made up of the balance of investments which
have been donated to the Town and whose interest and earnings are used to partially fund the operations of the Jonathan Trumbull
library, Adams community center and the Jonathan Trumbull Jr. house before it was transferred to the Lebanon Historical Society
during the current fiscal year.  A portion of this restricted investments balance in the amount of $2,403,485 can also be seen on the
fund financial statements balance sheet as the major fund labeled the Trumbull investment funds.  In addition, the permanent funds
include restricted investments in the amount of $358,729 which relate to scholarship dollars whose interest and earnings are
provided to the high school along with other small amounts provided to the town and the library.  The other assets restricted cash
balance is made up of cash balances relating to restricted net position balances which are restricted for specific purposes in
subsequent fiscal years.  The current fiscal year amount shown on the government-wide statement of net position can be broken
down as follows.

Community development grants and programs $ 84,032
Unearned state, federal, and other grant program balances 72,382
Principal balance of non-major permanent funds 9,501
Restricted donation funds 347,474
Enabling legislation program funds 60,324

$ 573,713

Note 3 - Deposits and investments

The deposit of public funds is controlled by the Connecticut General Statutes Section 7-402.  Deposits may be made in a qualified
public depository as defined by the statute or, in amounts not exceeding FDIC insurance limits, in an out of state bank as defined
by the statute, which is not a qualified public depository.  Section 7-400 of the statutes permit municipalities to invest public funds
in: 1) obligations of the United States and its agencies, 2) highly rated obligations of any state of the United States or of any political
subdivision, authority or agency thereof, and 3) shares or other interests in custodial arrangements or pools maintaining constant
net asset values and in highly rated no-load open-end money market and mutual funds (with constant or fluctuating net asset
values) whose portfolios are limited to obligations of the United States and its agencies, and repurchase agreements fully
collateralized by such obligations.  Other provisions of the statutes cover specific municipal funds with particular investment
authority.  The Town does have other types of investments that represent assets which have been donated to the Town and therefore
are not subject to specific state statute limitations.  

Deposits - Primary government

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Town will not be able to recover its deposits or
will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The Town does not have a formal
deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statutes.  FDIC insurance covers all deposit accounts,
including checking and savings accounts, money market deposit accounts and certificates of deposit.  The standard insurance
amount is $250,000 per depositor, per insured bank, for each account ownership category.  For government accounts the ownership
category is per official custodian.  At year end, the carrying amount of the Town’s deposits was $13,835,953 which is shown in the
financial statements as cash balances of $3,223,423 and investment balances of $10,612,530 which represent money market accounts,
certificates of deposit and other higher yielding accounts.  The corresponding bank balances of these accounts at various financial
institutions totaled $14,424,572 with the difference between the two amounts being represented by timing differences with
outstanding checks, deposits in transit and cash on hand.  Of these bank balances, $750,000 was covered by FDIC with the remaining
$13,674,572 representing balances that where uninsured and collateralized in part, as described in the following paragraph, by
securities held by the pledging financial institutions’ trust department or agent but not in the Town’s name.

The Town does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statutes.   All of the
Town’s deposits are in qualified public institutions as defined by state statute. Under this statute, any bank holding public deposits
must at all times maintain, segregated from its other assets, eligible collateral in an amount equal to a certain percentage of its public
deposits. The applicable percentage is determined based on the bank’s risk-based capital ratio. The amount of public deposits is
determined based on either the public deposits reported on the most recent quarterly call report, or the average of the public deposits
reported on the four most recent quarterly call reports, whichever is greater. The collateral is kept in the custody of the trust
department of either the pledging bank or another bank in the name of the pledging bank.
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Deposits - Discretely presented component unit

The Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department is reported within the government-wide financial statements of the Town as a discretely
presented component unit.  The Department does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements
of State statutes.  At year end, the carrying amount of the Department’s deposits was $245,859 which is shown in the financial
statements as cash balances of $146,907 and investment balances of $98,952 which represent money market accounts, certificates
of deposit and other higher yielding accounts.  The corresponding bank balances of these accounts at one financial institution totaled
$253,037 with the difference between the two amounts being represented by timing differences with outstanding checks and deposits
in transit.  Of these bank balances, $250,000 was covered by FDIC with the remaining $3,037 representing balances that where
uninsured and collateralized in part, as described in the previous paragraph, by securities held by the pledging financial institutions’
trust department or agent but not in the Department’s name.

Investments - Primary government

The following schedule shows the different types of investments held by the Town, the maturities of those investments and the
associated credit ratings as of June 30, 2020.

Credit
Maturities in years ratings

Fair Less than 1 - 5 6 - 10 More than
Type value 1 year years years 10 years S & P

Governmental & business type:
CT short term investment fund $ 1,006,067 $ 1,006,067 $          -     $          -     $          -     AAAm
Preferred stocks 8,232 8,232 -     -     -     not rated
Exchange traded funds 338,618 338,618 -     -     -     not rated
Unit trusts 579 579 -     -     -     not rated
Money market and certificates 10,567,526 10,567,526 -     -     -     not rated
Municipal bonds 53,770 -     5,520 48,250 -     AAA
Municipal bonds 17,361 -     -     17,361 -     AA+
Municipal bonds 74,252 -     -     74,252 -     AA
Municipal bonds 10,893 -     -     10,893 -     BBB+
Corporate bonds 26,861 20,436 -     6,425 -     AA- to AA+
Corporate bonds 86,461 30,437 56,024 -     -     A- to A+
Corporate bonds 87,544 5,015 67,855 14,674 -     BBB+

12,278,164 $ 11,976,910 $ 129,399 $ 171,855 $          -     
Stock equities 1,542,485
Mutual fund equities 504,747

$ 14,325,396

Fiduciary funds:
Money market and certificates $ 64,234 $ 64,234 $          -     $          -     $          -     not rated
Mutual fund equities 15,940

$ 80,174

Interest Rate Risk - The Town does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  Credit Risk - The Town does not have a formal investment
policy that would further limit its investment choices beyond those limited by Connecticut State statutes.  Concentration of Credit
Risk - The Town has no policy limiting an investment in any one issuer that is in excess of 5% of the Town’s total investments.
Custodial Credit Risk - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the Town
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Town
does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk.
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Investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements are those that GASB statements
require or permit in the Statement of Net Position or Balance Sheet at the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements
are categorized based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset's fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date; Level 2 inputs are other
than quoted prices in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, or similar assets or liabilities either directly or indirectly
through corroboration with observable market data; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little
or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

Fair value measurement
Fair

Investments value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Governmental & business type:
CT short term investment fund $ 1,006,067 $ 1,006,067 $          -     $          -     
Preferred stocks 8,232 8,232 -     -     
Exchange traded funds 338,618 338,618 -     -     
Unit trusts 579 579 -     -     
Money market and certificates 10,567,526 10,567,526 -     -     
Municipal bonds 156,276 156,276 -     -     
Corporate bonds 200,866 200,866 -     -     
Stock equities 1,542,485 1,542,485 -     -     
Mutual fund equities 504,747 504,747 -     -     

$ 14,325,396 $ 14,325,396 $          -     $          -     

Fiduciary funds:
Money market and certificates $ 64,234 $ 64,234 $          -     $          -     
Mutual fund equities 15,940 15,940 -     -     

$ 80,174 $ 80,174 $          -     $          -     

Investments - Discretely presented component unit

The following schedule shows the different types of investments held by the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, the maturities
of those investments and the associated credit ratings as of June 30, 2020.

Credit
Maturities in years ratings

Fair Less than 1 - 5 6 - 10 More than
Type value 1 year years years 10 years S & P

Money market and certificates $ 98,995 $ 98,995 $          -     $          -     $          -     not rated
Stock equities 14,842
Mutual fund equities & unit trusts 565,270

$ 679,107

Interest Rate Risk - The Department does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  Credit Risk - The Department does not have a
formal investment policy that would further limit its investment choices beyond those limited by Connecticut State statutes.
Concentration of Credit Risk - The Department has no policy limiting an investment in any one issuer that is in excess of 5% of the
Department’s total investments.  Custodial Credit Risk - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of a counterparty, the Department will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in
the possession of an outside party. The Department does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk.  As described above, all
of the Departments investments are recorded at fair value and as such the fair value measurement level must be disclosed.  The
investments of the Department were all measured at level 1 as of June 30, 2020.
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Note 4 - Inter fund receivables, payables, and transfers

Inter fund receivables and payables - The Town  maintains a cash pool that is available for use by all funds.  Each fund's portion
of this pool is displayed on the balance sheet as "due to or from other funds" under each fund's caption.  The purpose for inter fund
balances is to keep track of each fund’s position in this cash pool. These balances are not always expected to be repaid due to the
fact that they normally represent funds collected or spent by one fund on behalf of another fund.  The following information
represents inter fund receivables and payables by individual major fund and non-major funds in the aggregate.  Only the balances
for major funds are being shown below.  The following fund financial statement inter fund balances are eliminated in the
government-wide financial statements with the exception of the proprietary enterprise funds and private purpose trust fund
balances which are shown as internal balances on the Statement of net position when present.

Receivable Payable
due from due to

General fund:
  Town capital funds $ 810,440 $ 1,693,421
  Non-major special revenue funds 597,365 1,161,244
  Non-major capital project funds -     24,781
  Non-major permanent funds 546 16,308

1,408,351 2,895,754
  Proprietary enterprise funds -     1,166,303
  Proprietary internal service funds 15,986 -     
  Private purpose trust funds -     2,203

$ 1,424,337 $ 4,064,260

Town capital funds:
  General fund $ 1,693,421 $ 810,440

Inter fund transfers - Transfers in and out represent budgeted transfers which are not always physically made but need to be
recorded to keep track of the individual fund balances.  There were no transfers made by the Town during the current fiscal year
which were significant which have been deemed not to have occurred on a routine basis and which are inconsistent with the
activities of the fund (s) making the transfer (s).  The following general fund transfer out amounts were approved at the annual town
meeting, subsequent special town meetings and by the Board of Finance in accordance with current fiscal year executive orders as
issued by the Governor.  The Board of Finance voted to approve the concept of transferring a portion of the remaining unspent
education budget to the school capital fund in accordance with State legislature section 10-248a resulting in a current fiscal year
approved transfer from the general fund in the amount of $295,292.  The following information represents inter fund transfers by
individual major fund and non-major funds in the aggregate.  The amounts shown below for general fund transfers out to the non-
major special revenue funds represent each funds portion of the annual tax commitment which is considered each funds specific
revenue source in relation to meeting the definition of a special revenue fund.  The following fund financial statement inter fund
transfers are eliminated in the government-wide financial statements with the exception of proprietary fund transfers which are
shown as transfers on the Statement of activities when present.

Transfers in Transfers out
General fund:
  Town capital funds $                    -     $ -1,991,899
  Non-major special revenue funds -     -752,594
  Non-major permanent funds 440 -     

$ 440 $ -2,744,493

Trumbull investment funds:
  Non-major special revenue funds $                    -     $ -90,933

Town capital funds:
  General fund $ 1,991,899 $                    -     
  Proprietary enterprise funds 10,000 -     

$ 2,001,899 $                    -     
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Note 5 - Capital assets

The following schedule shows the capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  Information about the specific
accounting policies of the Town in relation to capital assets can be found in note 1J on page 30 of the notes to the financial statements.

Balance Balance
Governmental activities: 07/01/19 Additions Retirements 06/30/20
Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land and improvements $ 2,228,189 $                    -     $                    -     $ 2,228,189
  Construction in progress 120,609 97,785 -     218,394
Total capital assets not being depreciated 2,348,798 97,785 -     2,446,583

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Buildings and improvements 37,486,016 207,878 -434,211 37,259,683
  Vehicles 5,660,821 233,605 -55,104 5,839,322
  Equipment 1,792,872 237,763 -7,995 2,022,640
  Infrastructure 31,184,166 1,400,650 -     32,584,816
Total capital assets being depreciated 76,123,875 2,079,896 -497,310 77,706,461

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Building and improvements -18,540,590 -938,162 262,269 -19,216,483
  Vehicles -3,194,132 -350,374 46,195 -3,498,311
  Equipment -1,223,975 -154,801 7,995 -1,370,781
  Infrastructure -21,399,231 -551,036 -     -21,950,267
Total accumulated depreciation -44,357,928 -1,994,373 316,459 -46,035,842

Total capital assets being depreciated (net) 31,765,947 85,523 -180,851 31,670,619

Total capital assets (net) $ 34,114,745 $ 183,308 $ -180,851 $ 34,117,202

Depreciation expense taken on the governmental activities capital assets of the town are charged by function or department in the
government-wide financial statements.  During the current fiscal year depreciation was charged to general government - $11,880,
public safety - $259,013, public works - $156,662, health & social - $88,581, education - $927,201 and general infrastructure -
$551,036 for a total current fiscal year depreciation expense amount of $1,994,373.

Balance Balance
Business-type activities: 07/01/19 Additions Retirements 06/30/20
Capital assets being depreciated:
  Lebanon Amston Lake Sewage System $ 6,503,574 $                    -     $                    -     $ 6,503,574
  Less accumulated depreciation -520,286 -     -86,714 -607,000

Total capital assets being depreciated (net) $ 5,983,288 $                    -     $ -86,714 $ 5,896,574

Balance Balance
Component unit: 07/01/19 Additions Retirements 06/30/20
Capital assets being depreciated:
  Buildings, vehicles and equipment $ 456,789 $ 24,901 $ -5,500 $ 476,190
  Less accumulated depreciation -260,366 5,500 -25,824 -280,690

Total capital assets being depreciated (net) $ 196,423 $ 30,401 $ -31,324 $ 195,500
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Note 6 - Long-term debt and other liabilities

The long-term debt and other liabilities of the Town are made up of the following individual debt agreements and amounts.  Long-
term debt liabilities are shown on the government-wide financial statements as both governmental activities items and business-type
activities items on the statement of net position.  They are also shown on the proprietary funds statement of net position within the
fund financial statements of the Town. 

Amount due
Balance Balance within
07/1/19 Additions Reductions 06/30/20 one year

Governmental activities:
Outstanding payables:
  $5,750,000 bond payable $ 760,000 $                -     $ -380,000 $ 380,000 $ 380,000
  $495,000 capital lease payable 470,082 -     -90,000 380,082 99,610
  $500,000 promissory note payable -     500,000 -100,922 399,078 -     
    Total outstanding payables 1,230,082 500,000 -570,922 1,159,160 479,610

Other liabilities:
  Accrued comp. absences - school 52,592 3,135 -     55,727 -     
  Accrued comp. absences - town 38,376 13,252 -     51,628 -     
  Accrued landfill post-closure costs 5,631 -     -5,631 -     -     
  Net pension liability 2,096,705 -     -399,481 1,697,224 -     
  Total OPEB liability 2,616,754 425,450 -     3,042,204 -     
    Total other liabilities 4,810,058 441,837 -405,112 4,846,783 -     

Total long-term liabilities $ 6,040,140 $ 941,837 $ -976,034 $ 6,005,943 $ 479,610

Business-type activities:
Outstanding payables:
  $5,105,000 bond payable $ 4,043,516 $                -     $ -109,497 $ 3,934,019 $ 105,034

Outstanding bonds and notes payable - Governmental activities

$5,750,000 bond payable issued in August of 2005 to finance two school renovation projects and a fire safety
complex project.  Annual principal installments range from $385,000 to $380,000 through August of 2021.
Interest on the outstanding principal balance is at a rate of 3.80%. $ 380,000

$500,000 promissory note received in November of 2019 to finance a portion of the library expansion project.
The principal amount along with all interest accrued on the unpaid balance is due in November of 2024.
Interest on the outstanding principal balance is at a rate of 1.59% compounded annually.  During the current
fiscal year, $100,922 of principal and $3,898 of accrued interest was forgiven by the note holder. 399,078

$ 779,078

Outstanding bonds payable - Business-type activities

$5,105,000 bond payable issued in January of 2013 to finance the Amston Lake sewer construction project.
Annual principal installments are $203,384 through January of 2049.  Interest on the outstanding principal
balance is at a rate of 2.50%. $ 3,934,019
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The following is a summary of the total outstanding bond and notes payable principal and interest cash flow requirements for the
aforementioned bonds and notes payable of the governmental activities and the business-type activities of the own for the fiscal
years ending June 30,:

Governmental activities Business-type activities

Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 380,000 $ 7,220 $ 387,220 $ 105,034 $ 98,350 $ 203,384
2022 -     -     -     107,659 95,725 203,384
2023 -     -     -     110,351 93,033 203,384
2024 -     -     -     113,110 90,274 203,384
2025 399,078 22,270 421,348 115,937 87,447 203,384

2026 - 2030 -     -     -     624,640 392,280 1,016,920
2031 - 2035 -     -     -     706,723 310,197 1,016,920
2036 - 2040 -     -     -     799,592 217,328 1,016,920
2041 - 2045 -     -     -     904,665 112,255 1,016,920
2046 - 2050 -     -     -     346,308 12,448 358,756

$ 779,078 $ 29,490 $ 808,568 $ 3,943,019 $ 1,509,337 $ 5,443,356

Outstanding capital leases payable - Governmental activities:

The Town has a capital lease related to a lease purchase agreement for a portion of the costs for a 2015 Peirce fire truck. This lease
purchase agreement runs from April of 2019 through January of 2024 with monthly payments of $9,417 which includes interest at
a rate of 4.15%.  The gross amount of this truck recorded as a vehicle type capital asset is $745,000 which is made up of $250,000 paid
by the town and the $495,000 capital lease.  This item is being amortized over a 15 year period and the  accumulated amortization
(depreciation) taken as of June 30, 2020 was $57,945.  The total monthly payments on this lease over the next five fiscal years are
equal to approximately $408,887.  The amount of these payments representing interest is equal to approximately $28,805 leaving
the net present value of future minimum lease payments equaling $380,082.

Accrued compensated absences

Employees of the Town and the Board of Education are allowed to earn paid absences for vacations and/or sick time.  The
employee’s right to be paid for these future vacation and sick time absences are attributable to services already performed and
earned vacation and sick time balances do accumulate.  Town accumulated balances are paid when an employee leaves.  Therefore,
the probability of these benefits being paid can be determined and a liability has been recorded in the accompanying government-
wide financial statements on the statement of net position.  School accumulated vacation balances are also paid when employees
leave.  However, school accumulated sick balances are only paid when an employee retires.  Therefore, the probability of these
school accumulated vacation benefits being paid can be determined and a liability has been recorded in the accompanying
government-wide financial statements on the statement of net position.  The probability of school accumulated sick benefits being
paid cannot be determined and therefore no liability for these benefits has been recorded.  As of June 30, 2020, school accumulated
sick balances totaled approximately $332,486.  A current portion of these recorded liabilities has not been estimated due to the fact
that these benefits (accumulated sick and vacation time) may be used by the employees during the course of the fiscal year or they
may be paid out upon retirement or termination. 

Accrued landfill post-closure costs

The Town of Lebanon municipal solid waste landfill was closed in October of 1993 due to new regulations imposed by the United
States Environmental Protection Agency which the town was unable to meet.  The cost of capping the landfill was paid for out of
the Town’s annual operating budget.  The post-closure monitoring, which will continue for up to 30 years from the date of closure,
will also be paid for out of the Town’s annual operating budget.  The Town set up a long-term liability to account for these funds
being set aside for this post-closure care.  The expense for this liability was to be recorded in each period based on the landfill
capacity used to date.  As of June 30, 2020 the outstanding post-closure monitoring liability has been fully expended and therefore
future post-closure monitoring costs will be paid for out of the Town’s annual operating budget. 
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Pension contribution payable, net pension liability and total OPEB liability

Payables to a defined benefit pension plan include short-term payables for legally or contractually required contributions
outstanding as of the end of the reporting period, as well as long-term payables, such as those arising from amounts assessed to an
individual employer upon joining a multiple-employer pension plan.  The net pension liability is measured as the portion of the
actuarial present value of projected benefits that is attributed to past periods of employee service (total pension liability), net of the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The pension plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using the same valuation methods
that are used by the pension plan for purposes of preparing its statement of fiduciary net position. The net pension liability is
measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year, consistently applied from
period to period.  The total OPEB liability is measured as the portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefits that is
attributable to past periods of employee service.  The total OPEB liability is measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier
than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year and no later then the end of the current fiscal year, consistently applied from period
to period.

Note 7 - Short-term debt

The prior fiscal year outstanding bond anticipation note payable in the amount of $2,600,000 was paid in full with interest at 2.45%
on July 11, 2019 and replaced with the current fiscal year outstanding bond anticipation note payable in the amount of $1,900,000
due July 10, 2020 with interest at 2.45%.  Both of these notes have and are being used to finance costs related to the town bridges
project and is recorded as a current liability in both the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements.

Note 8 - Interest expense

The total interest expense incurred by the Town during the current fiscal year totaled $138,547.  This interest expense was increased
by current fiscal year accrued interest amounts of $54,949, decreased by the reversal of prior fiscal year accrued interest amounts
of ($63,823) and decreased by current fiscal year interest forgiveness of ($3,898) in the government-wide financial statements for
a total recorded interest expense amount of $125,775.  For the governmental activities in the fund financial statements, $21,660 was
shown as a general fund interest expenditure amount and $23,000 was shown as a Town capital funds interest expenditure amount
for a total recorded interest expenditure amount of $44,660.  For the governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements, $44,660 was incurred as debt service interest expense.  This interest amount was increased by current fiscal year accrued
interest amounts of $10,489, decreased by the reversal of prior fiscal year accrued interest amounts of ($12,033) and decreased by
current fiscal year interest forgiveness of ($3,898) for a total recorded interest expense amount of $39,218.  For the business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements, $93,887 was incurred as debt service interest expense.  This interest amount
was increased by current fiscal year accrued interest amount of $44,460 and decreased by the reversal of prior fiscal year accrued
interest amount of ($51,790) for a total recorded interest expense amount of $86,557.

Note 9 - Net position balances - net investment in capital assets

The net investment in capital assets net position balance on the government-wide statement of net position consisted of the following
items as of June 30, 2020 for the primary government of the town as well as the discretely presented component unit of the town.
The business-type activities balances shown below can also be found within the fund financial statements on the proprietary funds
statement of net position.

Primary government Component unit

Governmental Business-type Volunteer
activities activities Total fire department

Recorded value of capital assets $ 80,153,044 $ 6,503,574 $ 86,656,618 $ 476,190
Less accumulated depreciation -46,035,842 -607,000 -46,642,842 -280,690
Book value of capital assets 34,117,202 5,896,574 40,013,776 195,500
Less capital assets related debt -1,159,160 -3,934,019 -5,093,179 -     

$ 32,958,042 $ 1,962,555 $ 34,920,597 $ 195,500
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Note 10 - Net position and fund balances - restricted

The Town has received a number of housing rehabilitation CDBG grants from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development.  The purpose of these grants is to provide assistance to low to moderate income residents for addressing housing
needs with a priority being placed on public health and safety code violations and to establish a permanent loan fund using the
proceeds described as follows.  Each resident receiving benefits under these grants is required to sign a deferred partially forgivable
promissory note.  These notes must be repaid to the Town as prescribed in the agreement with the proceeds being deposited into
the aforementioned loan fund and permanently used by the Town for other similar programs.  Program income including interest
income earned on repaid funds before the funds are reused must be deposited into this loan fund.  For all loans entered into through
June 30, 2015, the principal amount of the loan will automatically be reduced by 10% on each consecutive anniversary of the note
agreement for a maximum of 5 years or 50% of the original note balance.  This annual forgiven portion is shown as a miscellaneous
expenditure item and reduces the restricted net position balance in the government-wide financial statements and the restricted fund
balance in the fund financial statements.  For all loans entered into after June 30, 2015, the principal amount of the loan is not
forgivable.   The residual of this fund is accounted for as restricted net position and fund balance as the Town feels that the recorded
revenue has been earned and is both measurable and available to pay all applicable current liabilities of the program fund.  As of
June 30, 2020, the following balances represent the loan fund described above.

Cash and restricted cash $ 84,032
Notes receivable (net of allowance) 971,881
Restricted net position and restricted fund balance -1,055,913

$                    -     

Note 11 - Deficit fund balances

In accordance with GAAP, all deficit fund balances and their nature must be disclosed.  As of June 30, 2020, the town capital funds
major fund included one individual project cost center with a deficit fund balance.  The town bridges project fund 244 had a
unassigned deficit fund balance of ($796,256).  The town bridges project is currently being funded with short-term bond anticipation
notes but is also expected to be financed during an upcoming fiscal year with long-term bonds.  In addition, one individual project
within the capital non-recurring fund 220 had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($28,250).  This deficit related to the individual
account being used for the monthly capital lease payments for a fire truck purchase during the prior fiscal year.  During the current
fiscal year, the total annual lease payments amount was appropriated into this fund from the general fund though an additional
amount for this beginning balance deficit was not included.  This amount will be included in an upcoming fiscal year.  As of June
30, 2020, the small cities program fund 2015 grant agreement incurred a bank account inactivity fee charge resulting in a ($5) deficit
fund balance.  As of June 30, 2020, the town non-major special revenue funds included one individual school grant with unassigned
deficit fund balances.  The prior fiscal year Title II grant had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($35).  This grant deficit is
expected to be absorbed by future grant or miscellaneous revenues.  As of June 30, 2020, the town non-major permanent funds
included three individual funds which had unassigned deficit fund balances.  The Flora Williams scholarship fund had an
unassigned deficit fund balance of ($1,491), the Elizabeth Grant scholarship fund had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($802)
and the Royal O Woodard scholarship fund had an unassigned deficit balance of ($271) all three of which represent an expenditure
of the nonspendable portion of the fund balance.  These unassigned deficit fund balances may be funded through future investment
earnings or the deficits may continue depending on the amounts expended from the fund.  

Note 12 - On-behalf payments

The Town has recorded a revenue and expenditure for Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board Pension and OPEB
Contributions made by the State of Connecticut on-behalf of the Lebanon School Department teachers for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2020 in accordance with 10-183z of the Connecticut General Statutes which reflects public act 79-436 as amended.  For the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2020, the Town recognized on-behalf pension revenue and expense of $4,185,420 and on-behalf OPEB revenue
and expense of a negative ($388,914) for these benefits provided by the State of Connecticut for a total of $3,796,506.  These on-behalf
amounts were determined based on the most recent actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018.  These amounts were not budgeted for
in the general fund and results in a difference in reporting on a budgetary basis of accounting versus reporting under GAAP.  A
separate intergovernmental revenue and education expenditure in the amount of $3,796,506 have been included in the general fund
on Statement D (GAAP basis) and have not been reported in the detail of Statement E (budgetary basis).  There is no effect on fund
balance at the end of the fiscal year.  A separate operating grants and contributions revenue and education expense in the amount
of $3,796,506 have been included on Statement B.  There is no effect on the net position balance at the end of the fiscal year.
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Note 13 - Employees' retirement plans

Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System

Plan description - The Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System is a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee
retirement system established by the State of Connecticut and administered by the State Retirement Commission to provide pension
benefits to employees of participating municipalities. Chapters 7-425 to 7-451 of the State of Connecticut General Statutes, which
can be amended by legislative action, establishes plan benefits, member contribution rates and other plan provisions.  The plan is
considered to be part of the Sate of Connecticut’s financial reporting entity and is included in the State’s financial reports as a
pension trust fund. Those reports can be obtained at www.ct.gov.

Municipalities may designate which departments (including elective officers if so specified) are to be covered under the Connecticut
Municipal Employees Retirement System.  This designation may be the result of collective bargaining. Only employees covered
under the State Teachers Retirement System may not be included.  There are no minimum age or service requirements.  Membership
is mandatory for all regular full time employees of participating departments except Police and Fire hired after age 60.  The plan
is made up of the following four sub plans:

• General employees with social security
• General employees without social security
• Policemen and firemen with social security
• Policemen and firemen without social security

Benefits provided - The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits.  General employees are eligible to retire at age 55
with 5 years of continuous service, or 15 years of active aggregate service, or 25 years of aggregate service.  The compulsory
retirement age for police and fire members is age 65.  

Normal retirement - For members not covered by social security, the benefit is 2% of average final compensation times years of
service.  For members covered by social security, the benefit is 1 ½ % of the average final compensation not in excess of the year's
breakpoint plus 2% of average final compensation in excess of the year's breakpoint, times years of service.  The maximum benefit
is 100% of average final compensation and the minimum benefit is $1,000 annually. Both the minimum and the maximum include
workers' compensation and social security benefits.  If any member covered by social security retires before age 62, the benefit until
age 62 is reached or a social security disability award is received, the benefit is computed as if the member is not under social
security.  

Early retirement - Employees are eligible after 5 years of continuous or 15 years of active aggregate service.  The benefit is calculated
on the basis of average final compensation and service to date of termination.  Benefits are deferred to the normal retirement age,
or an actuarially reduced allowance may begin at the time of separation.  

Disability retirement - Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits from being permanently or totally disabled from
engaging in the service of the municipality provided such disability has arisen out of and in the course of employment with the
municipality.  Disability due to hypertension or heart disease, in the case of firemen and policemen, is presumed to have been
suffered in the line of duty. Disability benefits are calculated based on compensation and service to the date of the disability with
a minimum benefit (including workers' compensation benefits) of 50% of compensation at the time of disability.  Employees are
eligible for non-service-related disability benefits with 10 years of service and being permanently or totally disabled from engaging
in gainful employment in the service of the municipality. Disability benefits are calculated based on compensation and service to
the date of the disability.  

Pre-retirement death benefits - The plan offers a lump sum return of contributions with interest or surviving spouse benefit
depending on length of service.

Contribution requirements - Participating municipalities make annual contributions consisting of a normal cost contribution, a
contribution for the amortization of the net unfunded accrued liability and a prior service amortization payment which covers the
liabilities of the system not met by member contributions.  Employees not covered by social security are required to contribute 5%
of their compensation. Employees covered by social security are required to contribute 2.25% of their compensation up to the social
security taxable wage base plus 5% of compensation, if any, in excess of such base.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions -
At June 30, 2020, the Town is reporting a liability of $1,697,224 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net
pension liability was measured at June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018.  The Town’s proportion of the net pension liability was calculated based
upon the Town’s pro rata share of the 2019 actuarial (expected) payroll amounts as reported by participating employers.  Expected
payroll adjusts actual payroll for known changes in the status of employees, annualized salaries for partial year employees and
anticipated salary increases.  At June 30, 2019, the Town’s proportion was .459851 percent which was a decrease from the prior fiscal
year proportion amount of .548217 percent.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town’s actuarial determined pension expense as a percentage of the total plan pension expense
was $488,890.  At June 30, 2020, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 184,824 $ -152,975
Changes of assumptions 448,260 -     
Changes in proportional share of employer 58,382 -106,250
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 69,093 -     

760,559 -259,225
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 186,058 -     
  Total $ 946,617 $ -259,225

The $186,058 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the Town’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will
be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Fiscal year ended June 30:

2021 $ 219,060
2022 152,540
2023 178,112
2024 -48,378

$ 501,334

Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement.  The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018
valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2012 - June 30, 2017. 

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.50% to 10.00%, including inflation
Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
Future cost of living adjustments Future Cost-of-Living adjustments for members who retire on or after January

1, 2002 are 60% of the annual increase in the CPI up to 6%. The minimum
annual COLA is 2.5% and the maximum is 6%.

Mortality rates Mortality rates for the period after retirement and for dependent beneficiaries,
mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Combined Mortality Table adjusted
to 2006 and projected to 2015 with Scale MP-2017 and projected to 2022 with
Scale BB for General Employees and the RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table
adjusted to 2006 and projected to 2015 with Scale MP-2017 and projected to
2022 with Scale BB for Police and Fire. For disabled retirees, the RP-2014
Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2020 was used. The static
projection produces sufficient margin in the mortality rates to reflect future
improvement in our judgement.
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Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a statistical
analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate
of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the plan’s target asset allocation as
of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term
Target expected real

Asset class allocation rate of return

Domestic equity 20.0% 5.3%
Developed market international 11.0% 5.1%
Emerging market international 9.0% 7.4%
Core fixed income 16.0% 1.6%
Inflation linked bond 5.0% 1.3%
Emerging market debt 5.0% 2.9%
High yield bond 6.0% 3.4%
Real estate 10.0% 4.7%
Private equity 10.0% 7.3%
Alternative investments 7.0% 3.2%
Liquidity fund 1.0% 0.9%
Total 100.0%

Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%.  The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate.
Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liabilities to changes in the discount rate - The following
presents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point
lower (6.00%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease discount rate Increase
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)

Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 2,418,548 $ 1,697,224 $ 1,089,687

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued State of Connecticut Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2019 available at www.ct.gov. 

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements.
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Note 14 - Employees' retirement plans

Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System

Plan description - Teachers, principals, superintendents or supervisors engaged in service of public schools are provided with
pensions through the Connecticut State Teachers' Retirement System, a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the Teachers Retirement Board. Chapter 167a of the State Statutes grants authority to establish and amend the
benefit terms to the Teachers Retirement Board. The Teachers Retirement Board issues a publicly available financial report that can
be obtained at www.ct.gov. 

Benefits provided - The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Employees are eligible to retire at age 60 with 20
years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of credited service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut.  In
relation to normal retirement, retirement benefits for employees are calculated as 2% of the average annual salary times the years
of credited service (maximum benefit is 75% of average annual salary during the 3 years of highest salary).  In addition, amounts
derived from the accumulation of 1% contributions made prior to July 1, 1989 and voluntary contributions are payable.  In relation
to early retirement, employees are eligible after 25 years of credited service including 20 years of Connecticut service, or age 55 with
20 years of credited service including 15 years of Connecticut service. Benefit amounts are reduced by 6% per year for the first 5
years preceding normal retirement age and 4%, per year for the next 5 years preceding the normal retirement age. Effective July 1,
1999, the reduction for individuals with 30 or more years of service is 3% per year as retirement precedes normal retirement date.
In relation to disability retirement, employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service. Five
years of credited service is required for non-service related disability eligibility. Disability benefits are calculated as 2% of average
annual salary times credited service to date of disability, but not less than 15% of average annual salary, nor more than 50% of
average annual salary. In addition, disability benefits under this plan (without regard to cost-of-living adjustments) plus any initial
award of social security benefits and workers' compensation cannot exceed 75% of average annual salary.  

In relation to minimum benefits, effective January 1, 1999, Public Act 98-251 provides a minimum monthly retirement benefit of
$1,200 to teachers who retire under the Normal Benefit provisions and who have completed at least 25 years of full time Connecticut
service at retirement. In relation to prorated benefits, A plan member who leaves service and has attained 10 years of service will
be entitled to 100% of the accrued benefit as of the date of termination of covered employment.  Benefits are payable at age 60 and
early retirement reductions are based on the number of years of service the member would have had if they had continued to work
until age 60.  In relation to pre-retirement death benefits, the plan also offers a lump sum return of contribution with interest or
surviving spouse benefit depending on the length of service.

Contribution requirements - Per Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-183z (which reflects Public Act 79-436 as amended),
contribution requirements of active employees and the State of Connecticut are approved, amended and certified by the State
Teachers Retirement Board and appropriated by the General Assembly. The statutes require the State of Connecticut to contribute
100% of each school districts' required contributions, which are actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with
employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of the benefits earned by employees during the year, with any additional
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  School District employers are not required to make contributions to the plan.
Effective July 1, 1992, each teacher is required to contribute 6% of salary for the pension benefit.   Effective January 1, 2018, the
required contribution increased to 7% of the pensionable salary.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions -
The Town reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows due
to the statutory requirement that the State pay 100%, of the required contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as its
proportionate share of the net pension liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net pension liability that was
associated with the Town were as follows.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018.  At June 30, 2020, the Town
has no proportionate share of the net pension liability.  For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Town recognized pension revenue and
expense of $4,185,420 for on-behalf amounts for the benefits provided by the State. 

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability $                        -     
State's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the Town 34,078,497
  Total $ 34,078,497
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Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation
Investment rate of return 6.90%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
Administrative expenses $0 assumption as expenses are paid for by the General Assembly
Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and

annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using the BB
improvement scale

Future cost-of-living increases for teachers who retired prior to September 1, 1992, are made in accordance with increases in the
Consumer Price Index, with a minimum of 3% and a maximum of 5% per annum. For teachers who were members of the Teachers’
Retirement System before July 1, 2007, and retire on or after September 1, 1992, pension benefit adjustments are made that are
consistent with those provided for Social Security benefits on January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 6% per annum. If
the return on assets in the previous year was less than 8.5%, the maximum increase is 1.5%. For teachers who were members of the
Teachers’ Retirement System after July 1, 2007, pension benefit adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for
Social Security benefits on January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 5% per annum. If the return on assets in the previous
year was less than 11.5%, the maximum increase is 3%, and if the return on the assets in the previous year was less than 8.5%, the
maximum increase is 1.0%.

Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding
expected inflation. The current capital market assumptions and the target asset allocation as provided by the Treasurers office are
summarized in the following table.  The geometric rates of expected return shown in the following table are nominal returns net
of investment expenses. 

Expected Target Standard
Asset class return allocation deviation

Public equity - U.S. equity 8.1% 20.0% 17.0%
Public equity - International developed equity 8.5% 11.0% 19.0%
Public equity - Emerging markets equity 10.4% 9.0% 24.0%
Fixed income - Core fixed income 4.6% 16.0% 7.0%
Fixed income - Inflation linked bonds 3.6% 5.0% 7.0%
Fixed income - High yield 6.5% 6.0% 11.0%
Fixed income - Emerging market debt 5.2% 5.0% 11.0%
Private equity 9.8% 10.0% 23.0%
Real estate 7.0% 10.0% 15.0%
Alternative investments - Real assets 8.2% 4.0% 17.0%
Alternative investments - Hedge funds 5.4% 3.0% 7.0%
Liquidity fund 2.9% 1.0% 1.0%

Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that State
contributions will be made at the actuarially determined contribution rates in the future years. Based on those assumptions, the
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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Sensitivity of the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liabilities to changes in the discount rate - The Town’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability is $0 and, therefore, the change in the discount rate would only impact the amount
recorded by the State of Connecticut. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued financial statements available at www.ct.gov. 

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements. A schedule of contributions is not presented as the Town has no obligation to contribute to the plan. 

Note 15 - Other Post Employment Benefits - OPEB

Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System

Plan description - The faculty and professional personnel of the Town’s Board of Education participates in the State of Connecticut’s
Teachers’ Retirement System (“TRS”), which is a cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan that provides
retirement, disability, survivorship and health insurance benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. The TRS is governed by
Connecticut General Statue (“CGS”) Title 10, Chapter 167a and is administered by the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board
(the “Board”). The OPEB trust fund is included in the TRS, and the TRS is included in the State of Connecticut audit as a pension
trust fund.

Benefits provided - The Plan covers retired teachers and administrators of public schools in the State who are receiving benefits
from the Plan. The Plan provides healthcare insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses. Any member that is currently
receiving a retirement or disability benefit through the Plan is eligible to participate in the healthcare portion of the Plan.  Subsidized
Local School District Coverage provides a subsidy paid to members still receiving coverage through their former employer and the
TRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans provide coverage for those participating in Medicare, but not receiving Subsidized
Local School District Coverage.  

Any member that is not currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to continue health care coverage with their former
employer. A subsidy of up to $110 per month for a retired member plus an additional $110 per month for a spouse enrolled in a local
school district plan is provided to the school district to first offset the retiree’s share of the cost of coverage, any remaining portion
is used to offset the district’s cost. The subsidy amount is set by statute, and has not increased since July of 1996. A subsidy amount
of $220 per month may be paid for a retired member, spouse or the surviving spouse of a member who has attained the normal
retirement age to participate in Medicare, is not eligible for Part A of Medicare without cost, and contributes at least $220 per month
towards coverage under a local school district plan.  

Any member that is currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to either continue health care coverage with their
former employer, if offered, or enroll in the plan sponsored by the System. If they elect to remain in the plan with their former
employer, the same subsidies as above will be paid to offset the cost of coverage. If a member participating in Medicare Parts A &
B so elects, they may enroll in one of the CTRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans. Active members, retirees, and the State
pay equally toward the cost of the basic coverage (medical and prescription drug benefits).  Employees are eligible to retire at age
60 with 20 years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of credited service including at least 25 years of service in
Connecticut.

Contributions - Per CGS 10-183z, (which reflects Public Act 79-436 as amended), contribution requirements of active employees
and the State of Connecticut are amended and certified by the TRB and appropriated by the General Assembly. The State pays for
one third of plan costs through and annual appropriation in the General Fund. School district employers are not required to make
contributions to the Plan.  The cost of providing plan benefits is financed on a pay as you go basis as follows: active teachers’ pay
for one third of the Plan costs through a contribution of 1.25% of their pensionable salaries, and retired teachers pay for one third
of the Plan costs through monthly premiums, which helps reduce the cost of health insurance for eligible retired members and
dependents.  Administrative costs of the Plan are to be paid by the General Assembly per Section 10-183r of the Connecticut General
Statutes.



51

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 
Notes to the basic financial statements

June 30, 2020

OPEB liabilities, OPEB expense, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB - The Town
reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows due to the
statutory requirement that the State pay 100%, of the required contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as its
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net OPEB liability that was
associated with the Town were as follows.  The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018.  At June 30, 2020, the Town
has no proportionate share of the net OPEB liability.  For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Town recognized OPEB revenue and
expense of a negative ($388,914) for on-behalf amounts for the benefits provided by the State. 

Town's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $                        -     
State's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability associated with the Town 5,314,734
  Total $ 5,314,734

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.50%
Real wage growth 0.75%
Wage inflation 3.25%
Salary increases 3.25% - 6.50%, including inflation
Long-term investment rate of return 3.00%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation
Discount rate 3.50% as of June 30, 2019 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-

Bond Municipal Index rate as of the measurement date
Healthcare cost trend rates: Pre-medicare 5.95% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.75% by 2025

Medicare 5.00% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.75% by 2028
Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee

and annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using
the BB improvement scale.

Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the GASB 75 valuation process.
Several factors are considered in evaluation the long-term rate of return assumption, including the Plan’s current asset allocations
and a log-normal distribution analysis using the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net
of investment expense and inflation) for each major asset class.  The long-term expected rate of return was determined by weighing
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation.  The assumption
is not expected to change absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental
change in the market that alters expected returns in future years.  The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Expected 10-Year
Target geometric real Standard

Asset class allocation rate of return deviation

U.S. Treasuries (cash equivalents) 100.0% 0.41% 2.31%

Price inflation 2.50%

Expected rate of return (rounded nearest 0.25%) 3.00%
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Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.50%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate was performed in accordance with GASB 75. The projection’s basis was an actuarial valuation performed as of June
30, 2018. In addition to the actuarial methods and assumptions of the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation, the following actuarial
methods and assumptions were used in the projection of cash flows:

• Total payroll for the initial projection year consists of the payroll of the active membership present on the valuation date. In
subsequent projection years, total payroll was assumed to increase annual at a rate of 3.25%.

• Employee contributions were assumed to be made at the current member contribution rate.
• Employee contributions for future plan members were used to reduce the estimated amount of total service costs for future

plan members.
• No future employer contributions were assumed to be made.

Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be depleted in 2019 and, as a result, the Municipal
Bond Index Rate was used in the determination of the single equivalent rate.

Sensitivity of the Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate and changes in the
healthcare cost trend rates - The Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability is $0 and, therefore, the change in the discount
rate and the healthcare cost trend rates would only impact the amount recorded by the State of Connecticut. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position and other information - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued financial statements available at www.ct.gov. 

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements. A schedule of contributions is not presented as the Town has no obligation to contribute to the plan. 

Note 16 - Other Post Employment Benefits - OPEB

Post-Retirement Healthcare Plan

Plan description - The Board of Education of the Town provides a single employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the “Plan”) to
its employees upon retirement in the form of the ability to be part of the health insurance plan while paying the full amount of the
premium charged for active employees and receiving no physical subsidy from the Town.  As a result, the Town does not have an
explicit liability for these post-employment benefits because retirees pay the full health insurance premium.  However, the Town
does have an implicit rate subsidy that recognizes the expected higher health costs attributed to retirees.  The provisions of the Plan
were established by the Board of Education along with the respective bargaining units of each group in conjunction with all
applicable state statutes.  The Plan therefore would be amended through the action of these same groups.  These benefits will
continue for the life of the retiree and the retiree’s spouse once they are a part of the Plan. The Plan does not issue a publicly available
financial report and is not included in the financial statements of another entity.

Benefits provided - The OPEB Plan provides a benefit for retired teachers and administrators.  Non-certified Board employees are
eligible to participate in the Plan upon reaching age 55 with at least 5 years of service or upon 25 years of service.  Both the retiree
and the retiree’s spouse are eligible to participate in the Plan and they must pay 100% of the cost for medical coverage.  A number
of different plan coverages are available.  Certified Board employees are eligible to participate in the Plan upon reaching age 50 with
at least 25 years of service, age 55 with at least 20 years of service or age 60 with at least 10 years of service.  Both the retiree and the
retiree’s spouse are eligible to participate in the Plan and they must pay 100% of the cost for medical coverage.  A number of
different plan coverages are available.  Surviving spouses are permitted to continue coverage after the death of the retiree, but are
responsible for continuing to pay the same monthly premium amount or percentage that was being paid while the retiree was alive.
The funding and payment for these postemployment benefits are accounted for within the Board of Education budget within the
general fund of the Town on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
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Employees covered by benefit terms - The following employees were covered by the benefit terms of the Plan as of July 1, 2018,
the date of the last actuarial valuation.  

Participant
count

Active plan members 134
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 8
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0

142

Total OPEB liability - The Town’s total OPEB liability was $3,042,204 as of June 30, 2020.  The July 1, 2018 actuarial valuation
directly calculated the July 1, 2018 liability.  The July 1, 2018 liability was increased by service cost and interest and decreased by
benefit payments to estimate the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020.  The liability as of June 30, 2020 was also adjusted to reflect
any material plan changes after the valuation, if applicable.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020 was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified.  

Actuarial valuation date July 1, 2018 as adjusted for June 30, 2020 reporting
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Amortization method Level percentage of salary
Amortization period 30 years on an open basis, as a level dollar amount
Asset valuation method Not applicable as this is an unfunded plan
Actuarial assumptions
  Inflation 2.60%
  Discount rate 2.21% as of June 30, 2020 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond

Municipal Index effective as of June 30, 2020.
  Rate of compensation increase 2.60%
  Healthcare cost trend rates 7.00% for 2018, decreasing .50% per year, to an ultimate rate of 4.60% for 2023 and

later
  Mortality rates RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected to valuation date

with Scale MP-2018

Changes in the total OPEB liability - The changes in the total OPEB liability of the Plan are made up of the following items as of
June 30, 2020:

Total OPEB
liability

Balance as of June 30, 2019 $ 2,616,754

Changes for the year:
  Service cost 50,453
  Interest 91,815
  Differences between expected and actual experience -13,615
  Changes of benefit terms -     
  Changes of assumptions 400,482
  Benefit payments -103,685
    Net changes 425,450

Balance as of June 30, 2020 $ 3,042,204
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Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate - The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Town,
as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower
(1.21%) or 1 percentage point higher (3.21%) than the current discount rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease discount rate Increase
(1.21%) (2.21%) (3.21%)

Total OPEB liability $ 3,414,700 $ 3,042,204 $ 2,726,855

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates - The following presents the total OPEB liability
of the Town, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are
1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Current 1%
Decrease trend rates Increase

(6.00% decreasing (7.00% decreasing (8.00% decreasing
to 3.60%) to 4.60%) to 5.60%)

Total OPEB liability $ 2,726,445 $ 3,042,204 $ 3,421,840

OPEB expense and Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB - For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Town’s
actuarial determined OPEB expense was a positive $131,451.  At June 30, 2020, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $                        -     $ -179,480
Changes of assumptions 433,320 -61,292
  Total $ 433,320 $ -240,772

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in the
actuarial determined OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal year ended June 30:

2021 $ 4,689
2022 4,689
2023 4,689
2024 4,689
2025 14,457
Thereafter 159,335

$ 192,548

Note 17 - Subsequent events

The Town has evaluated subsequent events through February 19, 2021, the date to which the financial statements were available
to be issued.  The Town entered into a bond anticipation note agreement dated July 9, 2020 to provide interim funding for the town
bridges project.  The amount of the note is $2,000,000 with a maturity date of July 8, 2021 and interest at a rate of 1.49%.



55

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 
Notes to the basic financial statements

June 30, 2020

Note 18 - Risk management, commitments and contingencies

The Town is at risk of loss due to items such as lawsuits, automobile claims, and theft.  The Town has purchased commercial
insurance coverage for any of these types of loss which may occur.  The Town believes the amounts of coverage in force are adequate
and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  The Town is a member in the Connecticut Inter-local Risk
Management Agency (CIRMA), a public entity risk management program pursuant to the provisions of Section 7-479a of the
Connecticut General Statutes for workers compensation pool coverage.  The Town pays annual premiums for its coverage.  CIRMA
is designed to be self-sustaining through member premium’s, however it does reinsure for each claim occurrence in excess of
$1,000,000.  Members may be subject to supplemental assessments in the event of fund deficiencies, however, these potential
supplemental assessments are limited pursuant to its by-laws.  The Town has not had any significant reductions in insurance
coverage from the prior fiscal year by major category of risk.  The amount of settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage
during any of the previous three fiscal years.  Town management and legal counsel are unaware of any litigation, pending litigation,
claims or disputes that would have a direct and material affect on the Town’s financial position.

The Town and Board of Education of the Town  lease a number of photocopiers under lease agreements which are classified as
operating leases.  The first lease agreement for the school is for a period of five years through June of 2023 with monthly payments
of $946 which equals annual payments of $11,352.  The second lease agreement for the school is for a period of five years through
September of 2020 with monthly payments of $1,165 which equals annual payments of $13,980.  This lease agreement was extended
for one year through October of 2021 with monthly payments of $1,138 which equals annual payments of $13,656.  The first lease
agreement for the town is for a period of five years through February of 2022 with monthly payments of $246 which equals annual
payments of $2,952.  The second lease agreement for the town is for a period of five years through February of 2023 with monthly
payments of $236 which equals annual payments of $2,832.  The third lease agreement for the town is for a period of five years
through July of 2020 with monthly payments of $210 which equals annual payments of $2,520.  The Town and the Board of
Education have a number of other immaterial operating type lease agreements which have not been included here.

The Board of Education has entered into a number of maintenance and service agreements prior to the end of the current fiscal year
which extend beyond the end of the current fiscal year.  The Board entered into a bus transportation agreement for the purpose of
providing transportation services for the school children of the Town of Lebanon in compliance with local policies and legal
requirements.  This agreement includes both type I and type II buses as outlined in the agreement and runs from July 1, 2018 through
June 30, 2023.  Payment terms are based on specific daily and hourly rates for regular route hours and trips and non-route hours
and trips, however, the base annual contact amounts included in the agreement are $824,906, $853,785, $883,651, $918,135 and
$953,923, respectively.  The Board entered into a three year boiler maintenance agreement through June 30, 2022 at annual costs of
$13,752, $13,752 and $14,165, respectively.  The Board entered into a three year preventive maintenance agreement through June
30, 2022 at annual costs of $17,304, $17,304 and $18,336, respectively.  The Board entered into a one year turf and landscaping
contract through June 30, 2021 at an annual cost of $50,900.  The Board entered into three year refuse and recycling agreements
through June 30, 2021 relating to each of the three schools at a combined annual base cost of $25,092.  The Board entered into a one
year agreement through June 30, 2017 with the option of four additional one year renewal periods for management services related
to the school lunch program.  Under the fourth one year renewal period, the monthly management fee is $555 for ten months at a
total cost of $5,555 and a monthly administrative fee of $2,226 for ten months at a total cost of $22,226 through June 30, 2021.  The
Board entered into a one year facilities management system, system support services and temperature control agreement through
June 30, 2020 at a cost of $17,568.  This contract renews on a year after year basis until terminated and was renewed through June
30, 2021 at the same annual fee. 

The Town has entered into a number of maintenance and service agreements prior to the end of the current fiscal year which extend
beyond the end of the current fiscal year.  The Town entered into a one year mowing and grounds maintenance of town buildings
and property contract through December 1, 2020 at a cost of $16,000.  The Town entered into a two year cemetery maintenance
contract through January 1, 2021 at annual costs of $18,500 and $19,000.  The Town entered into a nine month mowing and trimming
contract for athletic fields through December 1, 2020 at a base cost of $9,812.  The town clerks office entered into a three year hosted
services contract through August 31, 2022 with monthly payments of $1,215 at annual costs of $14,580.  The Town entered into an
open ended cleaning services contract for town community facilities at a cost of $1,995 per month.  The Town and the Board of
Education entered into a one year agreement through June 30, 2021 to purchase heating oil, diesel fuel and gasoline at agreed upon
per gallon rates, excluding applicable taxes, for a specified minimum number of gallons.  Heating fuel will be purchased at a rate
of $1.99 for a contract allocation of 96,200 gallons or $191,438.  Diesel fuel will be purchase at a rate of $1.9935 for a contract
allocation of 45,000 gallons or $89,707.  Gasoline will be purchased at a rate of $1.7795 for a contract allocation of 12,000 gallons or
$21,354.  If gallons purchased exceed 100% of the gallons allocated or are less then 98% of the gallons allocated, the contract provides
options for the vendor for either selling additional gallons or billing the town for the unused and un-lifted volume.  The town has
entered into an architectural services contract in relation to additions and renovations to the Jonathan Trumbull Library.  The
contract is dated in September of 2020 in the amount of $310,000 with $15,500 being billed as of June 30, 2020.



56

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 
Notes to the basic financial statements

June 30, 2020

The Town and Board of Education have a number of other smaller contracts and maintenance and service agreements.  These
agreements are considered individually immaterial.  Additional information on these contracts and other agreements can be found
at the administrative offices of both the Town and the Board of Education.

The Town currently has an agreement with a vendor to provide certain services in relation to the Water Pollution Control Authority.
Invoices for these services are submitted on a monthly basis.  As of June 30, 2020, eight invoices have been submitted that were not
paid in full by the Town.  These invoices are for periods ranging from December of 2018 through June of 2020 and total $19,426.
Five invoices which have been submitted subsequent to the end of the current fiscal year through November of 2020 were also not
paid in full by the Town in an additional total amount of $32,230.  An agreement regarding the status of these unpaid balances has
not yet been reached between the Town and the vendor.

The Town participates in numerous Federal and State grant programs, which are governed by various rules and regulations of the
grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies;
therefore, to the extent that the Town has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of any monies
received as of and through June 30, 2020 may be impaired.  In the opinion of the management of the Town, there are no unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants, therefore,
no provision has been recorded in the accompanying basic financial statements for such possible contingencies.  In addition, the
Town occasionally books unbilled accounts receivable representing earned or recognized grant or contract dollars which have not
yet been billed or received.  Any subsequent modification or amendments to these grants or contracts could result in a loss to the
Town.  However, in the opinion of the management of the Town there are no unrecorded significant contingent liabilities in regard
to these unbilled accounts receivable. 

Note 19 - COVID-19 pandemic

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 coronavirus to be a public health emergency.  On
March 10, 2020, the Governor of the State of Connecticut declared a public health emergency and a civil preparedness emergency
due to COVID-19.  The Town derives a significant portion of its revenues from property taxes.  While the Town has not experienced
any significant increase in the amount of delinquency from its taxpayers, the situation creates uncertainty about the impact of future
revenues that might be generated by the Town.  In addition, at this time, it is uncertain what the effects of the pandemic will be on
the Town’s health insurance costs, changes in interest rates and future federal and state fiscal relief.

Note 20 - Recently issued accounting standards not yet effective

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance
regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should
be reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of
the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with
whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment
benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period
beginning July 1, 2019.  Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. 95, Postponement of the
Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance which delayed the effective date of this statement by one year.  The Town has not yet
determined the impact that this statement might have on its financial statements.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of
financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment
provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are
financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.  The requirements of this statement
are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2020.  Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB
issued Statement No. 95 which delayed the effective date of this statement by one and a half years.  The Town has not yet
determined the impact that this statement might have on its financial statements.
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In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period. The
objectives of this Statement are (a) to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of
borrowing for a reporting period and (b) to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period.
The requirements of this Statement should be applied prospectively and are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning
July 1, 2020.  Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. 95 which delayed the effective date
of this statement by one year.  The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests  - An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No.
61.  The objectives of this statement are to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting a government’ majority equity
interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component
units.  The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2019.  Because of the
COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. 95 which delayed the effective date of this statement by one year.
The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations.  The objectives of this statement are to provide a single
method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments
extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures.  This statement
achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation
is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary
commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note
disclosures.  The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2021.  Because of the
COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. 95 which delayed the effective date of this statement by one year.
The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020.  The objectives of this Statement are to enhance comparability
in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that
have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements.  This Statement addresses a variety of
topics, each with a different effective date ranging from being effective on issuance to being for the Town’s reporting period
beginning July 1, 2020.  Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. 95 which delayed each
of the effective dates of this statement by one year.  The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial
statements.

In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates. Some governments have entered into
agreements in which variable payments made or received depend on an interbank offered rate (IBOR)—most notably, the London
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). As a result of global reference rate reform, LIBOR is expected to cease to exist in its current form
at the end of 2021, prompting governments to amend or replace financial instruments for the purpose of replacing LIBOR with other
reference rates, by either changing the reference rate or adding or changing fallback provisions related to the reference rate.  The
objective of this Statement is to address those and other accounting and financial reporting implications that result from the
replacement of an IBOR. The removal of LIBOR as an appropriate benchmark interest rate is effective for reporting periods ending
after December 31, 2021.  All other requirements of this Statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1,
2020.  Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the GASB issued Statement No. which delayed the effective date of this
statement by one year.  The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements.
The primary objective of this Statement is to improve financial reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and public-
public partnership arrangements (PPPs).  The requirements of this Statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning
July 1, 2022.  The Town does not expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.
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RSI-1
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability

Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Town’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.459851% 0.548217% 0.513251% 0.513251% 0.479839% 0.479839%

Town’s proportionate share of the net pension

  liability $ 1,697,224 $ 2,096,705 $ 848,408 $ 1,007,396 $ 656,951 $ 465,732

Town’s covered-employee payroll $ 1,308,427 $ 1,428,633 $ 1,395,698 $ 1,330,633 $ 1,250,271 $ 1,234,868

Town’s proportion share of the net pension

  liability as a percentage of its covered payroll 129.71% 146.76% 60.79% 75.71% 52.54% 37.72%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

  the total pension liability 72.69% 73.60% 91.68% 88.29% 92.72% 90.48%

Notes to schedule:

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

There were no changes in benefit terms.  The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period

July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2017.

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent reported contributions:

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.50% to 10.00%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Future cost of living adjustments Future Cost-of-Living adjustments for members who retire on or after January 1, 2002 are 60% of the annual increase in the CPI up to 6%.

The minimum annual COLA is 2.5% and the maximum is 6%

Mortality rates Mortality rates for the period after retirement and for dependent beneficiaries, mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Combined

Mortality Table adjusted to 2006 and projected to 2015 with Scale MP-2017 and projected to 2022 with Scale BB for General Employees

and the RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table adjusted to 2006 and projected to 2015 with Scale MP-2017 and projected to 2022 with Scale

BB for Police and Fire. For disabled retirees, the RP-2014 Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2020 was used. The static

projection produces sufficient margin in the mortality rates to reflect future improvement in our judgement.
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RSI-2
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of Town contributions

Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution $ 186,058 $ 167,721 $ 163,855 $ 151,426 $ 142,281 $ 147,937

Contributions in relation to the contractually

 required contribution -186,058 -167,721 -163,855 -151,426 -142,281 -147,937

Contribution deficiency (excess) $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     

Town’s covered-employee payroll $ 1,308,427 $ 1,428,633 $ 1,395,698 $ 1,330,633 $ 1,250,271 $ 1,234,868

Contributions as a percentage of covered

  employee payroll 14.22% 11.74% 11.74% 11.38% 11.38% 11.98%
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RSI-3
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability

Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Town’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Town’s proportionate share of the net pension

  liability $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     $            -     

State’s proportionate share of the net pension

  liability associated with the Town 34,078,497 26,276,501 23,087,407 24,357,391 21,730,557 20,085,545

Total $ 34,078,497 $ 26,276,501 $ 23,087,407 $ 24,357,391 $ 21,730,557 $ 20,085,545

Town’s covered-employee payroll $ 8,762,096 $ 8,626,240 $ 7,317,885 $ 7,053,387 $ 8,077,364 $ 7,785,412

Town’s proportion share of the net pension

  liability as a percentage of its covered payroll 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

  the total pension liability 52.00% 57.69% 55.93% 52.26% 59.50% 61.51%

Notes to schedule:

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

There were no changes to benefit terms.  The discount rate was decreased from 8.00% to 6.90% as was the investment rate of return.  The expected rate of inflation was decreased

from 2.75% to 2.50%

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent reported contributions:

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 6.90%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Administrative expenses $0 assumption as expenses are paid for by the General Assembly

Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80,

projected to the year 2020 using the BB improvement scale
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RSI-4
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2020 2019 2018

Town’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $            -     $            -     $            -     

State’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
  associated with the Town 5,314,734 5,252,871 5,942,421

Total $ 5,314,734 $ 5,252,871 $ 5,942,421

Town’s covered-employee payroll $ 8,762,096 $ 8,626,240 $ 7,317,885

Town’s proportion share of the net OPEB liability
  as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
  the total pension liability 2.08% 1.49% 1.79%

Notes to schedule:

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

There were no changes in benefit terms.  The discount rate decreased from 3.87% to 3.50% to reflect the change in the Municipal
Bond Index rate.  Expected annual per capita claims costs were updated to better reflect anticipated medical and prescription drug
claim experience both before and after the plan change that became effective on January 1, 2019. Further, the expected rate of
inflation was decreased from 2.75% to 2.50% and the Real Wage Growth assumption was increased from .50% to .75%.  

Methods and assumptions used in calculations of actuarial determined contributions:

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent contributions reported in that schedule:

Inflation 2.50%
Real wage growth 0.75%
Wage inflation 3.25%
Salary increases 3.25% - 6.50%, including inflation
Long-term investment rate of return 3.00%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation
Discount rate 3.50% as of June 30, 2019 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-

Bond Municipal Index rate as of the measurement date
Healthcare cost trend rates: Pre-medicare 5.95% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.75% by 2025

Medicare 5.00% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.75% by 2028
Mortality rates: Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee

and annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using
the BB improvement scale.
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RSI-5
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of changes in total OPEB liability
Post-Retirement Healthcare Plan

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB liability

Service cost $ 50,453 $ 72,682 $ 72,176
Interest 91,815 123,385 115,194
Differences between expected and actual experience -13,615 -184,483 -17,430
Changes of benefit terms -     -536,637 -     
Changes of assumptions 400,482 74,460 -103,082
Benefit payments -103,685 -95,519 -98,183

Net change in total OPEB liability 425,450 -546,112 -31,325

Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,616,754 3,162,866 3,194,191

Total OPEB liability - ending $ 3,042,204 $ 2,616,754 $ 3,162,866

Covered payroll $ 10,521,286 $ 10,254,665 $ 8,420,700

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 28.91% 25.52% 37.56%
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Schedule A
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major governmental funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Non-major Non-major Non-major
special revenue capital project permanent

funds fund funds Totals

Assets

Cash $ 766,718 $                  -     $ 7,564 $ 774,282
Investments 14,962 -     358,729 373,691
Receivables 132,668 -     -     132,668
Inventory and prepaids 19,763 -     -     19,763
Due from other funds 1,162,365 24,781 16,308 1,203,454
  Total assets 2,096,476 24,781 382,601 2,503,858

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 115,449 -     11,244 126,693
Other liabilities 900 -     -     900
Due to other funds 597,365 -     1,667 599,032
  Total liabilities 713,714 -     12,911 726,625

Fund balance
Nonspendable 19,763 -     319,272 339,035
Restricted 480,180 -     52,982 533,162
Committed 654,203 24,781 -     678,984
Assigned 228,638 -     -     228,638
Unassigned -22 -     -2,564 -2,586
  Total fund balance 1,382,762 24,781 369,690 1,777,233

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 2,096,476 $ 24,781 $ 382,601 $ 2,503,858

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ 1,323,012 $                  -     $                  -     $ 1,323,012
Interest and investment earnings 1,448 -     2,329 3,777
Charges for services 177,844 -     -     177,844
Miscellaneous 133,577 3,975 -     137,552
  Total revenues 1,635,881 3,975 2,329 1,642,185

Expenditures
Salary and wages 731,973 -     -     731,973
Program operating costs 1,422,769 10,990 11,244 1,445,003
Capital expenditures 55,829 -     -     55,829
  Total expenditures 2,210,571 10,990 11,244 2,232,805

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -574,690 -7,015 -8,915 -590,620

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 844,146 -     -     844,146
  Transfers out -     -     -1,059 -1,059
Total other financing sources (uses) 844,146 -     -1,059 843,087

Net change in fund balance 269,456 -7,015 -9,974 252,467

Fund balance - July 1 1,113,306 31,796 379,664 1,524,766

Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,382,762 $ 24,781 $ 369,690 $ 1,777,233
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Schedule B
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Lebanon Krause Lebanon Jonathan Adams
public library recreation Trumbull Jr. community
library donation commission house center

fund - 213 fund - 213 fund - 206 fund - 215 fund - 204

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $ 13,616 $ 6,514 $                    -     
Investments -     -     -     -     -     
Receivables -     -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 231,408 368 14,018 -     85,329
  Total assets 231,408 368 27,634 6,514 85,329

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 13,704 -     4,565 -     228
Other liabilities 900 -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     6,501 -     
  Total liabilities 14,604 -     4,565 6,501 228

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     -     
Restricted -     368 -     -     -     
Committed 216,804 -     23,069 -     85,101
Assigned -     -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     13 -     
  Total fund balance 216,804 368 23,069 13 85,101

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 231,408 $ 368 $ 27,634 $ 6,514 $ 85,329

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ 1,507 $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     -     6 576 -     
Charges for services -     -     27,277 -     1,650
Miscellaneous 5,173 -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 6,680 -     27,283 576 1,650

Expenditures
Wages and benefits 235,174 -     38,761 5,895 -     
Program operating costs 78,934 2,866 43,404 39,350 13,001
Capital expenditures -     -     2,383 -     -     
  Total expenditures 314,108 2,866 84,548 45,245 13,001

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -307,428 -2,866 -57,265 -44,669 -11,351

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 349,228 -     62,388 11,394 27,435
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) 349,228 -     62,388 11,394 27,435

Net change in fund balance 41,800 -2,866 5,123 -33,275 16,084

Fund balance - July 1 175,004 3,234 17,946 33,288 69,017

Fund balance - June 30 $ 216,804 $ 368 $ 23,069 $ 13 $ 85,101
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Town Senior Lathrop
improvement Bright vans senior vans Lebanon

program idea grant program donation dog fund
fund - 208 fund - 208 fund - 221 fund - 231 fund - 205

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $ 155 $                    -     $                    -     
Investments -     -     -     2,992 -     
Receivables 1,939 -     468 -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 171,371 2,803 72,743 413 6,586
  Total assets 173,310 2,803 73,366 3,405 6,586

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 5,074 -     153 -     191
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities 5,074 -     153 -     191

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     -     
Restricted -     2,803 -     -     -     
Committed 168,236 -     73,213 -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     3,405 6,395
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 168,236 2,803 73,213 3,405 6,395

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 173,310 $ 2,803 $ 73,366 $ 3,405 $ 6,586

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $ 21,731 $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     -     -     19 -     
Charges for services -     -     1,904 -     2,615
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues -     -     23,635 19 2,615

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     49,687 -     -     
Program operating costs 51,251 -     22,611 -     23,713
Capital expenditures 46,246 -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 97,497 -     72,298 -     23,713

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -97,497 -     -48,663 19 -21,098

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 160,000 -     70,000 -     18,658
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) 160,000 -     70,000 -     18,658

Net change in fund balance 62,503 -     21,337 19 -2,440

Fund balance - July 1 105,733 2,803 51,876 3,386 8,835

Fund balance - June 30 $ 168,236 $ 2,803 $ 73,213 $ 3,405 $ 6,395
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

School Town clerk Town clerk Town clerk
Trumbull lunch historic mers locip
donations program document fees document fees surcharge
fund - 218 n/a account - 2214 account - 2214 account - 2215

Assets

Cash $                    -     $ 39,681 $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments -     -     -     -     -     
Receivables -     74,294 -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     18,013 -     -     -     
Due from other funds 246,479 889 30,336 8,000 21,988
  Total assets 246,479 132,877 30,336 8,000 21,988

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 1,379 51,226 -     -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities 1,379 51,226 -     -     -     

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     18,013 -     -     -     
Restricted 245,100 -     30,336 8,000 21,988
Committed -     -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     63,638 -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 245,100 81,651 30,336 8,000 21,988

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 246,479 $ 132,877 $ 30,336 $ 8,000 $ 21,988

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $ 252,264 $ 5,500 $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     5 -     -     -     
Charges for services -     134,650 2,774 1,700 2,724
Miscellaneous 12,000 889 -     -     -     
  Total revenues 12,000 387,808 8,274 1,700 2,724

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs 17,124 344,276 5,500 -     17,868
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 17,124 344,276 5,500 -     17,868

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -5,124 43,532 2,774 1,700 -15,144

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -     -     -     

Net change in fund balance -5,124 43,532 2,774 1,700 -15,144

Fund balance - July 1 250,224 38,119 27,562 6,300 37,132

Fund balance - June 30 $ 245,100 $ 81,651 $ 30,336 $ 8,000 $ 21,988
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Unimproved Agriculture Connecticut Warm hearts
town roads viability Emergency fair plan donations

grant grant management grant program
fund - 207 account - 2217 fund - 228 account - 4374 fund - 209

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments -     -     -     -     -     
Receivables -     -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 40,504 -     2,589 -     94,710
  Total assets 40,504 -     2,589 -     94,710

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 1,604 -     350 -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities 1,604 -     350 -     -     

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     -     
Restricted 38,900 -     -     -     94,710
Committed -     -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     2,239 -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 38,900 -     2,239 -     94,710

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 40,504 $                    -     $ 2,589 $                    -     $ 94,710

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ 38,269 $ 13,470 $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     -     -     -     -     
Charges for services -     -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     500 18,298
  Total revenues 38,269 13,470 -     500 18,298

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     3,138 -     -     
Program operating costs 7,088 13,470 841 500 6,499
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 7,088 13,470 3,979 500 6,499

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 31,181 -     -3,979 -     11,799

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     5,043 -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     5,043 -     -     

Net change in fund balance 31,181 -     1,064 -     11,799

Fund balance - July 1 7,719 -     1,175 -     82,911

Fund balance - June 30 $ 38,900 $                    -     $ 2,239 $                    -     $ 94,710
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Covid-19 Covid-19 Covid-19 Lathrop
emergency emergency State CRF senior center Miscellaneous
donations town relief grant donation donations
fund - 209 fund - 248 fund - 248 fund - 231 fund - 230

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $ 220
Investments -     -     -     11,970 -     
Receivables -     -     55,837 -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 6,332 108,665 -     1,507 1,354
  Total assets 6,332 108,665 55,837 13,477 1,574

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 469 20,885 12,609 -     141
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     43,228 -     -     
  Total liabilities 469 20,885 55,837 -     141

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     -     
Restricted 5,863 -     -     -     1,433
Committed -     87,780 -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     13,477 -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 5,863 87,780 -     13,477 1,433

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 6,332 $ 108,665 $ 55,837 $ 13,477 $ 1,574

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $ 55,837 $                    -     $ 7,871
Interest and investment earnings -     -     -     77 -     
Charges for services -     -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous 9,565 -     -     -     1,845
  Total revenues 9,565 -     55,837 77 9,716

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     4,649 -     -     -     
Program operating costs 3,702 47,571 48,637 -     9,243
Capital expenditures -     -     7,200 -     -     
  Total expenditures 3,702 52,220 55,837 -     9,243

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 5,863 -52,220 -     77 473

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     140,000 -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     140,000 -     -     -     

Net change in fund balance 5,863 87,780 -     77 473

Fund balance - July 1 -     -     -     13,400 960

Fund balance - June 30 $ 5,863 $ 87,780 $                    -     $ 13,477 $ 1,433
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Special ed School
Summer Cemetery Historic excess costs educational

dance fest lot sales buildings grant grants
fund - 216 fund - 203 fund - 201 fund - 001 fund - 002

Assets

Cash $                    -     $ 40,964 $ 10,892 $                    -     $ 550,605
Investments -     -     -     -     -     
Receivables -     -     -     -     130
Inventory and prepaids 1,750 -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 13,973 -     -     -     -     
  Total assets 15,723 40,964 10,892 -     550,735

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     -     2,871
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     30,416 -     -     517,220
  Total liabilities -     30,416 -     -     520,091

Fund balance
Nonspendable 1,750 -     -     -     -     
Restricted -     -     -     -     30,679
Committed -     -     -     -     -     
Assigned 13,973 10,548 10,892 -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -35
  Total fund balance 15,723 10,548 10,892 -     30,644

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 15,723 $ 40,964 $ 10,892 $                    -     $ 550,735

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $ 496,532 $ 430,031
Interest and investment earnings -     604 161 -     -     
Charges for services -     2,550 -     -     -     
Miscellaneous 5,930 -     -     -     37,718
  Total revenues 5,930 3,154 161 496,532 467,749

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     394,669
Program operating costs 9,480 1,162 -     496,532 86,476
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 9,480 1,162 -     496,532 481,145

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -3,550 1,992 161 -     -13,396

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -     -     -     

Net change in fund balance -3,550 1,992 161 -     -13,396

Fund balance - July 1 19,273 8,556 10,731 -     44,040

Fund balance - June 30 $ 15,723 $ 10,548 $ 10,892 $                    -     $ 30,644
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

LES LMS LHS
activity activity activity

accounts accounts accounts
fund - 900 fund - 900 fund - 900 Totals

Assets

Cash $ 22,599 $ 43,147 $ 38,325 $ 766,718
Investments -     -     -     14,962
Receivables -     -     -     132,668
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     19,763
Due from other funds -     -     -     1,162,365
  Total assets 22,599 43,147 38,325 2,096,476

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     115,449
Other liabilities -     -     -     900
Due to other funds -     -     -     597,365
  Total liabilities -     -     -     713,714

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     19,763
Restricted -     -     -     480,180
Committed -     -     -     654,203
Assigned 22,599 43,147 38,325 228,638
Unassigned -     -     -     -22
  Total fund balance 22,599 43,147 38,325 1,382,762

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 22,599 $ 43,147 $ 38,325 $ 2,096,476

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $ 1,323,012
Interest and investment earnings -     -     -     1,448
Charges for services -     -     -     177,844
Miscellaneous 9,422 6,570 25,667 133,577
  Total revenues 9,422 6,570 25,667 1,635,881

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     731,973
Program operating costs 7,919 4,698 19,053 1,422,769
Capital expenditures -     -     -     55,829
  Total expenditures 7,919 4,698 19,053 2,210,571

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 1,503 1,872 6,614 -574,690

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     844,146
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -     844,146

Net change in fund balance 1,503 1,872 6,614 269,456

Fund balance - July 1 21,096 41,275 31,711 1,113,306

Fund balance - June 30 $ 22,599 $ 43,147 $ 38,325 $ 1,382,762
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Schedule C
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

George Cemetery Helen Waterman
Cummings Lyman perpetual Rodgers Wilson
scholarship scholarship care scholarship library
fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 231

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 225,562 48,885 12,067 11,015 10,673
Receivables -     -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 8,215 1,780 -     404 -     
  Total assets 233,777 50,665 12,067 11,419 10,673

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 7,598 1,646 -     500 -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     546 -     1,121
  Total liabilities 7,598 1,646 546 500 1,121

Fund balance
Nonspendable 197,045 42,705 10,541 10,000 8,360
Restricted 29,134 6,314 980 919 1,192
Committed -     -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 226,179 49,019 11,521 10,919 9,552

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 233,777 $ 50,665 $ 12,067 $ 11,419 $ 10,673

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 1,456 315 77 75 69
Charges for services -     -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 1,456 315 77 75 69

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs 7,598 1,646 -     500 -     
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 7,598 1,646 -     500 -     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -6,142 -1,331 77 -425 69

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -399 -     -353
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -399 -     -353

Net change in fund balance -6,142 -1,331 -322 -425 -284

Fund balance - July 1 232,321 50,350 11,843 11,344 9,836

Fund balance - June 30 $ 226,179 $ 49,019 $ 11,521 $ 10,919 $ 9,552
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Schedule C (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Flora Town Lebanon Royal O.
Williams deposit school Woodard
library fund prizes scholarship

fund - 231 fund - 240 fund - 231 fund - 231

Assets

Cash $                    -     $ 6,564 $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 8,013 -     7,326 6,053
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     -     1,487 226
  Total assets 8,013 6,564 8,813 6,279

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     500
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     -     -     500

Fund balance
Nonspendable 7,000 6,564 6,400 6,050
Restricted 1,013 -     2,413 -     
Committed -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -271
  Total fund balance 8,013 6,564 8,813 5,779

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 8,013 $ 6,564 $ 8,813 $ 6,279

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 52 3 47 48
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 52 3 47 48

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs -     -     -     500
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures -     -     -     500

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 52 3 47 -452

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -265 -3 -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -265 -3 -     -     

Net change in fund balance -213 -     47 -452

Fund balance - July 1 8,226 6,564 8,766 6,231

Fund balance - June 30 $ 8,013 $ 6,564 $ 8,813 $ 5,779
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Schedule C (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Dorothy Elizabeth Flora Local
Hinckley Grant Williams school

scholarship scholarship scholarship fund
fund - 240 fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 240

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 6,142 3,836 965 -     
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     147 44 1,937
  Total assets 6,142 3,983 1,009 1,937

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     500 500 -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     500 500 -     

Fund balance
Nonspendable 5,000 4,285 2,000 1,937
Restricted 1,142 -     -     -     
Committed -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -802 -1,491 -     
  Total fund balance 6,142 3,483 509 1,937

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 6,142 $ 3,983 $ 1,009 $ 1,937

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 13 36 19 -     
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 13 36 19 -     

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs -     500 500 -     
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures -     500 500 -     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 13 -464 -481 -     

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -     -     

Net change in fund balance 13 -464 -481 -     

Fund balance - July 1 6,129 3,947 990 1,937

Fund balance - June 30 $ 6,142 $ 3,483 $ 509 $ 1,937



74

Schedule C (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Vernon William Oliver &
Boothby Taylor Lucille
library cemetery Manning

fund - 240 fund - 231 fund - 231 Totals

Assets

Cash $ 1,000 $                    -     $                    -     $ 7,564
Investments -     1,145 17,047 358,729
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     -     2,068 16,308
  Total assets 1,000 1,145 19,115 382,601

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     11,244
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     1,667
  Total liabilities -     -     -     12,911

Fund balance
Nonspendable 1,000 1,000 9,385 319,272
Restricted -     145 9,730 52,982
Committed -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -2,564
  Total fund balance 1,000 1,145 19,115 369,690

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,000 $ 1,145 $ 19,115 $ 382,601

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 1 8 110 2,329
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 1 8 110 2,329

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs -     -     -     11,244
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures -     -     -     11,244

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 1 8 110 -8,915

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -1 -38 -     -1,059
Total other financing sources (uses) -1 -38 -     -1,059

Net change in fund balance -     -30 110 -9,974

Fund balance - July 1 1,000 1,175 19,005 379,664

Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,000 $ 1,145 $ 19,115 $ 369,690
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Schedule D
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement
of changes in fiduciary net position - Private purpose trusts

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Jared Mary Kalmon Flegert
Hinckley Chase Kurcinik Ausberger

scholarship fund scholarship library
fund - 241 fund - 231 fund - 241 fund - 231

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 46,457 9,190 6,578 2,928
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     1,356 -     508
  Total assets 46,457 10,546 6,578 3,436

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     -     -     -     

Net position
Restricted
  Expendable 46,457 10,546 6,578 3,436
  Non-expendable -     -     -     -     
Unrestricted -     -     -     -     
  Total net position 46,457 10,546 6,578 3,436

Total liabilities and net position $ 46,457 $ 10,546 $ 6,578 $ 3,436

Additions:
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 115 59 14 19
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total additions 115 59 14 19

Deductions:
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs 1,001 -     -     -     
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total deductions 1,001 -     -     -     

Transfers
Transfers in -     -     -     -     
Transfers out -     -     -     -     
  Total transfers -     -     -     -     

Change in net position -886 59 14 19

Net position - July 1 47,343 10,487 6,564 3,417

Net position - June 30 $ 46,457 $ 10,546 $ 6,578 $ 3,436
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Schedule D (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement
of changes in fiduciary net position - Private purpose trusts

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

EL Reichard Town Richard Robert L.
nursing school Woyasz Hanover

scholarship prizes scholarship scholarship
fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 241 fund - 241

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 1,774 2,048 -     73
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds 37 302 -     -     
  Total assets 1,811 2,350 -     73

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 500 -     -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities 500 -     -     -     

Net position
Restricted
  Expendable 1,311 2,350 -     73
  Non-expendable -     -     -     -     
Unrestricted -     -     -     -     
  Total net position 1,311 2,350 -     73

Total liabilities and net position $ 1,811 $ 2,350 $                    -     $ 73

Additions:
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 23 13 2 -     
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total additions 23 13 2 -     

Deductions:
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs 500 -     -     -     
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total deductions 500 -     -     -     

Transfers
Transfers in -     -     -     -     
Transfers out -     -     -725 -     
  Total transfers -     -     -725 -     

Change in net position -477 13 -723 -     

Net position - July 1 1,788 2,337 723 73

Net position - June 30 $ 1,311 $ 2,350 $                    -     $ 73
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Schedule D (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement
of changes in fiduciary net position - Private purpose trusts

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

LMS LHS
student activity student activity

scholarship scholarship
accounts accounts Totals

Assets

Cash $ 797 $ 12,839 $ 13,636
Investments -     -     69,048
Receivables -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     -     2,203
  Total assets 797 12,839 84,887

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     500
Other liabilities -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     -     500

Net position
Restricted
  Expendable 797 12,839 84,387
  Non-expendable -     -     -     
Unrestricted -     -     -     
  Total net position 797 12,839 84,387

Total liabilities and net position $ 797 $ 12,839 $ 84,887

Additions:
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     -     245
Charges for services -     -     -     
Miscellaneous 72 35,419 35,491
  Total additions 72 35,419 35,736

Deductions:
Wages and benefits -     -     -     
Program operating costs -     22,580 24,081
Capital expenditures -     -     -     
  Total deductions -     22,580 24,081

Transfers
Transfers in 725 -     725
Transfers out -     -     -725
  Total transfers 725 -     -     

Change in net position 797 12,839 11,655

Net position - July 1 -     -     72,732

Net position - June 30 $ 797 $ 12,839 $ 84,387
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Sub-Schedule A
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Trumbull Investment funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Jonathan Adams Jonathan
Trumbull Jr. community Trumbull Jr.
library fund center fund house fund
fund - 231 fund - 231 fund - 231 Totals

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Investments 1,577,489 825,996 -     2,403,485
Receivables -     -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total assets 1,577,489 825,996 -     2,403,485

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     -     -     -     

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     
Restricted 1,577,489 825,996 -     2,403,485
Committed -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -     -     
  Total fund balance 1,577,489 825,996 -     2,403,485

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,577,489 $ 825,996 $                    -     $ 2,403,485

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings 10,181 5,332 42,945 58,458
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     -     -     
  Total revenues 10,181 5,332 42,945 58,458

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs -     -     -     -     
Capital expenditures -     -     599,800 599,800
  Total expenditures -     -     599,800 599,800

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 10,181 5,332 -556,855 -541,342

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -52,204 -27,335 -11,394 -90,933
Total other financing sources (uses) -52,204 -27,335 -11,394 -90,933

Net change in fund balance -42,023 -22,003 -568,249 -632,275

Fund balance - July 1 1,619,512 847,999 568,249 3,035,760

Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,577,489 $ 825,996 $                    -     $ 2,403,485
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Sub-Schedule B
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Town capital funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Town Town
Capital & library bridges

nonrecurring project project
fund - 220 fund - 243 fund - 244

Assets

Cash $ 371 $                    -     $                    -     
Investments -     1,006,067 1,924,157
Receivables -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     
Due from other funds 1,224,439 17,042 -     
  Total assets 1,224,810 1,023,109 1,924,157

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 176,961 34,157 9,973
Other liabilities -     -     1,900,000
Due to other funds -     -     810,440
  Total liabilities 176,961 34,157 2,720,413

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     
Restricted -     -     -     
Committed 1,076,099 988,952 -     
Assigned -     -     -     
Unassigned -28,250 -     -796,256
  Total fund balance 1,047,849 988,952 -796,256

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,224,810 $ 1,023,109 $ 1,924,157

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ 62,920 $                    -     $                    -     
Interest and investment earnings -     6,067 9,734
Miscellaneous 11,562 500,000 -     
  Total revenues 74,482 506,067 9,734

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     
Program operating costs 269,072 -     -     
Capital expenditures 1,219,149 52,562 696,014
  Total expenditures 1,488,221 52,562 696,014

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -1,413,739 453,505 -686,280

Other financing sources (uses)
  Promissory note proceeds -     500,000 -     
  Transfers in 1,446,607 -     260,000
  Transfers out -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) 1,446,607 500,000 260,000

Net change in fund balance 32,868 953,505 -426,280

Fund balance - July 1 1,014,981 35,447 -369,976

Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,047,849 $ 988,952 $ -796,256
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Sub-Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Town capital funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Town green
School quieting
capital title project

fund - 245 fund - 246 Totals

Assets

Cash $                    -     $                    -     $ 371
Investments -     -     2,930,224
Receivables -     -     -     
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     
Due from other funds 451,940 -     1,693,421
  Total assets 451,940 -     4,624,016

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     221,091
Other liabilities -     -     1,900,000
Due to other funds -     -     810,440
  Total liabilities -     -     2,931,531

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     
Restricted -     -     -     
Committed 451,940 -     2,516,991
Assigned -     -     -     
Unassigned -     -     -824,506
  Total fund balance 451,940 -     1,692,485

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 451,940 $                    -     $ 4,624,016

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $                    -     $ 62,920
Interest and investment earnings -     -     15,801
Miscellaneous -     -     511,562
  Total revenues -     -     590,283

Expenditures
Wages and benefits -     -     -     
Program operating costs 6,721 33,687 309,480
Capital expenditures 82,323 -     2,050,048
  Total expenditures 89,044 33,687 2,359,528

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -89,044 -33,687 -1,769,245

Other financing sources (uses)
  Promissory note proceeds -     -     500,000
  Transfers in 295,292 -     2,001,899
  Transfers out -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) 295,292 -     2,501,899

Net change in fund balance 206,248 -33,687 732,654

Fund balance - July 1 245,692 33,687 959,831

Fund balance - June 30 $ 451,940 $                    -     $ 1,692,485
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Sub-Schedule C
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances - Capital non-recurring fund

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Fund Fund
balance Annual balance

07/01/19 appropriation Revenues Expenditures Transfers 06/30/20

General government:

Revaluation $ 329 $ -329 $              -     $                -     $              -     $              -     

Public safety:
Police car 5,192 -5,192 -     -     -     -     
Fire apparatus reserve 18,613 -18,613 -     -     -     -     
Emergency services reserve 38,154 -     9,862 -     -     48,016
Lvfd 10,000 gallon water tank 20,000 -20,000 -     -     -     -     
Fire truck lease purchase -28,250 113,000 -     -113,000 -     -28,250
Fire safety passage doors 2,000 -     -     -     -     2,000

55,709 69,195 9,862 -113,000 -     21,766

Public works:
Paving 501,906 500,000 -     -741,479 -     260,427
Oliver road bridge repairs 3,675 -     -     -     -     3,675
2020 Freightliner plow truck -     200,000 -     -195,598 -     4,402
Truck leasing 25,894 -25,894 -     -     -     -     
Truck leasing 6,050 -     -     -     -     6,050
Public works building comm. 21,262 -     -     -     -     21,262
CAT 420F2 backhoe 1,196 -     -     -     -     1,196
Two Ford F-350s 307 -     -     -     -     307
Town tree maintenance 35,000 -     -     -12,558 -     22,442
2018 highway truck and plow 8,827 -8,827 -     -     -     -     
2019 highway truck and plow 3,360 -3,360 -     -     -     -     
2018 highway pickup and plow 3,914 -3,913 -     -     -1 -     
Wood and brush chipper 597 -598 -     -     1 -     
Fema rain storm repairs:
  Project 75924 - General roads -63,200 -     62,920 280 -     -     
  Project 79737 - Randall road 2,425 8,465 -     -10,890 -     -     
  Project 79739 - Smith road 2,541 8,868 -     -11,409 -     -     
  Project 79742 - Washouts 12,025 -     -     -     -     12,025
  Project 79750 - Culverts 46,209 -     -     -     -     46,209
Public works jet truck -     -     -     -600 10,000 9,400
Cemetery repairs 7,970 -     -     -     -     7,970
Cemetery road development 7,471 -     -     -6,398 -     1,073
Communication infrastructure 6,900 -     1,700 -5,000 -     3,600

634,329 674,741 64,620 -983,652 10,000 400,038

Health & social:
Tyler field well 10,000 -     -     -9,085 -     915
Aspinall property - Field 2 -     8,000 -     -2,160 -     5,840
Aspinall property - Dugouts -     40,000 -     -40,000 -     -     
Aspinall soccer fields -     200,000 -     -4,724 -     195,276
Library renovations 1,340 -     -     -     -     1,340

11,340 248,000 -     -55,969 -     203,371
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Sub-Schedule C (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances - Capital non-recurring fund

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Fund Fund
balance Annual balance

07/01/19 appropriation Revenues Expenditures Transfers 06/30/20

Community preservation:
Open space $ 279,770 $ 50,000 $              -     $                -     $ -130,000 $ 199,770
Land preservation costs -     -     -     -10,800 100,000 89,200
Preservation of public access -     -     -     -30,000 30,000 -     

279,770 50,000 -     -40,800 -     288,970

Education:
School improvement plan -     200,000 -     -142,431 -     57,569
LMS fuel tank -     75,000 -     -16,887 -     58,113
Technology 18,125 90,000 -     -95,515 -     12,610
Athletic facilities 15,379 30,000 -     -39,967 -     5,412

33,504 395,000 -     -294,800 -     133,704

Totals: $ 1,014,981 $ 1,436,607 $ 74,482 $ -1,488,221 $ 10,000 $ 1,047,849
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Sub-Schedule D
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Small cities program funds

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020

Small Small Small cities
cities grant cities grant program

FY 2015 FY 2017 income
fund - 242 fund - 242 fund - 219 Totals

Assets

Cash $ -5 $                    -     $ 84,037 $ 84,032
Investments -     -     -     -     
Receivables -     -     971,881 971,881
Inventory and prepaids -     -     -     -     
Due from other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total assets -5 -     1,055,918 1,055,913

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities -     -     -     -     
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     
Due to other funds -     -     -     -     
  Total liabilities -     -     -     -     

Fund balance
Nonspendable -     -     -     -     
Restricted -     -     1,055,918 1,055,918
Committed -     -     -     -     
Assigned -     -     -     -     
Unassigned -5 -     -     -5
  Total fund balance -5 -     1,055,918 1,055,913

Total liabilities and fund balance $ -5 $                    -     $ 1,055,918 $ 1,055,913

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $                    -     $ 37,225 $                    -     $ 37,225
Interest and investment earnings -     -     -     -     
Charges for services -     -     -     -     
Miscellaneous -     -     30,000 30,000
  Total revenues -     37,225 30,000 67,225

Expenditures
Salary and wages -     -     -     -     
Program operating costs 5 37,225 35,135 72,365
Capital expenditures -     -     -     -     
  Total expenditures 5 37,225 35,135 72,365

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -5 -     -5,135 -5,140

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in -     -     -     -     
  Transfers out -     -     -     -     
Total other financing sources (uses) -     -     -     -     

Net change in fund balance -5 -     -5,135 -5,140

Fund balance - July 1 -     -     1,061,053 1,061,053

Fund balance - June 30 $ -5 $                    -     $ 1,055,918 $ 1,055,913
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Sub-Schedule E
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of property taxes levied,
collections, and outstanding balances

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Uncollected Current Lawful corrections Net
Grand taxes year taxes

list 06/30/19 taxes levied Additions Deductions collectable

2018 $                      -     $ 19,797,121 $ 13,936 $ -52,935 $ 19,758,122
2017 421,869 -     389 -4,527 417,731
2016 157,118 -     -     -582 156,536
2015 33,579 -     -     -     33,579
2014 15,715 -     -     -     15,715
2013 4,531 -     92 -     4,623
2012 1,576 -     -     -     1,576
2011 1,549 -     -     -     1,549
2010 247 -     -     -     247
2009 421 -     -     -     421
2008 405 -     -     -     405
2007 292 -     -     -     292
2006 527 -     -     -     527
2005 202 -     -     -     202
2004 193 -     -     -     193

$ 638,224 $ 19,797,121 $ 14,417 $ -58,044 $ 20,391,718
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Sub-Schedule E (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of property taxes levied,
collections, and outstanding balances

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Collections during the fiscal year Uncollected
Grand Lien taxes

list Taxes Interest fees Total Adjustments 06/30/20

2018 $ 19,405,122 $ 78,381 $ 4,517 $ 19,488,020 $                -     $ 353,000
2017 311,387 58,192 2,860 372,439 -     106,344
2016 89,521 27,771 962 118,254 -25,383 41,632
2015 16,466 3,508 216 20,190 -     17,113
2014 3,374 2,006 72 5,452 -     12,341
2013 1,091 801 66 1,958 -     3,532
2012 -     -     -     -     -     1,576
2011 -     -     -     -     -     1,549
2010 -     -     -     -     -     247
2009 -     -     -     -     -     421
2008 -     -     -     -     -     405
2007 -     -     -     -     -     292
2006 -     -     -     -     -     527
2005 -     -     -     -     -     202
2004 -     -     -     -     -     193

$ 19,826,961 $ 170,659 $ 8,693 $ 20,006,313 $ -25,383 $ 539,374

A - This schedule is in effect designed to be shown on the cash basis of accounting whereas it shows the amount
being received against tax years as revenues when in effect they represent a reduction in the outstanding asset
account for each tax year outstanding.  As a result, the total collections balance shown above will not tie out
to the property tax revenue balance on Statement D and Statement E.  However, the following is a
reconciliation of selected balances from this schedule to the amount shown on Statement D and Statement E.
In addition, the uncollected tax balances shown above may have been netted against credit balance accounts
resulting from overpayments not yet refunded when present.  A breakdown of these two amounts can be
found in the posted rate book when present.  The above shown adjustments column reports current fiscal year
transfers to suspense which were approved during the current fiscal year. 

$ 19,797,121 Current year taxes levied from page 84
170,659 Tax interest collections during the current fiscal year from above

8,693 Tax lien fee collections during the current fiscal year from above
21,899 Suspense collections during the current fiscal year

-25,383 Account balance adjustments as items transferred to suspense from above
-43,627 The net lawful corrections made during the current fiscal year from page 84
87,027 The unearned tax revenue adjustment made as described in item number 2 on page 17

$ 20,016,389 Property taxes revenues per Statement D and Statement E

B - Operation of Law - No tax can be collected 15 years after the original due date.  

C - Taxes transferred (to) and from suspense.  Though tax balances are transferred from active status to suspense
status they remain collectible.  During the current fiscal year $11,068 was collected on principle suspense tax
balances owed and $10,831 of interest and lien fees were collected on principle suspense tax balances owed.
In addition, $0 worth of lawful correction deductions were made to suspense tax years. 
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Sub-Schedule F
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of debt limitation
Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-374 (b)

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Total tax collections (including interest and lien fees) for the current fiscal year. $ 20,006,313

Total tax collections (including interest and lien fees) of city, borough and all other
  taxing districts within the Town for the current fiscal year. -     

Reimbursement for revenue loss on:  Tax relief for the elderly - (CGS 12-129d) -     

Total base $ 20,006,313

General Urban Pension Total
Debt limitation: purposes Schools Sewers renewal deficit Debt

2 1/4 times base $ 45,014,204 $              -     $              -     $              -     $              -     $              -     
4 1/2 times base -     90,028,408 -     -     -     -     
3 3/4 times base -     -     75,023,674 -     -     -     
3 1/4 times base -     -     -     65,020,517 -     -     
3        times base -     -     -     -     60,018,939 -     
7        times base -     -     -     -     -     140,044,191

Total debt limitation 45,014,204 90,028,408 75,023,674 65,020,517 60,018,939 140,044,191

Indebtedness:

General obligation bonds:
  2005 issue 91,200 288,800 -     -     -     380,000
  2013 issue -     -     3,934,019 -     -     3,934,019
Notes payable 399,078 -     -     -     -     399,078
Capital leases payable 380,082 -     -     -     -     380,082
Authorized but 
  unissued debt 7,018,220 -     -     -     -     7,018,220

Total indebtedness 7,888,580 288,800 3,934,019 -     -     12,111,399

Debt limitation in excess
  of outstanding an
  authorized debt $ 37,125,624 $ 89,739,608 $ 71,089,655 $ 65,020,517 $ 60,018,939 $ 127,932,792

The general purpose authorized but unissued debt amount shown above relates to the town bridge improvement project and the
town library renovation and expansion project.  The town bridge improvement project was approved to be bonded in the amount
of $4,240,000.  General fund appropriations in the amount of $1,811,054 and state revenue received in the amount of $285,726 have
been applied to the project and thus reduced the approved amount to be bonded down to an amount of $2,143,220.  The town
library renovation and expansion project was approved to be bonded in the amount of $5,875,000.  The town has received a
donation in the amount of $500,000 and a promissory note in the amount of $500,000 towards this project and thus reduced the
approved amount to be bonded down to $4,875,000.
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Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC
Auditing ,  Accounting ,  and  Consulting  Services

214 Holmes Road / Scarborough, Maine  04074 / Phone: (207) 885 - 5038 / Fax: (207) 470 - 5050

Independent Auditors Report on Compliance for each major program and
Internal control over compliance and the Schedule of expenditures

of federal awards required by the Uniform Guidance

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.  The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major federal programs are identified in the
summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its federal awards
applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major federal programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and
material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program.  However,
our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we
considered the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program
that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut’s basic financial statements.  We have issued our report thereon dated February 19, 2021, which contained unmodified
opinions on those financial statements.  Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented
for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Scarborough, Maine
February 19, 2021
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of expenditures of federal awards

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Federal grantor Federal Pass-through Total
  Pass-through entity CFDA entity federal
    Program or cluster title number identifying number expenditures

U.S. Department of Agriculture
  State of Connecticut Department of Education
    Child nutrition cluster:
      School breakfast program  10.553 12060-SDE64370-20508 $ 20,292
      National school lunch program        10.555 12060-SDE64370-20560 92,988
      National school lunch program 10.555 12060-SDE64370-20560 24,342
      COVID-19 School lunch program 10.555 12060-SDE64370-29572 78,255
      COVID-19 School breakfast program 10.555 12060-SDE64370-29576 41,376

257,253

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
  State of Connecticut Department of Housing
    Community development block grant/State’s program
      Housing rehabilitation loan program 14.228 12060-DOH46930-20730 37,225

U.S. Department of the Treasury
  State of Connecticut Office of Policy and Management
    COVID-19 Coronavirus relief fund 21.019 12060-OPM20600-29561 55,837

U.S. Department of Education
  State of Connecticut Department of Education
    Title I - Grants to local educational agencies 84.010 12060-SDE64370-20679-2019 20,000
    Title I - Grants to local educational agencies 84.010 12060-SDE64370-20679-2020 56,982

76,982
    Special Education Cluster (IDEA):
      Section 611 - Special education grants to states 84.027 12060-SDE64370-20977-2019 5,005
      Section 611 - Special education grants to states 84.027 12060-SDE64370-20977-2020 189,272
      Section 619 - Special education preschool grants 84.173 12060-SDE64370-20983-2019 195
      Section 619 - Special education preschool grants 84.173 12060-SDE64370-20983-2020 9,668

204,140

    Title II - Improving teacher quality state grants 84.367 12060-SDE64370-20858-2019 18,368

    Title IV - Student support and academic enrichment grant 84.424 12060-SDE64370-22854-2019 110
    Title IV - Student support and academic enrichment grant 84.424 12060-SDE64370-22854-2020 1,500

1,610
  State of Connecticut Department of Education
    Eastconn
      Career and technical education - Basic grants to states 84.048 12060-SDE64370-20742-2020 5,689

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
  State of Connecticut Department of Emergency
    Services & Public Protection
      Disaster grants - public assistance 97.036 12060-DPS32990-22520 299,633

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 956,737
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to Schedule of expenditures of federal awards

June 30, 2020

Note A - Basis of presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award activity of the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2020. The information in the Schedule
is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only a
selected portion of the operations of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in fund balances, changes in net positions or cash flows of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut.

Note B - Summary of significant accounting policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable
or are limited as to reimbursement.

Note C - Indirect cost rate

The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed in accordance with 2 CFR
Section 200.414 of the Uniform Guidance.

Note D - Noncash awards

Donated commodities in the amount of $24,342 are included in the Department of Agriculture’s National School Lunch Program,
CFDA #10.555.  The amount represents the market value of commodities received.

Note E - Awards passed through to sub-recipients

There were no awards passed through to sub-recipients by the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut for the year ended June 30, 2020.

Note F - Prior loan and loan guarantees (loans)

The  Town of Lebanon, Connecticut has the following loan balance outstanding at June 30, 2020.  This outstanding loan balance was
not included in the accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards in accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.205 of the
Uniform Guidance, the Basis for determining federal awards expended.  Item (d) of this section states, “Loans, the proceeds of which
were received and expended in prior years, are not considered Federal awards expended under this part when the Federal statutes,
regulations, and the terms and conditions of Federal awards pertaining to such loans impose no continuing compliance requirements
other than to repay the loans.”  There are currently no continuing compliance requirements relating to this loan other then
repayment of the loan.

Federal Loan
CFDA amount

Program title number outstanding

Community facility loans 10.760 $ 3,934,019
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Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC
Auditing ,  Accounting ,  and  Consulting  Services

214 Holmes Road / Scarborough, Maine  04074 / Phone: (207) 885 - 5038 / Fax: (207) 470 - 5050

Independent Auditors' Report on internal control over financial reporting and on
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements

performed  in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States
the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of and for the year ended June
30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 19, 2021.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  However, as described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we considered to be significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material
weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  We do consider
the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs and labeled as item number 2020-01 to be
a material weakness.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  We do consider the deficiencies described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs to be significant deficiencies.  These significant deficiencies are noted in
the aforementioned schedule as item numbers 2020-02 through 2020-07.

Compliance and other matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and, accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no reportable instances of noncompliance or other matters required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s Responses to Findings

The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs.  The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s responses were not subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the result of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control or on compliance.
This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Scarborough, Maine
February 19, 2021
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs

For the year ended June 30, 2020

I. Summary of Audit Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
•    Material weakness (es) identified? X yes no
•    Significant deficiency (ies) identified? X yes none reported
•    Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted? yes X no

Federal Awards

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs Unmodified

Internal control over major programs:
•    Material weakness (es) identified? yes X no
•    Significant deficiency (ies) identified? yes X none reported
•    Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
      reported in accordance with 2 CFR section 200.516 (a)? yes X no

Major Programs

CFDA # Name of federal program

97.036 Disaster grants - public assistance
21.019 COVID-19 Coronovirus relief fund
14.228 Community development block grant

Dollar threshold to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs $750,000

Did the auditee qualify as low risk? yes X no

II. Financial Statement Findings

• There were seven findings relating to the financial statements which are required to be reported in accordance with
GAGAS.  These seven findings relate to internal control over financial reporting and can be found in the following pages
of the schedule of findings and questioned costs as item numbers 2020-01 through 2020-07.  We do consider the significant
deficiency labeled as item number 2020-01 to be a material weakness.

III. Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards

• There were no findings and questioned costs for federal awards which include audit findings defined in 2 CFR Section
200.516 Audit findings, paragraph (a).

IV.  Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

• There were no findings and questioned costs for federal awards reported in the audit report for the auditee for the year
ended June 30, 2019.  Therefore, no schedule has been included.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)

June 30, 2020

2020-01 - Primary government - Account reconciliations and reviews - Town general and other funds

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition and context:

For the current fiscal year there did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that all of the non-
cash asset and liability accounts on the trial balance of the Town were reconciled and that revenue and expenditure accounts were
being reviewed to determine if any transactions had been mis-posted and therefore needed to be corrected or more specifically that
these reconciliations and reviews were documented when completed in accordance with the approved finance office accounting
policies and procedures manual. Without an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that all non-cash asset and
liability accounts are being reconciled and that all revenue and expenditure accounts are being reviewed and more specifically that
these reconciliations and reviews are being adequately documented, there is no way to ensure that items that may need to be
corrected will be prevented or even detected and corrected in a timely manner.  We do consider these conditions to represent
material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting.

The approved finance office accounting policies and procedures manual states that all other asset, liability and fund balance accounts
will be reviewed and adjusted as needed as determined by the finance director on a quarterly or semi-annual basis.  Documents
of said review will be retained.  The town currently utilizes 32 different funds within its accounting software system to account for
the activity and balances of the town.  Within 29 of these funds there are non-cash other assets, liabilities and fund balance accounts
which would therefore fall under this review or reconciliation process.  We were unable to determine if reviews or reconciliations
had been completed on these accounts within these funds or more specifically that any such reviews or reconciliations had been
documented.  Within the general fund a total of 68 adjustments were proposed and within the other funds a total of 98 adjustments
were proposed to either correct or adjust balances or activity though not all of these adjustments related to items which would have
been found had documented reviews or reconciliations been completed.  

The approved finance office accounting policies and procedures manual states that quarterly reports are sent to all departments,
boards and commissions to reconcile their internal records with the official accounting reports.  Written responses are required from
all departments, boards and commissions to document their review, research, and accounting adjustments needed in order to ensure
accounts are in balance.  During the audit, the finance office stated that expenditure reports were emailed quarterly to departments,
boards and commissions though we were unable to determine that there was any documentation from all of the departments, board
and commissions of the results of these quarterly reviews that were retained in a reasonably review-able manner.  Thus we were
unable to reasonably determine that the reviews had been completed and documented in accordance with the approved finance
office accounting policies and procedures manual.

Effect, cause and recommendation:

Without account reconciliations being prepared and documented for all non-cash asset and liability accounts as well as periodic
documented reviews of the transactions recorded in the revenue and expenditure accounts, it is difficult to have an accurate financial
picture of the Town during the fiscal year.  Without an accurate financial picture there can be no reasonable assurance present that
the Town’s specific objectives are being achieved or that its’ assets are being safeguarded.  It would appear that the town
reconciliation process as well as the documentation process of revenue and expenditure reviews may have been affected during the
first half of the fiscal year by staffing turnover in the finance office and during the second half of the fiscal year by the current
pandemic. We recommend that the Town follow the procedures outlined in the finance office accounting policies and procedures
manual to ensure that all non-cash asset and liability accounts are being reconciled and that all revenue and expenditure accounts
are being reviewed to determine if any transactions have been mis-posted and therefore need to be corrected and that these
reconciliations and reviews are being adequately documented at least on a semi-annual basis if not a quarterly basis. 

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do agree with the recommendations as described above.  We plan to
incorporate the above recommendations though the exact account reconciliation and review documentation as well as the frequency
of these reconciliations and reviews has not yet been determined.
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2020-02 - Primary government - Preparation and review of monthly bank account reconciliations - Town general fund

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition and context:

The Town has three main cash activity accounts which are the town checking account, the town deposit account and the school
checking account.  Account reconciliations were prepared for these three accounts during the current fiscal year comparing the actual
bank statement balances to the recorded cash account balances as shown on the town and school trial balances.  The town finance
office is responsible for preparing the reconciliations for the town checking account and the town deposit account whereas the school
business manager is responsible for preparing the reconciliations for the school checking account.  The reconciliations for all three
of these accounts are reviewed by the town treasurer.  The reconciliations prepared and provided for review as part of the audit
for the school checking account were prepared, initialed and dated by the preparer in a relatively timely manner with the exception
of the months of July - September which were not prepared until varying dates in December.  The completed reconciliations,
however, were not initialed and dated by the reviewer in a timely manner as the review of the reconciliations for the months of July -
April were all dated on June 27, 2020.  The reconciliation for the month of June had not yet been initialed and dated by the reviewer
when they were reviewed as part of the audit.  The reconciliations prepared and provided for review as part of the audit for the
town checking account and the town deposit account were not prepared in a timely manner, were not initialed and dated by the
preparer and were not reviewed in a timely manner.  The reconciliations for the months of July - August were initialed and dated
by the preparer with varying dates in October.  The reconciliations for the months of September - April were not initialed and dated
by the preparer and included system print dates of varying dates in June.  The reconciliations for the months of May - June were
not initialed and dated by the preparer and included system print dates in July.  The completed reconciliations, however, were not
initialed and dated by the reviewer in a timely manner as the review of the reconciliations for all of the completed months were all
dated on August 2, 2020.  We do consider these conditions to have represented a significant deficiency in internal controls over
financial reporting during the current fiscal year.

One of the main reasons for preparing bank account reconciliations is to make sure that the accounting transactions which show
up on the trial balance are the same as those that show up on the actual corresponding bank account statements.  Items which do
not match up between the trial balance and the bank statement are referred to as reconciling items.  The purpose of performing these
reconciliations and reviews in a timely manner is so that any of these reconciling items that are found as part of the process can be
researched and adjustments prepared as soon as possible so that an accurate financial picture is present as shown on the trial balance
of the town at any reasonable point in time.  If the bank reconciliations are not being prepared and reviewed in a timely manner
then any adjustments that may be necessary in order to correct balances shown on the trial balance will also not be made in a timely
manner and thus the financial picture shown on the trial balance may not be accurate for long periods of time.

Effect, cause and recommendation:

Without monthly bank reconciliations and reviews being prepared in a timely manner, it is difficult to provide that a reasonable
level of assurance was present that an accurate financial picture of the assets of the Town was available at all times during the
current fiscal year.  Without an accurate financial picture, there can be no reasonable level of assurance present that the Town’s
specific objectives are being achieved or that its’ specific assets are being safeguarded.  It would appear that the town reconciliation
process may have been affected during the first half of the fiscal year by staffing turnover in the finance office and during the second
half of the fiscal year by the current pandemic.  These same circumstances may have also affected the timeliness of the reviews.

We recommend that an emphasis be placed on preparing all applicable bank reconciliations in a timely manner and that all
completed bank reconciliations be signed and dated by the individual preparing them and then be forwarded to an individual
outside of the transaction processing function for reviews which would also be signed and dated in a timely manner.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do agree with the recommendations as described above.  We believe that
any effect that staffing turnover may have had on the reconciliation process has been alleviated and we believe that the current
process in place has reduced to a reasonable level the affect that the current pandemic has inherently had on the process.
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2020-03 - Primary government - Preparation and review of monthly bank account reconciliations - Student activity accounts

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition:

Each of the three school locations within the town have a main checking account to process the expenditures and deposits of the
student activities which are not accounted for through the school general fund.  These activities are made up of fiduciary, non-
fiduciary and scholarship transactions.  Account reconciliations were prepared at these three locations for these three main checking
accounts during the current fiscal year comparing the actual bank statement balances to the recorded cash account balances as shown
on the school trial balances.  These reconciliations are designed to be signed and dated as being prepared by the individual
processing the transactions and then they are designed to be signed and dated as being reviewed by the location principle.  The
reconciliations prepared and provided for review as part of the audit for one of these locations were signed and dated when
prepared but they were not consistently prepared in a timely manner.  The months of July, May and June were prepared in a
relatively timely manner.  The months of August - April were all prepared, signed and dated on July 24, 2020 which would not
appear to be in a timely manner.  All of the prepared reconciliations at this location were signed as being reviewed though the date
of the review was not included on any of the reconciliations and therefore it could not be determined if any of the reviews were
performed in a timely manner.  In addition, it was determined that the reviews of the reconciliations prepared at another of the
locations were not consistently being dated so that a determination could be made as to whether the reconciliation was being
reviewed in a timely manner.  Only three of the twelve monthly reconciliation reviews at this location were dated when reviewed.
We do consider these conditions to have represented a significant deficiency in internal controls over financial reporting during the
current fiscal year.

Context:

One of the main reasons for preparing bank account reconciliations is to make sure that the accounting transactions which show
up on the trial balance are the same as those that show up on the actual corresponding bank account statements.  Items which do
not match up between the trial balance and the bank statement are referred to as reconciling items.  The purpose of performing these
reconciliations and reviews in a timely manner is so that any of these reconciling items that are found as part of the process can be
researched and adjustments prepared as soon as possible so that an accurate financial picture is present as shown on the trial balance
of the schools at any reasonable point in time.  If the bank reconciliations are not being prepared and reviewed in a timely manner
then any adjustments that may be necessary in order to correct balances shown on the trial balance will also not be made in a timely
manner and thus the financial picture shown on the trial balance may not be accurate for long periods of time.

Effect, cause and recommendation:

Without monthly bank reconciliations and reviews being prepared in a timely manner, it is difficult to provide that a reasonable
level of assurance was present that an accurate financial picture of the assets of the Town was available at all times during the
current fiscal year.  Without an accurate financial picture, there can be no reasonable level of assurance present that the Town’s
specific objectives are being achieved or that its’ specific assets are being safeguarded.  We were unable to determine the reason that
the bank reconciliations at one of the locations were not being prepared in a timely manner during the first half of the fiscal year
though the reconciliation process may have been affected during the second half of the fiscal year by the current pandemic.  We were
unable to determine the reason why the reconciliations were not consistently being dated when they were reviewed.

We recommend that an emphasis be placed on preparing all applicable bank reconciliations in a timely manner and that all
completed bank reconciliations be signed and dated by the individual preparing them and then forwarded to the location principle
for review which would also be signed and dated in a timely manner.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do agree with the recommendations as described above.  We believe that
a more timely and complete process will be implemented during the upcoming fiscal year at each location as may be necessary.
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2020-04 - Primary government - Cash disbursements - Town general and other funds

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition and context:

During the current fiscal year audit, a number of expenditures relating to the town general and other funds were selected for testing
within the current fiscal year and as subsequent events during the beginning of the upcoming fiscal year.  The invoices or backup
documentation relating to these expenditures were requested to be pulled for the review of a number of items such as the correct
accounting period, the correct amount being paid, items being paid from actual invoices, and whether or not individual invoices
or backup documentation are initialed as being reviewed and approved by an appropriate department individual.  There did not
appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that only invoices and backup documentation containing
the initials or signature of the individual approving the expenditure by an appropriate department individual were being processed.
We do consider this condition to represent a significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting.

Twenty-six of the one hundred and fifty current fiscal year expenditure items that were reviewed as part of the audit did not contain
any initials or signatures of an approving individual on the actual invoice or backup documentation.  A number of the expenditure
items that were reviewed contained typed initials of an approving individual, email approvals were attached to a number of
expenditure items that did not include a reference to a specific invoice number or amount which was being approved and a number
of expenditure items appeared to include the approving initials of an individual from a department other then the department for
which the expenditure item related.  The finance office approved an invoice for an environmental spill cleanup and bridge
construction related items that would seemingly more appropriately be approved by the public works department as well as fire
department reimbursements and legal invoices that have in the past been approved by the selectmen’s office.  A review of a legal
invoice that was intended only to include Covid-19 related expenditures and as such was submitted for reimbursement under the
State CRF program seemed to include at least two items which didn’t appear to be Covid-19 related in the amount of $1,605.
Sampling techniques are used to select items for testing which means that not all transactions are reviewed or tested during this
process.  As a result, there could be other expenditure items being processed for payment without the initials or signature of the
individual approving the payment on the actual invoices or backup documentation.  There could also be other expenditure items
approved  by individuals from a department other then the department for which the expenditure items relate.

Effect and cause:

Without the initials or signature of the individual approving the payment of expenditure items actually being included on the
invoice or backup documentation or expenditure items being approved by individuals from departments other then the departments
for which the expenditure items relate, there can be no assurance that the goods or services being purchased were actually received
and creates doubt as to whether the assets of the Town are being adequately safeguarded.  It would appear that the cash
disbursements approval process may have been affected during the first half of the fiscal year by new staffing in the finance office
and during the second half of the fiscal year by the current pandemic.

Recommendation:

We recommend that invoices or backup documentation for expenditure items should never be paid or even entered into the
accounting software at all locations of the Town without an appropriate set of initials or signature on the invoice or backup
documentation approving the expenditure.   In addition, we recommend that the town develop an adequate system of controls to
ensure that expenditure items of specific departments only be approved by the responsible individuals within those departments.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do understand the importance of an adequate expenditure item approval
process.  Invoices and backup documentation for expenditure items being paid at all locations within the Town will be required to
have appropriate approving initials or signatures on each actual invoice or backup documentation item by the responsible
individuals within those departments.
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2020-05 - Primary government - Cash disbursements - Student activity accounts

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition:

During the current fiscal year audit, a number of expenditures relating to the school student activity accounts were selected for
testing within the current fiscal year and as subsequent events during the beginning of the upcoming fiscal year.  The invoices or
backup documentation relating to these expenditures were requested to be pulled for the review of a number of items such as the
correct accounting period, the correct amount being paid, items being paid from actual invoices, and whether or not individual
invoices or backup documentation are initialed as being reviewed and approved.  There did not appear to be an adequate system
of internal controls in place at one of the locations tested to ensure that only invoices and backup documentation containing the
initials or signature of the individual approving the expenditure were being processed.  This location did utilize an expenditure
approval cover sheet which did include approving initials or signatures though there was no way to determine that the actual
invoices or backup documentation had been reviewed by the individuals approving the cover sheets.  We do consider this condition
to represent a significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting.

Context:

All twenty-five of the expenditure items that were reviewed at the first location did not contain any initials or signature of an
approving individual on the actual invoice or backup documentation.  Three of the fifteen expenditure items reviewed at the second
location did not contain any initials or signature of an approving individual on the actual invoice or backup documentation.  One
of the ten expenditure items reviewed at the third location did not contain any initials or signature of an approving individual on
the actual invoice or backup documentation.  Sampling techniques are used to select items for testing which means that not all
transactions are reviewed or tested during this process.  As a result, there could be other expenditure items being processed for
payment without the initials or signature of the individual approving the payment on the actual invoices or backup documentation.
  
Effect:

Without the initials or signature of the individual approving the payment of expenditure items actually being included on the
invoice or backup documentation, there can be no assurance that the goods or services being purchased were actually received and
creates doubt as to whether the assets of the Town are being adequately safeguarded.  

Cause:

It would appear that the main reason that these expenditure items at the first location did not contain the initials or signature of the
individual approving the payment on the actual invoice or backup documentation was simply because the practice of processing
expenditure items at this location is to include an expenditure approval only on the cover sheet.

Recommendation:

We recommend that invoices or backup documentation for expenditure items should never be paid or even entered into the
accounting software at all locations of the Town without an appropriate set of initials or a signature on the invoice or backup
documentation approving the expenditure. 

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do understand the importance of an adequate expenditure item approval
process.  Invoices and backup documentation for expenditure items being paid at all locations within the Town will be required to
have appropriate approving initials or signatures on each invoice or backup documentation item.
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2020-06 - Primary government - Compliance with the provisions of permanent trust fund principal balances

Criteria and condition:

Permanent funds are used to account for and report resources that are restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal,
may be used for purposes that support the Town’s programs and in effect the benefit of the Town or its citizens.  Over the years,
permanent trust fund amounts have been given to the Town in this manner and with the intent that the principal portion of the trust
will stay in tact and be used to earn income which will in turn be used for the purposes specified within each individual trust
agreement.  Within the fund financial statements, this principal portion is classified as a nonspendable fund balance amount with
any positive residual fund balance being classified as restricted and any negative residual fund balance being classified as
unassigned.  Within the government-wide financial statements, this principal portion is classified as restricted and nonspendable
with any positive or negative residual fund balance being classified as either restricted and spendable or unrestricted. 

The Town currently has sixteen individual permanent fund trusts that it has been given over the years and which are accounted
for and reported within the financial statements as shown on Schedule C starting on page 71 of the accompanying financial
statements.  Six of these permanent trusts relate to amounts for which the earnings are used to benefit the Board of Education and
more specifically students in the form of scholarships.  Amounts from these six permanent fund trusts are transferred annually to
the high school student activity account where the actual scholarships are accounted for and disbursed.  The principal balances
within three of these six permanent fund trusts have been overspent in the aggregate amount of ($2,564) which would seem to show
that the Town is not currently in compliance with the need to preserve the principal of these permanent fund trusts.  We do consider
these conditions to represent a significant deficiency in internal control over compliance and in turn financial reporting

Context, effect and cause:

The amount of this aggregate over expenditure of the principal portion of these two permanent fund trusts of ($2,564) would appear
to be immaterial in amount when considering that the total principal portion of these six permanent fund trusts is $262,085.  This
would however bring into question the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal controls in place to ensure the preservation of
these principal balances.  The Town does have other permanent fund trust agreements in which the principal portion has not been
over-expended.  The difference between these two groups of permanent funds is that the over expended trusts relate to scholarship
permanent funds while the other non over-expended trusts relate to library and cemetery permanent funds.

The Town revised its investments policy for endowments and donations on July 12, 2016.  In regard to principal balances the revised
policy states, “ The investment principal shall not be utilized for any endowment/donation except where the purpose is to fund
an ongoing scholarship award. Endowments or donations funding a scholarship award may utilize principal to fund the award in
order to achieve a minimum annual award of $500.00" and “When the value of an individual endowment/donation used to fund
an annual scholarship award falls below the minimum scholarship award ($500.00) the endowment/donation shall be entirely
liquidated and the funds provided to the Lyman HS scholarship committee”.  We were unable to determine that any approval had
been received from the individuals who had originally provided the nonspendable principal portion of each trust fund to the Town
that the nonspendable portion could now be expended.  The Town did request and receive a legal memorandum of advice from
town council relating to this topic.  The brief answer as included in this memorandum states, “The provisions of the Town’s
Investment Policy which allow the Town to spend the principal of the scholarship funds and to liquidate the scholarship funds
under certain circumstances are contrary to law as written. Neither action may be taken under law without either donor consent
or a court decree.”

Recommendation:

We would first recommend that the Town consider revising its investment policy and consider removing the approved ability to
spend the nonspendable portion of permanent trust funds without the express written consent of the original donors or a court
decree.  Alternatively to revising the Town’s investment policy, we would recommend that the Town contact each original
permanent fund donor relating to the above school scholarship funds and obtain some type of waiver or acceptance of the use of
the previously donated and accepted nonspendable portions of each fund within the parameters of the Town’s investment policy.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do understand the provided recommendations in relation to the
memorandum of advise received from our town council relating to this topic.  We plan on discussing this topic in more detail during
the upcoming fiscal year in hopes of more closely correlating our Town investment policy to all applicable laws as written.
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2020-07 - Discretely presented component unit - The timely preparation and review of monthly bank account reconciliations

Criteria:

The management of the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department “the Department” is responsible for implementing and maintaining
a system of internal controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees or volunteers, in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to
ensuring that the assets of the Department are being safeguarded.

Condition and context:

The Department has four main checking accounts, an investment account and three savings related accounts.  Account
reconciliations were prepared for these eight accounts during the current fiscal year comparing the actual statement balances to the
recorded account balances as shown on the trial balance.  During prior fiscal years, the bookkeeper would prepare, sign and date
the reconciliations and submit them to the president of the Department to review, sign and date.  Reconciliations prepared for the
fiscal year were provided by the Department for review as part of the audit.  A review of the seven bank account statements and
reconciliations for the fiscal year revealed that none of the reconciliations provided were signed and dated by the individual
preparing them with the exception of the June reconciliations for five of the accounts.  The reconciliations provided for four of the
accounts did appear to have been prepared in a timely manner based only on the included system generated print date.  In addition,
a review of the seven bank account statements and reconciliations for the fiscal year revealed that none of the reconciliations
provided were signed and dated by and individual performing a review.  A review of the provided investment account statements
and reconciliations revealed that three of the reconciliations were signed by the preparer, seven of the reconciliations were dated
by the preparer and two of the reconciliations were signed and dated by the reviewer.  We do consider these conditions to have
represented a significant deficiency in internal controls over financial reporting during the current fiscal year.

One of the main reasons for preparing bank and investment account reconciliations is to make sure that the accounting transactions
which show up on the trial balance are the same as those that show up on the actual corresponding account statements.  Items which
do not match up between the trial balance and the account statement are referred to as reconciling items.  The purpose of having
the preparer and reviewer sign and date the reconciliations is to provide a reasonable level of assurance that there is an adequate
segregation of duties.  The purpose of performing these reconciliations and reviews in a timely manner is so that any of these
reconciling items that are found as part of the process can be researched and adjustments prepared as soon as possible so that an
accurate financial picture is present as shown on the trial balance of the Department at any reasonable point in time.  If the bank
and investment reconciliations are not being prepared and reviewed in a timely manner then any adjustments that may be necessary
in order to correct balances shown on the trial balance will also not be made in a timely manner and thus the financial picture shown
on the trial balance may not be accurate for long periods of time.

Effect, cause and recommendations:

Without monthly bank and investment reconciliations consistently containing the appropriate documentation regarding by whom
and when they were prepared and reviewed, it is difficult to provide that a reasonable level of assurance was present that an
accurate financial picture of the assets of the Department was available at all times during the current fiscal year.  Without an
accurate financial picture, there can be no reasonable level of assurance present that the Department’s specific objectives are being
achieved or that its’ specific assets are being safeguarded.  The Department indicated that it had forwarded its original bank and
investment statements and reconciliations to the finance office of the Town during October of 2020.  The finance office of the Town
only had the investment account statements and reconciliations available to be reviewed as part of the audit.  We were unable to
determine if all of the original statements and reconciliations had been forwarded to the finance office and therefore copies of the
bank statements and reconciliations were provided by the Department to be reviewed as part of the audit during January of 2021.

We recommend that an adequate system of internal controls be developed and followed to ensure that all bank and investment
account reconciliations are signed and dated when prepared and reviewed and that both are performed in a timely manner.  We
also recommend that a set of procedures be developed between the Department and the Town in relation to the forwarding and
receipting of information related to the annual audit.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do agree with the recommendations as described above.  We believe that
the Department does currently have an adequate system of internal controls in place that will ensure that all bank and investment
account reconciliations are signed and dated when prepared and reviewed and that both are performed in a timely manner.
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Independent Auditors Report on Compliance for each major state program and
Internal control over compliance and the Schedule of expenditures of state

 financial assistance required by the State Single Audit Act

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program

We have audited the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the Office
of Policy and Management’s Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut’s major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.  The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major state programs
are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to its state
programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major state programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State Single Audit Act (C.G.S.
Sections 4-230 to 4-236).  Those standards and the State Single Audit Act require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have
a direct and material effect on a major state program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.  

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major state program.  However, our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major State Program

In our opinion, the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we
considered the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major state program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance for each major state program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the State Single Audit Act, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than
a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the State Single Audit Act.  Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by the State Single Audit Act

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut’s basic financial statements.  We have issued our report thereon dated February 19, 2021, which contained unmodified
opinions on those financial statements.  Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of
expenditures of state financial assistance is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the State Single Audit Act,
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures
of state financial assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Scarborough, Maine
February 19, 2021



103

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance

For the year ended June 30, 2020

State grantor/pass through State grant program
Grantor/program title Core-CT number Expenditures

Office of Policy and Management:

Payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) on state owned property 11000-OPM20600-17004 $ 14,807
Disabled program 11000-OPM20600-17011 581
Property tax relief for veterans 11000-OPM20600-17024 3,352
Municipal purposes and projects 12052-OPM20600-43587 30,427

Department of Education:

Talent development 11000-SDE64370-12552 1,543
Child nutrition program state match 11000-SDE64370-16211 3,701
Healthy food initiative 11000-SDE64370-16212 7,050
Vocational Agriculture 11000-SDE64370-17017 295,148
Adult education 11000-SDE64370-17030 8,163
School breakfast program 11000-SDE64370-17046 8,601

Office of Early Childhood:

Early care and education 11000-OEC64845-16274 113,400
School readiness quality enhancement 11000-OEC64845-16158 3,881

Connecticut State Library:

Connecticard payments 11000-CSL66051-17010 1,507
Historic documents preservation grant 12060-CSL66094-35150 5,500

Department of Transportation:

Bus operations 12001-DOT57931-12175 21,731
Town aid road grants - Municipal 12052-DOT57131-43455 143,865
Town aid road grants - STO 13033-DOT57131-43459 143,865

Department of Agriculture:

Agricultural viability 12060-DAG42710-90456 21,340

Other Departments and miscellaneous awards:

Non-budgeted operating appropriations 34001-JUD95162-40001 3,050
FAD - Temporary holding account 34003-DAS64370-42350 382
Environmental quality fees 11000-DEP43930-12501 80
Recreation and natural heritage trust 17161-DEP43153-43656 80
Other expenses 11000-DRS16410-10020 60
Other expenses 11000-DSS60439-10020 20

Total State Financial Assistance before exempt programs $ 832,134
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance (continued)

For the year ended June 30, 2020

State grantor/pass through State grant program
Grantor/program title Core-CT number Expenditures

Exempt Programs

Department of Education:

Education equalization grants program 82010 11000-SDE64370-17041 $ 4,769,437
Special education excess costs 11000-SDE64370-17047 496,532

Office of Policy and Management:

Mashantucket Pequat Grant 12009-OPM20600-17005 13,139
Municipal stabilization grant 11000-OPM20600-17104 162,740

Total exempt programs 5,441,848

Total expenditures of State Financial Assistance $ 6,273,982
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance

For the year ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance includes state grant activity of the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut under programs of the State of Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  Various departments and agencies
of the State of Connecticut have provided financial assistance through grants and other authorizations in accordance with the
General Statutes of the State of Connecticut.  These financial assistance programs fund several programs including but not limited
to education, transportation, tax relief, and library programs.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applicable to governments.  The information in the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance
is presented based upon regulations established by the State of Connecticut, Office of Policy and Management.

Basis of Accounting

There are two sets of basic financial statements contained in the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s annual report as required by
GASB Statement No. 34.  The government-wide financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereas,
the fund financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The following is a summary of such
bases: 

Accrual Basis - Government-wide financial statements:

• Revenues are recognized when they are earned.
• Expenses are recorded when they are incurred.

Modified Accrual Basis - Fund financial statements:

• Revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available.  Available includes those property tax receivables
expected to be collected within sixty days after year end.  Miscellaneous revenues are recorded when received in cash
because they are generally not measurable until actually received.  Intergovernmental revenues, and interest income are
accrued, when their receipt occurs soon enough after the end of the accounting period so as to be both measurable and
available.

• Expenditures are recorded generally when the related fund liability is incurred.  This includes reimbursable expenditures
which have been incurred by the Town and therefore included in the accompanying schedule of expenditures of state
financial assistance but which have not yet been reimbursed and are considered and recorded as accounts receivable.  The
determination of when an award is expended should be based on when the activity related to the award occurs.  Exceptions
to this general rule include principal and interest on general long-term debt which is recorded when due.

The expenditures reported on the Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance are reported on the modified accrual basis
of accounting.  In accordance with Section 4-236-22 of the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act,  certain grants are not dependent
on expenditure activity, and accordingly, are considered to be expended in the fiscal year of receipt.  These grant program receipts
are reflected in the expenditures column of the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs

For the year ended June 30, 2020

I. Summary of Audit Results

Financial Statements:

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
•    Material weakness (es) identified? X yes no
•    Significant deficiency (ies) identified? X yes none reported
•    Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted? yes X no

State Financial Assistance:

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs Unmodified
Internal control over major programs:
•    Material weakness (es) identified? yes X no
•    Significant deficiency (ies) identified? yes X none reported
•    Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
      reported in accordance with Section 4-236-24 of the
      Regulations to the State Single Audit Act? yes X no

Major State Programs and percentage of coverage:
 
•

•

The following schedule reflects the major programs included in the audit.  Sec. 4-230 of the Connecticut General Statutes states
that a “major state program means any program, excluding an exempt program, determined to be a major state program by
the independent auditor pursuant to the requirements of the risk based approach”.  Under step two of this process all Type
A programs must be identified. Based on the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s non-exempt expenditures of state financial
assistance amount of $832,134, a Type A program shall be considered a non-exempt state program for which the amount of
state financial assistance expended under the program for the audit period equals or exceeds $100,000.  The Town of Lebanon
has four Type A programs for the current fiscal year based on the $100,000 dollar threshold and therefore all of its remaining
programs would be considered Type B programs.  The Town has one Type B program for which a risk assessment must be
performed considering the Type B programs with expenditures in excess of $25,000.

In accordance with Subpart A of the risk assessment procedures, the following considerations have been applied to the  Type
A programs of the Town to determine whether they should be considered high risk:  The dollar value of the applicable
transactions, the complexity of the requirements of the program and as compared to other programs of the Town, whether
the program has been tested as major during at least one of the two most recent audit periods and an assessment based on
professional judgement.  Three of the Town’s four Type A programs were determined to be high-risk and therefore were
audited as major programs.  The one Type B program of the Town for which a risk assessment was required was not
determined to be high-risk and therefore was not audited as a major program.  The total non-exempt state financial assistance
expended by the Town for the current audit period was $832,134.  The programs tested as major and shown below represent
approximately 70% of the total non-exempt state financial assistance expended.

State grant program
State grantor and program Core-CT number Expenditures

Vocational Agriculture 11000-SDE64370-17017 $ 295,148
Town aid road grants - Municipal 12052-DOT57131-43455 143,865
Town aid road grants - STO 13033-DOT57131-43459 143,865

$ 582,878

• Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $ 100,000
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)

For the year ended June 30, 2020

II. Financial Statement Findings

• We issued our report, dated February 19, 2021, on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters
based on an audit of the financial statements performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.  Our report on
internal control over financial reporting indicated seven significant deficiencies.  The details of these significant deficiencies
can be found in the schedule of findings and questioned costs labeled as item numbers 2020-01 through 2020-07 starting on page
94.  We do consider the significant deficiency labeled as item number 2020-01 to be a material weakness.

• Our report on compliance indicated no reportable instances of noncompliance. 

III. State Financial Assistance Findings and Questioned Costs

• No findings or questioned costs are being reported relating to State financial assistance programs.

IV.  Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

• Financial Statement Findings:

Finding No. 2019-01

Condition - There did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that all of the non-cash asset
and liability accounts on the trial balance of the Town were reconciled or more specifically that they were documented when
completed in accordance with the approved finance office accounting policies and procedures manual.

Current Status - This finding was not corrected and is included as current fiscal year finding 2020-01.

Planned Corrective Action - See response included in the current fiscal year submitted Corrective Action Plan.

Finding No. 2019-02

Condition - There did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place relating to student activity invoices
tested  to ensure that only invoices containing the initials or signature of the individual approving the expenditure were being
processed. 

Current Status - This finding was not corrected and is included as current fiscal year finding 2020-05.

Planned Corrective Action - See response included in the current fiscal year submitted Corrective Action Plan.

Finding No. 2019-03

Condition - The principal balance within two of these town permanent fund trusts were overspent which would seem to show
that the Town is not currently in compliance with the need to preserve the principal of these permanent fund trusts.

Current Status - This finding was not corrected and is included as current fiscal year finding 2020-06.

Planned Corrective Action - See response included in the current fiscal year submitted Corrective Action Plan.

• State Program Findings:

There were no findings and questioned costs related to state financial assistance award programs reported in the audit report
for the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.
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